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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2015-06-12 | Complaint | JA1-JA31
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Douglas

McEachern I JA32-JA33
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Edward Kane I JA34-JA35
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - Ellen Cotter I JA36-JA37
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Guy Adams I JA38-JA39
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Margaret Cotter I JA40-JA41
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - RDI I JA42-JA43
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS — Timothy Storey I JA44-JA45
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS — William Gould I JA46-JA47
2015-08-10 | Motion to Dismiss Complaint I JA48-JA104
2015-08-20 | Reading International, Inc.

("RDI")'s Joinder to Margaret

Cotter, Ellen Cotter, Douglas

McEachern, Guy Adams, & I JA105-JA108

Edward Kane ("Individual

Defendants") Motion to Dismiss

Complaint
2015-08-28 | T2 Iflamtlffs Ver1f1€3d Shareholder I JA109-JA126

Derivative Complaint
2015-08-31 | RDI's Motion to Compel

Arbitration ! JA127-JA148
2015-09-03 In.dw}dual Defer}dants Motion to I JA149-JA237

Dismiss Complaint
2015-10-06 | Transcript of 9-10-15 Hearing on

Defendants' Motion to Dismiss &

Plaintiff Cotter Jr. ("Cotter Jr.")'s L1 JA238-JA256

Motion for Preliminary Injunction
2015-10-12 | Order Denying RDI's Motion to

Compel Arbitration 11 JA257-]A259
2015-10-19 8rder Rgz Motion to Dismiss I JA260-JA262

omplaint

2015-10-22 | First Amended Verified Complaint I JA263-JA312
2015-11-10 | Scheduling Order and Order

Setting Civil Jury Trial, Pre-Trial
Conference and Calendar Call

II

JA313-JA316

2




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-02-12 | T2 Plamjaffs First Amended 1 JA317-JA355
Complaint
2016-02-23 | Transcript of 2-18-16 Hearing on
Motion to Compel & Motion to II JA356-JA374
File Document Under Seal
2016-03-14 | Individual Defendants' Answer to
Cotter's First Amended Complaint Il JA375-JA396
2016-03-29 | RDI's Answer to Cotter, Jr.'s First
Amended Complaint 11 JA397-JA418
2016-03-29 | RDI's Answer to T2 Plaintiffs' First
Amended Complaint 11 JA419-JA438
2016-04-05 | Codding and Wrotniak's Answer
to T2 Plaintiffs' First Amended IT JA439-JA462
Complaint
2016-06-21 | Stipulation and Order to Amend
Deadlines in Scheduling Order Il JA463-JA468
2016-06-23 | Transcript of 6-21-16 Hearing on
Defendants' Motion to Compel & IT JA469-]A493
Motion to Disqualify T2 Plaintiffs
2016-08-11 | Transcript of 8-9-16 Hearing on
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment, Motion to IL I | JA494-JASIS
Compel & Motion to Amend
2016-09-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Second Amended
Verified Complaint 1 JAS19-JAS75
2016-09-23 | Defendant William Gould III, 1V,
(”Gould”)'s MS] V, VI ]A576']A1400
2016-09-23 | MIL to Exclude Expert Testimony
of Steele, Duarte-Silva, Spitz, VI JA1401-JA1485
Nagy, & Finnerty
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for JA1486-JA2216
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 1)
Sy . O VI, VII, (FILED
R Pt Temnation | VIf X | UNDER sEat
JA2136A-D)

MS]J No. 1)




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date

Description

Vol. #

Page Nos.

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 2)
Re: The Issue of Director

Independence ("Partial MSJ No. 2")

IX, X

JA2217-TA2489

(FILED
UNDER SEAL
JA2489A-HH)

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 3)
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the
Purported Unsolicited Offer
("Partial MSJ No. 3")

X, XI

JA2490-JA2583

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 4)
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the
Executive Committee ("Partial MSJ
No. 4")

XI

JA2584-JA2689

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 5)
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the
Appointment of Ellen Cotter as
CEOQO ("Partial MSJ No. 5")

XI, XII

JA2690-JA2860

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 6)
Re Plaintiff's Claims Re Estate's
Option Exercise, Appointment of
Margaret Cotter, Compensation
Packages of Ellen Cotter and
Margaret Cotter, and related
claims Additional Compensation
to Margaret Cotter and Guy
Adams ("Partial MSJ No. 6")

XII, XIII,
XIV

JA2861-JA3336

2016-09-23

Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment ("MPS]")

X1V, XV

JA3337-JA3697

2016-10-03

Order Granting Cotter Jr.'s Motion
to Compel Production of
Documents & Communications Re
the Advice of Counsel Defense

XV

JA3698-JA3700




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOILOGICAIL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-10-03 | Order Re Cotter Jr.'s Motion to

Permit Certain Discovery re XV JA3701-JA3703

Recent "Offer"
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to MIL to Exclude XV JA3704-JA3706

Expert Testimony
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual

Defendants' Partial-MSJ No. 1 XV JA3707-JA3717
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual

Defendants' Partial MS] No. 2 XV JA3718-JA3739
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV

Defendants' Partial MS] No. 3 JA3740-JA3746
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV

Defendants' Partial MS] No. 4 JA3747-JA3799
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV

Defendants' Partial MS] No. 5 JA3800-JA3805
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV, XVI )

Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 6 JA3806-JA3814
2016-10-13 | Individual Defendants' Opposition XVI )

to Cotter Jr.'s MPSJ JA3815-]JA3920
2016-10-13 | RDI's Joinder to Individual

Defendants' Opposition to Cotter XVI JA3921-JA4014

Jr.'s MPS]
2016-10-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Gould's XVI JA4015-JA4051

MS]J
2016-10-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Partial XVI, )

MSJ No. 1 XVII JA4052-JA4083
2016-10-13 | Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Partial E

MS]J No. 2 XVII | JA4084-JA4111
2016-10-13 | Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Partial )

MS] No. 6 XVII | JA4112-JA4142
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA4143-JA4311

ISO Opposition to Individual XVII (FILED

Defendants Partial MS] No. 1 XVIII UNDER SEAL

JA4151A-C)




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits

ISO Opposition to Individual XVII | JA4312-JA4457

Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 2
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits i

ISO Opposition to Gould's MSJ] XVIL | JA4458-JA4517
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO

of Partial MSJ No. 1 XVIII | JA4518-JA4549
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO XVIII,

Partial MS] No. 2 Xix_ | JA4550-JA4567
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Individual

Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 1 XIX JA4568-JA4577
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Individual )

Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 2 XIX JA4578-JA4588
2019-10-21 | RDI's Consolidated Reply ISO

Individual Defendants' Partial MS] XIX JA4589-JA4603

Nos.3,4,5& 6
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Gould's MSJ XIX JA4604-]A4609
2016-10-21 | Gould's Reply ISO MSJ XIX JA4610-JA4635
2016-10-21 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's

Reply ISO MS] XIX JA4636-]A4677
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO

Partial MS] Nos. 3, 4, 5, and 6 XIX | JA4678-JA4724
2016-10-26 | Individual Defendants' Objections

to Declaration of Cotter, Jr.

Submitted in Opposition to Partial XIX JA4725JA4735

MSJs
2016-11-01 g/}‘ar}scrlpt of 10-27-16 Hearing on XIX, XX | JA4736-JA4890

otions

2016-12-20 | RDI's Answer to Cotter Jr.'s

Second Amended Complaint XX JA4891-JA4916
2016-12-21 | Order Re Individual Defendants'

Partial MSJ Nos. 1-6 and MIL to XX JA4917-]A4920

Exclude Expert Testimony
2016-12-22 | Notice of Entry of Order Re Partial

MS]J Nos. 1-6 and MIL to Exclude XX JA4921-JA4927

Expert Testimony
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date

Description

Vol. #

Page Nos.

2017-10-04

First Amended Order Setting Civil
Jury Trial, Pre-Trial Conference,
and Calendar Call

XX

JA4928-JA4931

2017-10-11

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Evidentiary Hearing Re Cotter Jr.'s
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff

XX

JA4932-JA4974

2017-10-17

Gould's Joinder to Motion for
Evidentiary Hearing re Cotter Jr.'s
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff

XX

JA4975-JA4977

2017-10-18

RDI's Joinder to Motion for
Evidentiary Hearing re Cotter Jr.'s
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff

XX

JA4978-JA4980

2017-11-09

Individual Defendants'
Supplement to Partial MSJ Nos. 1,
2,3,5,and 6

XX

JA4981-JA5024

2017-11-21

RDI's Joinder to Individual
Defendants' Supplement to Partial
MSJ Nos. 1,2,3,5 &6

XX

JA5025-JA5027

2017-11-27

Transcript of 11-20-17 Hearing on

Motion for Evidentiary Hearing re
Cotter Jr.'s Adequacy & Motion to
Seal

XX

JA5028-JA5047

2017-11-28

Individual Defendants' Answer to
Cotter Jr.'s Second Amended
Complaint

XX, XXI

JA5048-JA5077

2017-12-01

Gould's Request For Hearing on
Previously-Filed MS]J

XXI

JA5078-JA5093

2017-12-01

Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental
Opposition to Partial MS] Nos. 1 &
2 & Gould MSJ

XXI

JA5094-JA5107

2017-12-01

Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to
Partial MSJ] Nos. 1 & 2 & Gould
MSJ

XXI

JA5108-JA5118




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental
Opposition to Partial MS]J Nos. 2 & XXI JA5119-JA5134
5 & Gould MS]J
2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to )
Partial MS] Nos. 2 & 5 & Gould XXL 1 JAS135-JA5252
MSJ
2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental
Opposition to Partial MSJ Nos. 2 & XXI JA5253-JA5264
6 & Gould MSJ
2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to )
Partial MS] Nos. 2 & 6 & Gould XXT | JA5265-]A5299
MSJ
2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental XXI
Opposition to Partial MS] Nos. 2 & XXIi JA5300-JA5320
3 & Gould MSJ
2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to R
So-Called MSJ Nos. 2 & 3 & Gould XXII JA5321-JA5509
MSJ
2017-12-04 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO
Renewed Partial MSJ Nos. 1 & 2 XXIL | JA5510-JA5537
2017-12-04 Sfoltl/[lgj s Supplemental Reply ISO XXII | JA5538-JA5554
2017-12-05 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's XXII,
Supplemental Reply ISO MSJ xxi | JA5955JA5685
2017-12-08 | Joint Pre-Trial Memorandum XXIII | JA5686-JA5717
2017-12-11 | Transcript of 12-11-2017 Hearing
on [Partial] MS]Js, MILs, and Pre- XXIIT | JA5718-JA5792
Trial Conference
2017-12-19 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration of Ruling on XXIII
Partial MSJ Nos. 1, 2 & 3 and XXTV JA5793-JA5909

Gould's MSJ on OST ("Motion for
Reconsideration")




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date

Description

Vol. #

Page Nos.

2017-12-26

Individual Defendants' Opposition
to Cotter Jr.'s Motion For
Reconsideration

XXIV

JA5910-JA5981

2017-12-27

Gould's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s
Motion for Reconsideration

XXIV

JA5982-JA5986

2017-12-27

Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's
Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s Motion
for Reconsideration

XXV,
XXV

JA5987-JA6064

2017-12-28

Order Re Individual Defendants'
Partial MSJs, Gould's MSJ, and
MILs

XXV

JA6065-JA6071

2017-12-28

Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Stay on OST

XXV

JA6072-TA6080

2017-12-29

Notice of Entry of Order Re
Individual Defendants' Partial
MS]Js, Gould's MSJ, and MIL

XXV

JA6081-JA6091

2017-12-29

Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification and Stay on OST

XXV

JA6092-JA6106

2017-12-29

Transcript of 12-28-17 Hearing on
Motion for Reconsideration and
Motion for Stay

XXV

JA6107-JA6131

2018-01-02

Individual Defendants' Opposition
to Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification and Stay

XXV

JA6132-JA6139

2018-01-03

RDI's Joinder to Individual
Defendants' Opposition to Cotter
Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification and Stay

XXV

JA6140-JA6152

2018-01-03

RDI's Errata to Joinder to
Individual Defendants' Opposition
to Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification and Stay

XXV

JA6153-JA6161

2018-01-03

RDI's Motion to Dismiss for
Failure to Show Demand Futility

XXV

JA6162-JA6170

2018-01-03

Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion for
Rule 54(b) Certification and Stay

XXV

JA6171-]S6178




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-01-04 | Order Granting Cotter Jr.'s Motion
for Rule 54(b) Certification XXV | JA6179-]A6181
2018-01-04 | Notice of Entry of Order Granting
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV | JA6182-JA6188
Certification
2018-01-04 | Order Denying Cotter Jr.'s Motion
for Reconsideration and Stay XXV | JA6189-JA6191
2018-01-04 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion JA6192-]A6224
for Judgment as a Matter of Law (FILED
XXV | UNDER SEAL
JA6224A-F)
2018-01-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's
Motion to Dismiss for Failure to XXV | JA6225-JA6228
Show Demand Futility
2018-01-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to
Defendants' Motion for Judgment XXV | JA6229-JA6238
as a Matter of Law
2018-01-05 | Declaration of Krum ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Opposition to Motion for XXV | JA6239-JA6244
Judgment as a Matter of Law
2018-01-05 | Transcript of 1-4-18 Hearing on
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV | JA6245-JA6263
Certification
2018-01-08 | Transcript of Hearing on Demand
Futility Motion and Motion for XXV | JA6264-JA6280
Judgment
2018-01-10 | Transcript of Proceedings of 01-8-
18 Jury Trial-Day 1 XXV | JA6281-JA6294
2018-02-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal XXV | JA6295-JA6297
2018-04-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel XXV,
(Gould) XXVI JA6298-JA6431
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOILOGICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-04-23 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Omnibus JA6432-JA6561

Relief on OST

XXVL | i rR AL
XXVII
JA6350A;
JA6513A-C)

2018-04-24 | Gould's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s

Motion to Compel XXVII | JA6562-]A6568
2018-04-24 | Gould's Declaration ISO

Opposition to Motion to Compel XXVIL | JA6569-JA6571
2018-04-24 | Bannett's Declaration ISO Gould's

Opposition to Motion to Compel XXVIL | JA6572-JA6581
2018-04-27 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion to

Compel (Gould) XXVII | JA6582-]A6599
2018-04-27 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter's

Motion for Omnibus Relief XXVIL | JA6600-]A6698
2018-05-03 | Transcript of 4-30-18 Hearing on

Motions to Compel & Seal XXVIL | JA6699-JA6723
2018-05-04 | Second Amended Order Setting

Jury Trial, Pre-trial Conference, XXVII | JA6724-JA6726

and Calendar Call
2018-05-07 | Transcript of 5-2-18 Hearing on XXVII,

Evidentiary Hearing XXVIIl | 1A6727-JA6815
2018-05-11 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's

Motion for Leave to File Motion XXVIIL | JA6816-JA6937
2018-05-15 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion XXVIII

to Compel Production of Docs re XXIX ” | JA6938-JA7078

Expert Fee Payments on OST
2018-05-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Motion

to Compel Production of Docs re XXIX | JA7079-JA7087

Expert Fee Payments
2018-05-18 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Pre-

Trial Memo XXIX | JA7088-JA7135
2018-05-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Pre-Trial Memo XXIX | JA7136-JA7157
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-05-24 | Transcript of 05-21-18 Hearing on
Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion XXIX | JA7158-JA7172
to Compel
2018-06-01 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion
for Summary Judgment XXIX | JA7173-JA7221
("Ratification MSJ")
2018-06-08 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel on XXIX,
OST XXX, |JA7222-JA7568
XXXI
2018-06-12 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Relief Based
on Noncompliance with Court's
May 2, 2018 Rulings on OST XXXL | JA7569-]A7607
("Motion for Relief")
2018-06-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to
Ratification MS] XXXI | JA7608-JA7797
2018-06-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's XXXI,
Demand Futility Motion xxxi | JA7798-]A7840
2018-06-15 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Reply
ISO of Ratification MS] XXXIL | JA7841-]A7874
2018-06-18 | RDI's Combined Opposition to
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel & XXXII | JA7875-JA7927
Motion for Relief
2018-06-18 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Joinder
to RDI's Combined Opposition to XXXII,
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel & xxxi | JA7928-JA8295
Motion for Relief
2018-06-18 | Gould's Joinder to RDI's
Combined Opposition to Cotter
Jr.'s Motion to Compel & Motion XXXIL | JA8296-JA8301
for Relief
2018-06-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion for XXXIII,
Relief Re: 05-02-18 Rulings xxx1y | JA8302-]A8342
2018-06-20 | Transcript of 06-19-18 Omnibus
Hearing on discovery motions and | XXXIV | JA8343-JA8394

Ratification MSJ
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-07-12 | Order Granting In Part Cotter Jr.'s
Motion to Compel (Gould) & XXXIV | JA8395-JA8397
Motion for Relief
2018-07-12 | Order Granting in Part Cotter Jr.'s
Motion for Omnibus Relief & XXXIV | JA8398-JA8400
Motion to Compel
2018-08-14 | Findings of Fact and Conclusions XXXIV | JA8401-JA8411
of Law and Judgment
2018-08-16 | Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact
and Conclusions of Law and XXXIV | JA8412-JA8425
Judgment
2018-08-24 | Memorandum of Costs submitted
by RDI for itself & the director XXXIV | JA8426-JA8446
defendants
2018-08-24 | RDI's Appendix of Exhibits to XXXIV,
Memorandum of Costs XXXV, | JA8447-JA8906
XXXVI
2018-09-05 | Notice of Entry of SAO Re Process
for Filing Motion for Attorney's XXXVI | JA8907-JA8914
Fees
2018-09-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Retax Costs XXXVI | JA8915-JA9018
2018-09-07 | RDI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees XXXVI,
y Vi | JA9019-JA9101
2018-09-12 Egloi Motion for Judgment in Its XXXVII | JA9102-JA9107
2018-09-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal XXXVII | JA9108-JA9110
2018-09-14 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s
Motion fc? Retax Costs XXXVIL | JA91T1-JA9219
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix ISO Opposition to | XXXVII,
Motion to Retax ("Appendix") Part | XXXVIII, | JA9220-JA9592
1 XXXIX
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 2 XXXIX, | JA9593-
XL, XLI | JA10063
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 3 XLI, JA10064-
XLIL - A 10801
XLIII
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 4 XLIII, | JA10802-
XLIV | JA10898
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix Part 5 XLIV, |JA10899-
XLV | JA11270
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 6 XLV, |JA11271-
XLVI | JA11475
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 7 XLVI,
XLVII, |JA11476-
XLVII, |JA12496
XLIX, L
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 8 JA12497-
L, LI, LII TA12893
2018-09-14 | Suggestion of Death of Gould LI JA12894-
Upon the Record ’ JA12896
2018-09-24 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply to RDI's Opp'n to LI JA12897-
Motion to Retax Costs JA12921
2018-09-24 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA12922-
ISO Reply to RDI's Opposition to LII, LIII JA13112
Motion to Retax Costs
2018-10-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's LI JA13113-
Motion for Judgment in its Favor JA13125
2018-10-02 | Transcript of 10-01-18 Hearing on LI JA13126-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Retax Costs JA13150
2018-11-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Letter to Court LI JA13151-
Objecting to Proposed Order JA13156
2018-11-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Errata to Letter to JA13157-
Court Objecting to Proposed LIII JA13162
Order
2018-11-06 | Order Granting in Part Motion to JA13163-
Retax Costs & Entering Judgment LIII JA13167
for Costs ('Cost Judgment")
2018-11-06 | Notice of Entry of Order of Cost LI JA13168-
Judgment JA13174
2018-11-16 | Order Denying RDI's Motion for LI JA13175-
Attorneys' Fees JA13178
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOILOGICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2018-11-06 | Order Denying RDI's Motion for LIII JA13179-
Judgment in Its Favor JA13182

2018-11-20 | Notice of Entry of Order Denying LI JA13183-
RDI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees JA13190

2018-11-20 | Notice of Entry of Order Denying JA13191-
RDI's Motion for Judgment in Its LIII JA13198
Favor

2018-11-26 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration & Amendment of LI JA13199-
Cost Judgment, for Limited Stay of JA13207
Execution on OST

2018-11-30 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s
Motion for Reconsideration and LI JA13208-
Response to Motion for Limited JA13212
Stay of Execution on OST

2018-11-30 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Joinder
to RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s JA13213-
Motion for Reconsideration and LIII JA13215
Response to Motion for Limited
Stay of Execution

2018-12-06 | Order Re Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration & Amendment of LI JA13216-
Judgment for Costs and for JA13219
Limited Stay

2018-12-06 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal from LI JA13220-
Cost Judgment JA13222

2018-12-07 | Notice of Entry of Order Re Cotter
Jr.'s Motion for Reconsideration & LIII JA13223-
Amendment of Cost Judgment JA13229
and for Limited Stay

2018-12-14 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Posting Cost LI JA13230-
Bond on Appeal JA13232
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-06-18 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Joinder
to RDI's Combined Opposition to XXXII, | JA7928-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel & XXXIII | JA8295
Motion for Relief
2018-11-30 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Joinder
to RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s JA13213-
Motion for Reconsideration and LIII JA13215
Response to Motion for Limited
Stay of Execution
2018-01-04 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion JA6192-
for Judgment as a Matter of Law JA6224
FILED
XXV | (NDER
SEAL
JA6224A-F)
2018-06-01 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion JA7173-
for Summary Judgment XXIX JA7221
("Ratification MSJ")
2018-05-15 | Adams and Cotter gisters' Motion XXVIIL, | JA6938-
to Compel Production of Docs re XXIX | JA7078
Expert Fee Payments on OST
2018-05-18 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Pre- XXIX JA7088-
Trial Memo JA7135
2018-06-15 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Reply xxxqp | JA7841-
ISO of Ratification MS] JA7874
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - Douglas
McEachern 5 I JA32-]JA33
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Edward Kane I JA34-JA35
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Ellen Cotter I JA36-JA37
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - Guy Adams I JA38-JA39
2015-06-18 | Amended AQS - Margaret Cotter I JA40-JA41
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - RDI | JA42-JA43
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS — Timothy Storey I JA44-JA45
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS — William Gould I JA46-JA47
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ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-04-24 | Bannett's Declaration ISO Gould's XXVII JA6572-
Opposition to Motion to Compel JA6581
2016-04-05 | Codding and Wrotniak's Answer JA439-
to T2 Plaintiffs' First Amended II JA462
Complaint
2015-06-12 | Complaint I JA1-JA31
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits XVIII JA4458-
ISO Opposition to Gould's MSJ JA4517
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA4143-
ISO Opposition to Individual JA4311
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 1 XVIL (FILED
XVIII UNDER
SEAL
JA4151A-C)
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA4312-
ISO Opposition to Individual XVIII JA4457
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 2
2018-09-24 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA12922-
ISO Reply to RDI's Opposition to LII, LIII JA13112
Motion to Retax Costs
2018-11-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Errata to Letter to JA13157-
Court Objecting to Proposed LIIT JA13162
Order
2018-11-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Letter to Court LI JA13151-
Objecting to Proposed Order JA13156
2018-04-23 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Omnibus JA6432-
Relief on OST JA6561
(FILED
Xxvii | UNDER
JA6350A;
JA6513A-C)
2016-09-23 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Partial XIV. XV JA3337-
Summary Judgment ("MPS]") ’ JA3697
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ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-11-26 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration & Amendment of LI JA13199-
Cost Judgment, for Limited Stay of JA13207
Execution on OST
2017-12-19 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration of Ruling on
Partial MS] Nos. 1,2 & 3 and >><(>><<111\1/ }ﬁgggg'
Gould's MSJ on OST ("Motion for
Reconsideration")
2018-06-12 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Relief Based
on Noncompliance with Court's xxx| | JA7569-
May 2, 2018 Rulings on OST JA7607
("Motion for Relief")
2017-12-29 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV JA6092-
Certification and Stay on OST JA6106
2018-04-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel XXV, | JA6298-
(Gould) XXVI | JA6431
2018-06-08 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel on XXIX, JA7222-
OST XXX, JA7568
XXXI
2018-09-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Retax Costs XXXV] }ﬁgg%g—
2017-12-28 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Stay on OST XXV JA6072-
JA6080
2018-02-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal XXV JA6295-
JA6297
2018-09-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal XXXVII }ﬁg%(l)g-
2018-12-06 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal from LI JA13220-
Cost Judgment JA13222
2018-12-14 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Posting Cost LI JA13230-
Bond on Appeal JA13232
2018-01-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to JA6229-
Defendants' Motion for Judgment XXV JA6238

as a Matter of Law
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Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-10-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Gould's XVI JA4015-
MSJ JA4051
2018-05-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Motion JA7079-
to Compel Production of Docs re XXIX A7087
Expert Fee Payments J
2016-10-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Partial XVI, | JA4052-
MSJ No. 1 XVII | JA4083
2018-06-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to xxx] | JA7608-
Ratification MSJ JA7797
2018-06-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's XXXI, | JA7798-
Demand Futility Motion XXXII | JA7840
2018-10-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's LI JA13113-
Motion for Judgment in its Favor JA13125
2018-05-11 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's XXVIII JA6816-
Motion for Leave to File Motion JA6937
2018-01-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's JA6225-
Motion to Dismiss for Failure to XXV JA6228
Show Demand Futility
2018-05-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Pre-Trial Memo XXIX JA7136-
JA7157
2018-06-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion for XXXIII, | JA8302-
Relief Re: 05-02-18 Rulings XXXIV | JA8342
2018-01-03 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion for xxy |JA6171-
Rule 54(b) Certification and Stay ]S6178
2018-04-27 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion to XXVII JA6582-
Compel (Gould) JA6599
2018-09-24 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply to RDI's Opp'n to LI JA12897-
Motion to Retax Costs JA12921
2016-09-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Second Amended 10 JA519-
Verified Complaint JA575
2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental A5094
Opposition to Partial MS] Nos. 1 & XXI } A51 07-

2 & Gould MS]J
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Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental
Opposition topIEartial MSJ Nos. 2 & ;8(% }ﬁgggg_
3 & Gould MS]

2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental JA5119-
Opposition to Partial MSJ Nos. 2 & XXI JA5134
5 & Gould MS]

2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental JA5253-
Opposition to Partial MS]J Nos. 2 & XXI JA5264
6 & Gould MSJ

2016-10-13 | Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Partial xvi | 1A4084-
MSJ No. 2 JA4111

2016-10-13 | Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Partial XVII JA4112-
MSJ No. 6 JA4142

2017-12-27 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's
?ppositior} to Cotter Jr.'s Motion >§(>§R,/’ }ﬁgggi_

or Reconsideration

2016-10-21 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's XIX JA4636-
Reply ISO MSJ JA4677

2017-12-05 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's | XXII, | JA5555-
Supplemental Reply ISO MSJ XXHII | JA5685

2018-01-05 | Declaration of Krum ISO Cotter JA6239-
Jr.'s Opposition to Motion for XXV JA6244
Judgment as a Matter of Law

2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to XXI JA5108-
Partial MSJ Nos. 1 & 2 & Gould JA5118
MS]

2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to XXI JA5135-
Partial MS] Nos. 2 & 5 & Gould JA5252
MSJ

2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to XXI JA5265-
Partial MSJ Nos. 2 & 6 & Gould JA5299

MS]

20




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to xxp | JAS321-
So-Called MSJ Nos. 2 & 3 & Gould JA5509
MSJ

2016-09-23 | Defendant William Gould I, IV, | JA576-
("Gould")'s MSJ V, VI | JA1400

2018-08-14 | Findings of Fact and Conclusions xxx1y | JA8401-
of Law and Judgment JA8411

2017-10-04 | First Amended Order Setting Civil JA4928-
Jury Trial, Pre-Trial Conference, XX JA4931
and Calendar Call

2015-10-22 | First Amended Verified Complaint I JA263-

JA312

2018-04-24 | Gould's Declaration ISO XXV JA6569-
Opposition to Motion to Compel JA6571

2017-10-17 | Gould's Joinder to Motion for JA4975-
Evidentiary Hearing re Cotter Jr.'s XX JA4977
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff

2018-06-18 | Gould's Joinder to RDI's
Combined Opposition to Cotter xxxirp | JA8296-
Jr.'s Motion to Compel & Motion JA8301
for Relief

2017-12-27 | Gould's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s XXIV JAS5982-
Motion for Reconsideration JA5986

2018-04-24 | Gould's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s XXVII JA6562-
Motion to Compel JA6568

2016-10-21 | Gould's Reply ISO MS] XIX JA4610-

JA4635

2017-12-01 | Gould's Request For Hearing on XXI JA5078-
Previously-Filed MS]J JA5093

2017-12-04 | Gould's Supplemental Reply ISO xxqp | JAS538-
of MSJ JA5554

2017-11-28 | Individual Defendants' Answer to JA5048-
Cotter Jr.'s Second Amended XX, XXI JA5077

Complaint
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Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-03-14 | Individual Defendants' Answer to I JA375-
Cotter's First Amended Complaint JA396
2017-10-11 | Individual Defendants' Motion for JA4932-
Evidentiary Hearing Re Cotter Jr.'s XX JA4974
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for JA1486-
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 1) JA2216
Re: Plaintiff's Termination and VI VII (FILED
Reinstatement Claims ("Partial VIIL IX UNDER
JA2136A-D)
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for JA2217-
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 2) JA2489
Re: The Issue of Director (FILED
Independence ("Partial MSJ No. 2") IX, X UNDER
SEAL
JA2489A-
HH)
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 3) JA2490-
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the X, XI JA2583
Purported Unsolicited Offer
("Partial MSJ No. 3")
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 4) JA2584-
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the XI JTA2689
Executive Committee ("Partial MS]
No. 4")
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 5) JA2690-
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the | XI, XII JTA2860

Appointment of Ellen Cotter as

CEO ('"Partial MSJ No. 5")
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Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 6)
Re Plaintiff's Claims Re Estate's
Option Exercise, Appointment of
Margaret Cotter, Compensation XII, XIII, | JA2861-
Packages of Ellen Cotter and XIV JA3336
Margaret Cotter, and related
claims Additional Compensation
to Margaret Cotter and Guy
Adams ("Partial MSJ No. 6")
2015-09-03 | Individual Defendants' Motion to I JA149-
Dismiss Complaint JA237
2016-10-26 | Individual Defendants' Objections
to Declaration of Cotter, Jr. XIX JA4725-
Submitted in Opposition to Partial JA4735
MSJs
2017-12-26 | Individual Defendants' Opposition JA5910-
to Cotter Jr.'s Motion For XXIV
Reconsideration JAS981
2018-01-02 | Individual Defendants' Opposition JA6132-
to Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) | XXV JA6139
Certification and Stay
2016-10-13 | Individual Defendants' Opposition XVI | JA3815-
to Cotter Jr.'s MPSJ JA3920
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO v | JA4518-
of Partial MSJ No. 1 JA4549
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO XVIII, | JA4550-
Partial MSJ No. 2 XIX JA4567
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO JA4678-
Partial MSJ Nos. 3, 4, 5, and 6 XIX JA4724
2017-12-04 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO XXII JA5510-
Renewed Partial MS] Nos. 1 & 2 JA5537
2017-11-09 | Individual Defendants' JA4981-
Supplement to Partial MS] Nos. 1, XX JA5024

2,3,5,and 6
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ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2017-12-08 | Joint Pre-Trial Memorandum XXIII JA5686-
JA5717

2018-08-24 | Memorandum of Costs submitted JA8426-
by RDI for itself & the director XXXIV JTA8446
defendants

2016-09-23 | MIL to Exclude Expert Testimony JA1401-
of Steele, Duarte-Silva, Spitz, VI JA1485
Nagy, & Finnerty

2015-08-10 | Motion to Dismiss Complaint I JA48-JA104

2018-08-16 | Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact
and Conclusions of Law and XXXIV JA8412-
Judgment JA8425

2018-11-20 | Notice of Entry of Order Denying LI JA13183-
RDI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees JA13190

2018-11-20 | Notice of Entry of Order Denying JA13191-
RDI's Motion for Judgment in Its LIII JA13198
Favor

2018-01-04 | Notice of Entry of Order Granting JA6182-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV JA6188
Certification

2018-11-06 | Notice of Entry of Order of Cost LI JA13168-
Judgment JA13174

2018-12-07 | Notice of Entry of Order Re Cotter
Jr.'s Motion for Reconsideration & LI JA13223-
Amendment of Cost Judgment JA13229
and for Limited Stay

2017-12-29 | Notice of Entry of Order Re JA6081-
Individual Defendants' Partial XXV JA6091
MSJs, Gould's MS]J, and MIL

2016-12-22 | Notice of Entry of Order Re Partial JA4921-
MSJ Nos. 1-6 and MIL to Exclude XX JA4927
Expert Testimony

2018-09-05 | Notice of Entry of SAO Re Process JA8907-
for Filing Motion for Attorney's XXXVI JA8914

Fees
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Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2018-01-04 | Order Denying Cotter Jr.'s Motion XXV JA6189-
for Reconsideration and Stay JA6191

2018-11-16 | Order Denying RDI's Motion for LIII JA13175-
Attorneys' Fees JA13178

2018-11-06 | Order Denying RDI's Motion for LI JA13179-
Judgment in Its Favor JA13182

2015-10-12 | Order Denying RDI's Motion to I JA257-
Compel Arbitration JA259

2018-01-04 | Order Granting Cotter Jr.'s Motion xxy | 1A6179-
for Rule 54(b) Certification JA6181

2016-10-03 | Order Granting Cotter Jr.'s Motion
to Compel Production of XV JA3698-
Documents & Communications Re JA3700
the Advice of Counsel Defense

2018-07-12 | Order Granting in Part Cotter Jr.'s JA8398-
Motion for Omnibus Relief & XXXIV JA8400
Motion to Compel

2018-07-12 | Order Granting In Part Cotter Jr.'s JA8395-
Motion to Compel (Gould) & XXXIV JA8397
Motion for Relief

2018-11-06 | Order Granting in Part Motion to JA13163-
Retax Costs & Entering Judgment LIII JA13167
for Costs ("Cost Judgment")

2018-12-06 | Order Re Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration & Amendment of LI JA13216-
Judgment for Costs and for JA13219
Limited Stay

2016-10-03 | Order Re Cotter Jr.'s Motion to JA3701-
Permit Certain Discovery re XV JA3703
Recent "Offer"

2016-12-21 | Order Re Individual Defendants' JA4917-
Partial MSJ Nos. 1-6 and MIL to XX JA4920

Exclude Expert Testimony
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Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2017-12-28 | Order Re Individual Defendants' JA6065-
Partial MSJs, Gould's MS]J, and XXV JA6071
MILs
2015-10-19 | Order Re Motion to Dismiss I JA260-
Complaint JA262
2016-12-20 | RDI's Answer to Cotter Jr.'s XX JA4891-
Second Amended Complaint JA4916
2016-03-29 | RDI's Answer to Cotter, Jr.'s First I JA397-
Amended Complaint JA418
2016-03-29 | RDI's Answer to T2 Plaintiffs' First 1 JA419-
Amended Complaint JA438
2018-08-24 | RDI's Appendix of Exhibits to XXXV, JA8447-
Memorandum of Costs XXXV, JA8906
XXXVI
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix ISO Opposition to | XXXVII, JA9220-
Motion to Retax ("Appendix") Part | XXXVIII JA9592
1 , XXXIX
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 2 XXXIX, |JA9593-
XL, XLI | JA10063
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 3 XLI, JA10064-
XLII,
LI JA10801
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 4 XLIII, |JA10802-
XLIV | JA10898
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix Part 5 XLIV, |JA10899-
XLV |[JA11270
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 6 XLV, JA11271-
XLVI [ JA11475
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 7 XLVI,
XLVII, |JA11476-
XLVIII, |JA12496
XLIX, L
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 8 JA12497-
PP L, LL LI | 1215893

26




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2018-06-18 | RDI's Combined Opposition to JA7875-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel & XXXII JA7927
Motion for Relief

2019-10-21 | RDI's Consolidated Reply ISO JA4589-
Individual Defendants' Partial MSJ XIX JA4603
Nos.3,4,5&6

2018-01-03 | RDI's Errata to Joinder to
Individual Defendants' Opposition xxy | JA6153-
to Motion for Rule 54(b) JA6161
Certification and Stay

2016-10-13 | RDI's Joinder to Individual JA3921-
Defendants' Opposition to Cotter XVI JA4014
Jr.'s MPSJ

2018-01-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual
Defendants' Opposition to Cotter xxy |JA6140-
Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) JA6152
Certification and Stay

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3707-
Defendants' Partial-MSJ No. 1 JA3717

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3718-
Defendants' Partial MSJ] No. 2 JA3739

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3740-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 3 JA3746

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3747-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 4 JA3799

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3800-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 5 JA3805

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV, XVI | JA3806-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 6 JA3814

2017-11-21 | RDI's Joinder to Individual JA5025-
Defendants' Supplement to Partial XX JA5027
MSJ Nos. 1,2,3,5&6

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to MIL to Exclude XV JA3704-
Expert Testimony JA3706
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Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2017-10-18 | RDI's Joinder to Motion for JA4978-
Evidentiary Hearing re Cotter Jr.'s XX JA4980
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff
2018-09-07 | RDI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees XXXVI, [JA9019-
XXXVII | JA9101
2018-09-12 | RDI's Motion for Judgment in Its JA9102-
Favor 5 XXXVIL 749107
2015-08-31 | RDI's Motion to Compel I JA127-
Arbitration JA148
2018-01-03 | RDI's Motion to Dismiss for XXV JA6162-
Failure to Show Demand Futility JA6170
2018-11-30 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s
Motion for Reconsideration and LI JA13208-
Response to Motion for Limited JA13212
Stay of Execution on OST
2018-09-14 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s XXXVII JA9111-
Motion to Retax Costs JA9219
2018-04-27 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter's xxvyp | 1A6600-
Motion for Omnibus Relief JA6698
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Gould's MS] XIX JA4604-
JA4609
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Individual XIX JA4568-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 1 JA4577
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Individual XIX JA4578-
Defendants' Partial MSJ] No. 2 JA4588
2015-08-20 | Reading International, Inc.
("RDI")'s Joinder to Margaret
Cotter, Ellen Cotter, Douglas JA105-
McEachern, Guy Adams, & I JA108
Edward Kane ("Individual
Defendants") Motion to Dismiss
Complaint
2015-11-10 | Scheduling Order and Order JA313-
Setting Civil Jury Trial, Pre-Trial II JA316

Conference and Calendar Call
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2018-05-04 | Second Amended Order Setting JA6724-
Jury Trial, Pre-trial Conference, XXVII JA6726
and Calendar Call

2016-06-21 | Stipulation and Order to Amend I JA463-
Deadlines in Scheduling Order JA468

2018-09-14 | Suggestion of Death of Gould LI JA12894-
Upon the Record ’ JA12896

2016-02-12 | T2 Plaintiffs' First Amended I JA317-
Complaint JA355

2015-08-28 | T2 Plaintiffs' Verified Shareholder I JA109-
Derivative Complaint JA126

2015-10-06 | Transcript of 9-10-15 Hearing on
Defendants' Motion to Dismiss & L1 JA238-
Plaintiff Cotter Jr. ("Cotter Jr.")'s ’ JA256
Motion for Preliminary Injunction

2016-02-23 | Transcript of 2-18-16 Hearing on JA356-
Motion to Compel & Motion to I JA374
File Document Under Seal

2016-06-23 | Transcript of 6-21-16 Hearing on JA469-
Defendants' Motion to Compel & I JA493
Motion to Disqualify T2 Plaintiffs

2016-08-11 | Transcript of 8-9-16 Hearing on
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Partial 10 JA494-
Summary Judgment, Motion to ’ JA518
Compel & Motion to Amend

2016-11-01 | Transcript of 10-27-16 Hearing on XIX. XX JA4736-
Motions ! JA4890

2017-11-27 | Transcript of 11-20-17 Hearing on
Motion for Evidentiary Hearing re XX JA5028-
Cotter Jr.'s Adequacy & Motion to JA5047
Seal

2017-12-11 | Transcript of 12-11-2017 Hearing JA5718-
on [Partial] MSJs, MILs, and Pre- XXIII JA5792

Trial Conference
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2017-12-29 | Transcript of 12-28-17 Hearing on JA6107-
Motion for Reconsideration and XXV JA6131
Motion for Stay

2018-01-05 | Transcript of 1-4-18 Hearing on JA6245-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV JA6263
Certification

2018-01-08 | Transcript of Hearing on Demand JA6264-
Futility Motion and Motion for XXV JA6280
Judgment

2018-01-10 | Transcript of Proceedings of 01-8- xxy |JA6281-
18 Jury Trial-Day 1 JA6294

2018-05-03 | Transcript of 4-30-18 Hearing on XXVII JA6699-
Motions to Compel & Seal JA6723

2018-05-07 | Transcript of 5-2-18 Hearing on XXVII, | JA6727-
Evidentiary Hearing XXVIIT | JA6815

2018-05-24 | Transcript of 05-21-18 Hearing on JA7158-
Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion XXIX JA7172
to Compel

2018-06-20 | Transcript of 06-19-18 Omnibus JA8343-
Hearing on discovery motions and | XXXIV JA8394
Ratification MS]J

2018-10-02 | Transcript of 10-01-18 Hearing on LII JA13126-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Retax Costs JA13150

30




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that I am an employee of MORRIS LAW GROUP; I am
familiar with the firm's practice of collection and processing documents for
mailing; that, in accordance therewith, I caused the following document to
be e-served via the Supreme Court's electronic service process. I hereby
certify that on the 28th day of August, 2019, a true and correct copy of the
foregoing JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS FOR CASE NOS.
77648 & 76981, was served by the following method(s):

M  Supreme Court's EFlex Electronic Filing System:

Stan Johnson Donald A. Lattin
Cohen-Johnson, LLC Carolyn K. Renner
255 East Warm Springs Road, Ste. 110 Maupin, Cox & LeGoy
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 4785 Caughlin Parkway
Reno, Nevada 89519
Christopher Tayback
Marshall Searcy Ekwan E. Rhow
Quinn Emanuel Urquhart & Sullivan LLP Shoshana E. Bannett
865 South Figueroa Street, 10th Floor Bird, Marella, Boxer, Wolpert,
Los Angeles, CA Nessim, Drooks, Lincenberg &
Rhow, P.C.
Attorneys for Respondents 1875 Century Park East, 23rd Fl.

Edward Kane, Douglas McEachern, Judy Los Angeles, CA 90067-2561
Codding, and Michael Wrotniak
Attorneys for Respondent

William Gould
Mark Ferrario
Kara Hendricks Judge Elizabeth Gonzalez
Tami Cowden Eighth Judicial District
Greenberg Traurig, LLP court of
10845 Griffith Peak Drive Suite 600 Clark County, Nevada
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 Regional Justice Center
200 Lewis Avenue
Attorneys for Nominal Defendant Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Reading International, Inc.

By: /s/ Gabriela Mercado

31



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

violence to the whole principle of advancement that this is to
be determined in a summary fashion by the Court. He suggests
that Mr. Cotter, Jr., is not being left out in the cold.

There is a critical distinction, as this Court is well aware,
between advancement and a later determination of a right to
attorneys' fees. Mr. Cotter has provided an undertaking.

This is no different than a mandatory requirement that Mr.
Cotter be -- advance these moneys akin to equivalent to a
loan. And this is in no way distortive of anything. We're
using their own words in terms of the obligation, the alleged
obligation to resign as a director and the fact that this
arbitration revolves around that fact. Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you.

The motion is denied. Here the employment
arbitration is not within the scope of the bylaws
reimbursement provision. So good luck. 'Bye.

Now could I go to the motion to compel. Did you get
Mr. Krum's most recent supplemental privilege log that he
mentioned in the opposition I read this morning?

MR. SEARCY: Your Honor, I did receive the
supplemental privilege log last night, and I'd like to talk
about that with the Court briefly.

We've got a pattern here, Your Honor, where we bring
a motion to compel and then plaintiff submits a privilege log

to us that's deficient. As we set forth in our papers, we
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brought a motion to compel in March. The plaintiff was
ordered to provide a proper privilege log. Plaintiff didn't.
So we brought another motion to compel again in June.
Plaintiff was ordered to provide a proper privilege log.
Plaintiff didn't. We were promised a proper privilege log in
July 12th, July 22nd, promised one again on July 26th. Now,
on August 8, after discovery has ended, plaintiff has provided
us with a privilege log that still fails to meet the Court's
order.

And particularly, Your Honor, there are six pages'
worth of entries on there that contain communications between
the attorneys for T2 and the attorneys for plaintiff. And
Your Honor specifically inquired of plaintiff at the hearing
in June whether plaintiff recognized that there was no
privilege between plaintiff and T2 concerning those
communications. Specifically, at page 17, line 1%, and page
18, line 5, of the hearing transcript where the Court asks,
"So you recognize there's no privilege between your client and
Mr. Robertson's clients' communications related to Reading?"
Plaintiff's counsel responded, "I think that's the case. I
know there's no joint prosecution agreement."

So now, Your Honor, we still have a privilege log
that's deficient, and I'd like to be able to address the
issues in that privilege log as quickly as possible with the

Court. What I would --
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THE COURT: Today's not the day we're going to do
it.

MR. SEARCY: And that's --

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SEARCY: You're two steps ahead of me, Your
Honor, as usual. What I would like to do, Your Honor, 1is
submit the privilege log that plaintiff has provided to us to
the Court and schedule with the Court at some point at the
Court's earliest convenience a call where we can go over the
deficient entries in those privilege log and finally bring
this issue to an end.

THE COURT: So why don't you first talk to Mr. Krum
about the deficiencies in the privilege log he gave you
yesterday.

MR. SEARCY: And I intend to do that, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. But don't involve me till you've
done that.

MR. SEARCY: But I believe if we can set up a call
with the Court, then we can move that process along quickly.

THE COURT: How about you give Mr. Krum your
comments first.

MR. SEARCY: All right. Thank you.

THE COURT: You never know. You may resolve them.

MR. SEARCY: Your Honor, we're looking at our fourth

motion to compel on the privilege log --
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THE COURT: I am aware of that.

MR. SEARCY: -- so I'm not optimistic. But I'll
certainly give Mr. Krum a call.

THE COURT: Well, no. You've got to do more than
that. You've got to actually talk to him.

MR. SEARCY: Absolutely.

THE COURT: Not just call. You've got to talk to
him.

MR. SEARCY: And, Your Honor, if I may point out, on
our third motion to compel we've done a lot of talking to Mr.
Krum. In fact, Mr. Krum and I speak gquite a bit.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. SEARCY: So I don't want there to be any
confusion on that point. But we --

THE COURT: I speak with you guys a lot, too,
though.

MR. SEARCY: Yes, you do, Your Honor. And I'd like
to -- I'd like to try and bring this issue to a head. So
thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Krum, anything you want to
tell me?

MR. KRUM: Your Honor, I'm not going to take any of
my limited time or yours to repeat what's in our papers --

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. KRUM: -- or even respond to what he said.
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Unless you have questions, I have nothing to add.

THE COURT: So since you've already produced a
privilege log, I'm going to require that counsel meet and
confer. I would prefer an actual meeting where you actually
sit down and talk about it between the two of you, but if
that's not possible, a telephonic conference call where you
sit down and talk about it. After you are unable to resolve
your differences related to the supplemental privilege log it
would be lovely if you would send it to me and we would have a
conference call.

MR. SEARCY: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. So i1if I can go to the motion to
amend.

MR. KRUM: Thank you, Your Honor.

The motion to amend raises matters learned in the
course of discovery and developments that postdate the last
pleading, a classic matter appropriately included in a motion
to amend. The principal areas --

THE COURT: Certainly better than asking to amend
according to proof at the time of trial.

MR. KRUM: Well, we were pretty proud of that,
actually, Your Honor, that we got ahead of that curve. So one
of those new subjects is the supposed search hiring Ellen
Cotter as CEO. We raised that in our first amended complaint

as best we could given that our first amended complaint
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preceded the conclusion of that series of events. That
subject was raised in the intervening plaintiff's claim. The
defendants have taken discovery with respect to it. Had we
sought to file an amended complaint, as their opposition
suggests, promptly following the public announcement of it, I
can just hear Mr. Ferrario saying something like, come on,
Judge, is Mr. Krum going to amend the complaint every time Mr.
Cotter disagrees with a board decision. So what we did is
what we're entitled to do, is take discovery, learn facts, and
file the pleading. Discovery, by the way, Your Honor,
effectively commenced in mid April. As you'll recall,
defendants delayed approximately -- the individual defendants
delayed approximately five months before making a substantial
production of documents.

The other -- another new subject is not new. That's
Margaret Cotter is the director of real estate for New York
City. This was raised in our first amended complaint based on
facts we knew at the time. See, for example, paragraph 18.
She was made -- given that position in March. I guess the
opposition says we're therefore supposed to file an amended
complaint then. But we wanted to see the documents and take
some depositions; because, after all, what we knew is that the
individual director defendants had previously by and large
taken the position that she was not qualified for that. So

obviously there were going to be documents and/or testimony
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that explained why they took a different position. We took
that discovery. Based on that discovery we included that in
the second amended complaint.

Now, I should add, Your Honor, that counsel for the
director defendants, including Ms. Conning and Mr. Rodniak,
spent extensive time examining plaintiff about that, questions
like, "You think it's a wrong decision to have hired Margaret
Cotter; correct?" "Am I correct that if the right process was
followed and they hired Margaret you would be fine with that?"
On and on and on and on. So they took discovery with respect
to that. There's no prejudice to anybody.

The other subject that's a new one is the offer.

And that obviously is a development so recent that we could
not have taken, much less completed, discovery regarding it.
The response of the director defendants to the offer, Your
Honor, raises exactly the issue raised in most, if not all, of
the matters in the FAC, the first amended complaint, namely,
entrenchment and self dealing by Ellen and Margaret Cotter and
abdication of the fiduciary responsibilities by the other
individual director defendants in deference to what they
believe to be the wishes of Ellen and Margaret Cotter.

So this is in the first amended complaint, this kind
of conduct, for example, paragraphs 1, 3, 6, 7, 9, 16, and 57.
We quote Mr. Storey as saying, "As directors we can't just do

what a shareholder,”™ meaning Ellen and Margaret, "asks."
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Paragraph 160 of our second amended complaint says,
"Each of the non-Cotter directors in determining whether and
how to respond to the offer made their respective decisions
largely, 1f not entirely, on their understanding of what Ellen
and Margaret wanted." So to respond to the individual
defendants, the offer is the ultimate kind of entrenchment and
abdication of fiduciary responsibilities. That is exactly the
nature of every claim made in this case. That it gives rise
to a different category of damages doesn't mean that it
doesn't belong in the case. It's the same kind of conduct,
and we're entitled to cover all of it that exists, not have
some of it that closes the loop excluded from the case.

And the interested director defendants take issue
with the allegations of the second amended complaint about
that series of events, and to do that they cite a press
release they issued. Well, interestingly enough, the second
amended complaint alleges that the press release itself is
misleading.

Prejudice. Delay alone without some substantive
prejudice accompanying is insufficient to serve as a basis to
deny a motion to amend. The circumstances with which the
parties are faced here are due largely, if not entirely, to
the defendants themselves. They delayed the production of
documents by five months. They delayed depositions. I had to

bring motions to compel before they even scheduled
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depositions. We've run around the country for three straight
months in places where neither Mr. Ferrario nor his partners
nor I live deposing these people. We're not still not
finished. We have five depositions that haven't been
completed, some of them even started, one of which is Mr.
Tompkins, for whom I've been asking since mid May. Mr.
Ferrario I believe made good-faith efforts to produce him.

Mr. Tompkins since hired his own counsel and tell me there are
going to be privilege issues they're going to have the Court
resolve before he'll be produced.

The document production, by the way, has been
ongoing. Since the April production of the 20,000 documents
-- 20,000 pages by the individuals they've produced 15.

Last comment, the second amended complaint pleads as
to each matter on which a claim is based, demand futility.
Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Mr. Ferrario.

MR. FERRARIO: Your Honor, I'm going to cut to the
chase on behalf of the company. This case has been a
tremendous drain on company resources, as Your Honor can
imagine. I mean, Jjust harvesting documents --

THE COURT: 1I've been trying to get this case moving
for almost a year.

MR. FERRARIO: Well, it has been.
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THE COURT: You guys are poky.

MR. FERRARIO: No. I would take issue with that.
We are essentially done with --

THE COURT: I tried to set a preliminary injunction
hearing to resolve all these issues a year ago.

MR. FERRARIO: It wasn't me, Your Honor. That
wasn't me, as you recall, okay. We asked what was the -- what
were the issues that were going to be resolved, and Mr. Krum
couldn't even articulate that.

S0 here's what -- here's where we're at. We have
like four mop-up depositions to do. Two I think -- we have
like an hour with Doug McEachern, and we have a half a day
with the plaintiff, we have a half a day with Mr. Adams.

Those are all in the process of being set.

Mr. Tompkins's deposition will go forward. We
proposed a number of dates. Mr. Santoro's representing him.
That shouldn't get in the way, okay.

The real issue is do we allow a change in the
complexion of the case at this late date. There are certain
claims that Mr. Krum articulated that have been in the case
via the T2 complaint. Now, that case is in the process of
hopefully being resolved. We have a hearing in front of Your
Honor October 6th. So have there been questions raised in the
complaint about hiring Ellen Cotter, have there been questions

raised in -- not in the complaint, in the case about Margaret
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Cotter? Yes. Those were part of the T2 action in large part.
But what's missing here from what is now essentially an
employment case if Your Honor doesn't allow the amendment --
because that's really all it was. Mr. Krum himself said this
was an egquitable case so that his client could get reinstated.
Now they're trying to take over the claims that were
previously being prosecuted by T2. T2 has said, hey, we take
a look at this, there's no reason to move forward. Now they
want to basically take those claims and take them to the
finish line. So from our perspective it does change the
dynamic here. And what Mr. Krum didn't address is the fact
that many of these claims that he wants to now bring arose
after there was a significant change in the board. We have
two new board members.

His demand futility allegations fall as a matter of
law. You don't -- you can't say that Ms. Cotting is incapable
of making a decision because she is the friend of the mother
of his client, who also happens to be the mother of his two
sisters. I don't think that satisfies -- which I haven't seen
the case where friendship alone disqualifies you from making
an independent decision when a demand is placed upon you. And
that's really what's missing from his complaint, his proposed
amended complaint.

So I can go through this, I can hack it all up, I

can tell you when Rodniak was on the board, we can do all
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that. He talks about serial amendment. His client
essentially gripes and challenges every decision made by the
board, okay. So I suspect we'll be doing this again close to
trial. We addressed this the last time we were here when I
said, so, you know, is this just going to keep going with
discovery, do we just keep opening depositions, do we go back
now every time we make a decision and redepose somebody. At
some point you have to have some structure to these
proceedings. The structure comes from a demand to the board.
That's the first thing.

So having said all that, because I know Your Honor's
read this and you probably have your mind made up and I'm
making record, here's what the company can't afford to have
happen. We cannot afford to have a delay in these
proceedings. They are a drain on company assets. This needs
to be resolved. And if Your Honor does allow the amendment,
we do not want there to be any delay in the trial. And --

THE COURT: It's set for November.

MR. FERRARIO: Which is set for November. So
there's plenty of time --

THE COURT: Absolutely.

MR. FERRARIO: -- for us to accommodate whatever we
have to do --

THE COURT: And any motion practice you need to do.

MR. FERRARIO: If Your Honor is so inclined to allow

19

JA512




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

us that, yes, we can do all the motion practice --

THE COURT: Of course. You always get motion
practice.

MR. FERRARIO: -- we can do all the motion practice
we need to do. But in terms of -- and this is going to be
addressed on Thursday. I will not be here. 1I'd prefer to
have that hearing set for Friday, if we could. I have to be
out state in a deposition.

THE COURT: Everybody okay with moving the hearing
Thursday to Friday? Everybody nodded their head okay.

MR. KRUM: Your Honor, I don't know. I'm flying out
on Friday. I do not know what time.

THE COURT: My hearings start at 8:30 on Friday.

MR. KRUM: I just need to check, Your Honor. I
don't know.

THE COURT: Okay. Will you check?

MR. KRUM: Of course.

MR. FERRARIO: So I -- you know, I can slice this
up. Mr. Searcy can talk to you about what's in his pleadings.

THE COURT: Well, but you used all the time.

MR. FERRARIO: Well --

THE COURT: He doesn't have any time left.

MR. FERRARIO: Give him a little bit. Look, this is
-- look, with all due respect, Judge, this is a really serious

matter, and we --
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THE COURT: I know it is, Mr. Ferrario.

MR. FERRARIO: -- we have worked very hard --

THE COURT: But do you remember what the standard is
for me allowing amendments?

MR. FERRARIO: Your Honor, this is different. I
know what the standard is for amendments, and I knew where you
were headed when you said at least we're not doing this at
trial. But I think here when you have a derivative case there
is a different element that comes into play. This isn't a
PI-type case or a simple auto case or breach of contract case
where you might find another related claim. This is a
derivative claim. And the predicate for any derivative claim
is a demand upon the board. And we've had some significant
changes to the complexion of the board going forward. It
isn't the same board that existed in the summer of 2015. New
people were added, people that don't have some of the same
issues that the other directors had, people that don't have,
you know, b50-year friendships, as he's alleged, things that we
think are irrelevant at any rate and more than happy to
address. But it is a different dynamic here.

So from the company's perspective if Your Honor does
allow the amendment we would request that we maintain the
trial date. And we will work with whatever deadlines. And
Your Honor knows that I will do that, having lived through

CityCenter, where there were some very difficult deadlines.
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We will work with any deadlines that Your Honor imposes so
long as we can get this case to the finish line in November.

THE COURT: Thank you.

You may have a minute and a half, Mr. Searcy.

MR. SEARCY: Your Honor, thank you.

I just want to emphasize a point Mr. Ferrario made
and that was made by Mr. Krum but is incorrect. That's the
notion that somehow the director defendants delayed in
providing discovery. In fact, Your Honor, we produced
documents well in advance of depositions. As we set forth in
page 11 of our brief, Your Honor, we provided Ellen Cotter for
three days of deposition, Margaret Cotter for three days of
deposition, Ed Kane for four days of deposition.

THE COURT: See, it's less effective for you guys to
tell me the history of discovery when I'm doing all my own
discovery, because I remember how many times you guys have
been in here fighting. Anything else?

MR. SEARCY: Well, Your Honor, but the point is that
my clients have done this in an effort to make that November
trial date. So I --

THE COURT: We're going to make the November trial
date. That's not the issue. Anything else?

MR. SEARCY: And, Your Honor, thank you. I don't
need the rest of my time.

THE COURT: All right. The motion to amend is
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granted. I find that demand would be futile on the board
under the circumstances. However, that does not preclude you
from filing a motion to dismiss once it's filed relating to
the other issues.

Anything else?

MR. FERRARIC: ©No. Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. So, Mr. Krum, can you tell
us if you can come Friday?

Could you wait a minute while I do the last page and
then I go back to --

(Pause in the proceedings)

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Krum, what'd you find out?

MR. KRUM: The answer's yes. I can do that Friday
morning.

THE COURT: Okay. So we'll see you guys at 8:30
Friday morning. The things that are on Thursday will be
Friday. Whatever is on Thursday is now on Friday. That's --

MR. FERRARIO: There was one -- the motion to --

MR. KUTINAC: It was just signed yesterday, so it
might not be in the system vyet.

MR. FERRARIO: It was a motion to continue trial.

THE COURT: What?

MR. FERRARIO: 1I'd as soon deal with it now so she
doesn't [inaudible].

THE COURT: I haven't read it, but you know what I'm
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going to do.

MR.

He's made hi

TH

MR.

MR.

TH

you then.

MR.

MR.

MR.

TH

'Bye.

FERRARIO: I know. That's what I told Mr. Krum.
s record.
E COURT: No.
KRUM: That was my response, as well.
FERRARIO: Okay. All right. Friday?
E COURT: So if you guys can come Friday, I'll see
FERRARTIO: 8:307
KRUM: Friday at 8:30 will work.
FERRARIO: Thank you, Your Honor.
E COURT: Anything else? Have a lovely day.

THE PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED AT 9:30 A.M.

* X kX k%
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James J. Cotter, Jr.
DISTRICT COURT
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JAMES J. COTTER, JR., individually and
derivatively on behalf of Reading International,
Inc.,

Plaintiff,
V.

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER,
GUY ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS
McEACHERN, WILLIAM GOULD, JUDY
CODDING, MICHAEL WROTNIAK, and
DOES 1 through 100, inclusive,

Defendants.

and

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Nevada
corporation;

Nominal Defendant,

T2 PARTNERS MANAGEMENT, LP, a
Delaware limited partnership, doing business as
KASE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, et al.,

Plaintiffs,
vs.
MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER,

GUY ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS
McEACHERN, WILLIAM GOULD, JUDY

CODDING, MICHAEL WROTNIAK, CRAIG
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TOMPKINS, and DOES 1 through 100,
inclusive,
Defendants.

and

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC., a
Nevada corporation,

Nominal Defendant.

For his complaint herein, plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr. hereby alleges the following:

NATURE OF THE CASE

1. This action arises from breaches of fiduciary duty by the individual defendants,
each of whom is a member of the board of directors of Reading International, Inc. (“RDI” or the
“Company”), a public company. In particular and without limitation, Edward Kane (“Kane”),
Guy Adams (“Adams”) and Douglas McEachern (“McEachern”), together with Ellen Cotter
(“EC”) and Margaret Cotter (“MC”) (collectively, the “Interested Director Defendants”), acted to
wrongfully seize control of RDI and to perpetuate that control, to protect and further their personal
financial and other interests, in purposeful derogation of their fiduciary obligations as directors of
RDI. In doing so, they have squandered if not appropriated corporate opportunities, wasted
corporate assets and caused monetary and nonmonetary injury to RDI and its shareholders.

2. These director defendants first threatened James J. Cotter, Jr. (“JJC” or “Plaintiff”)
with termination as President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) of RDI if he failed to resolve
trust and estate litigation with EC and MC on terms acceptable to the two of them and to cede
control of RDI to them. They threatened to terminate JJC on less than forty-eight (48) hours’
notice after EC belatedly provided a purposefully vague agenda for a supposed special meeting.
When they understood that Plaintiff had acquiesced to their demand and had reached an agreement
with EC and MC acceptable to the two of them, Kane, Adams and McEachern did not act on their
termination threat.

3. Next, when JJC failed to consummate a resolution of the disputes with EC and MC,

these director defendants acted on their threat and terminated JJC as President and CEO of RDL.
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These director defendants acted without undertaking any semblance of a process to warrant
making any decision regarding the status of JJC (or anyone) as President and CEO, and did so in
the face of express admonitions by outside directors Timothy Storey (“Storey”) and William
Gould (“Gould”) that the directors had failed to undertake any process that would warrant making
any decision about the status of the President and CEO of RDI, much less the decision to remove
JJC as President and CEO of RDI. Gould warned the others that, because they had undertaken no
process to warrant even making such a decision, they all could be subject to liability. Storey
called the lack of process a “kangaroo court,” and observed as to the non-Cotter directors that, “as
directors we can’t just do what a shareholder [, meaning EC and MC,] asks.” Not only did these
director defendants precipitously terminate JJC as President and CEO of RDI without undertaking
any process and on purposefully inadequate notice, they pre-empted and aborted an ongoing and
incomplete process that the five non-Cotter directors had put in place in March 2015.

4, Immediately following the termination of JJC as President and CEO of RDI, EC
asserted that JJC’s executive employment agreement required him to resign from the RDI Board
of Directors upon the termination of his employment as an executive. That assertion was
erroneous. Gould, who drafted and negotiated that employment agreement, told the RDI Board
and told EC and Craig Tompkins on a separate occasion that it did not require JIC to resign as a
director. On or about June 15, 2016, EC on behalf of the Company sent JIC a letter reiterating the
assertion that he was required to resign as a director upon the termination of his executive
employment. On or about June 18, 2015, the Company issued a Form 8-K which, among other
things, reiterated that assertion. EC took and caused these actions with the approval of if not active
assistance of the other Interested Director Defendants.

¥, Kane has a decade’s long quasi-familial relationship with EC and MC, who call
him “Uncle Ed.” Adams is financially dependent on income from companies and deals that EC
and MC control. What each of Kane, Adams and McEachern did was to choose sides in family
disputes between EC and MC, on one hand, and JJC, on the other hand, which disputes included
certain trust and estate litigation commenced by EC and MC against JJC following the September
2014 passing of their father, James J. Cotter, Sr. (“JJC, Sr.”), particularly regarding voting control
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of RDI, and included disputes about whether EC and MC would report to their “little brother,”
who succeeded JJIC, Sr. as CEO of RDI, or to anyone, as a practical matter.

6. EC and MC have at all times acted purposefully to protect and further their own
personal financial and other interests to the detriment of RDI and all of its shareholders other than
them. They regularly sought, and often received, money, benefits, titles, positions and/or
promotions they would not have received but for their status as potential controlling shareholders,
including EC being appointed and compensated as CEO in January 2016 and MC being appointed
and compensated as Executive Vice President-Real Estate Management and Development-NYC
(“EVP-RED-NYC”) in March 2016.

7 Since wrongfully seizing control of RDI, each of the Interested Director Defendants
also have engaged in a systematic misuse of the corporate machinery of RDI. They have done so
to preserve and perpetuate their control of RDI. They also have acted to further their own
financial and other interests. Since joining the RDI Board of Directors, defendants Judy Codding
(“Codding”) and Michael Wrotniak (“Wrotniak™) also have acted to protect and advance the
personal interests of EC and MC, and their own as well. All such complained of actions were in
derogation of these defendants’ fiduciary duties to RDI and its shareholders.

8. The Interested Director Defendants effectively eliminated Plaintiff, Storey and
Gould as functioning members of RDI’s Board of Directors by, among other things, a purported
executive committee of RDI’s Board of Directors. The executive committee (“EC Committee™)
was populated by EC, MC, Kane and Adams. The EC Committee purportedly possesses the full
authority of RDI’s full Board of Directors. Gould has acquiesced to if not cooperated with the
ongoing self-dealing of these five defendants, who forced Storey to “retire” as a director and
added to the Board unqualified persons loyal to EC and MC by virtue of pre-existing personal
friendships, namely, Codding and Wrotniak.

9. EC with the approval if not assistance of other director defendants has withheld and
manipulated board agendas and meetings, including by belatedly providing a vague agenda for the

May 21, 2015 supposed special meeting, and has withheld and manipulated minutes of Board of
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Directors meetings, including the supposed meetings of May 21 and 29 and June 12, 2015. They
did so in an effort to conceal their fiduciary breaches and avoid liability for such breaches.

10. On or about September 17, 2015, EC and MC acted to exercise a supposed option
claimed held by the estate of JJC, Sr. (the “Estate”), of which they are executors, to acquire
100,000 shares of RDI Class B voting stock. On or about September 21, 2015, Kane and Adams,
as directors and as members of the Compensation Committee, authorized the request of EC and
MC that the Estate be allowed to exercise that supposed option. In doing so, Kane and Adams
breached their fiduciary duties, including for the reasons alleged herein.

11.  EC on or about October 5, 2015 proposed adding Codding, a close and long-
standing friend of the mother of the Cotters, Mary Cotter, with whom EC lives, to RDI’s Board of
Directors. Without performing or causing competent, basic due diligence, Kane, Adams and
McEachern agreed. So did Gould, though he had learned of Codding only days prior. Codding
has no expertise in either of RDI’s principal business segments, cinema operations and real estate
development, and has no public company corporate governance expertise. Plaintiff is informed
and believes that Codding was selected because she is expected to be loyal to EC and MC.

12.  EC and MC determined that Storey would not be nominated to stand for reelection
as a director at the 2015 ASM, which had been set for November 10, 2015. Plaintiff is informed
and believes that this decision was made in part because Storey had insisted that the RDI Board of
Directors act to protect and further the interests of all shareholders, not just EC and MC. Kane,
Adams and McEachern, purporting to act as a one time special nominating committee, agreed to
and implemented the decision of EC and MC to not nominate Storey to stand for reelection as a
director at the 2015 ASM. Adams and/or McEachern pressured Storey to “retire.” The supposed
nominating committee, acting at the direction and request of EC and MC, then selected Wrotniak
to replace Storey. Wrotniak does not have expertise in either of RDI’s principal business
segments, cinema operations and real estate development, and has no public company corporate
governance experience. Wrotniak’s wife is a long-time, close personal friend of MC. Plaintiff is
informed and believes that Wrotniak was chosen because MC and EC expect him to be loyal to
them.
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13.  As an integral part of their scheme to seize control of RDI and to perpetuate their
control of RDI to further their personal financial and other interests, EC and MC systematically
failed to make timely and accurate disclosures and SEC filings they were required to make, and
systematically made materially misleading if not inaccurate disclosures, including as alleged
herein. EC and MC, with the active assistance or at least knowing acquiescence of Kane, Adams,
McEachern and Gould, as well as Codding and Wrotniak after they became RDI directors, also
caused the Company to make materially misleading if not inaccurate disclosures, including in the
Proxy Statements issued by the Company in connection with the 2015 Annual Shareholders
Meeting and the 2016 Annual Shareholders Meeting, and in Form 8-Ks issued regarding the
matters alleged herein, including as alleged herein.

14. Promptly following the termination of JJC as President and CEO, EC was
appointed interim CEO. EC selected Korn Ferry as the outside search firm the Company would
use to conduct the search for a permanent CEO. A stated rationale for that selection was that Korn
Ferry would employ a proprietary candidate evaluation process to evaluate the finalists. The three
finalists each were to be interviewed by the full board of directors. EC appointed MC, McEachern
and Gould as members of the CEO search committee. Members of the search committee and
certain executives selected by EC and MC provided input to Korn Ferry, which prepared a
document listing specifications which were used to identify CEO candidates. Months later, just
prior to initial interviews of CEO candidates, EC allegedly announced that she was a candidate to
be President and CEO and resigned from the search committee, for which she had acted as
chairperson. McEachern and Gould allowed MC to remain on the committee and proceeded with
candidate interviews. After interviewing EC, however, they agreed with MC to abort the search
process and agreed to have Korn Ferry not perform the proprietary candidate evaluations of
finalists it had been engaged to perform and not to present the three finalist candidates to the full
board to be interviewed. MC, McEachern and Gould presented EC to the full Board of Directors
as the choice for CEO, which the individual director defendants approved with little if any
deliberation, after having not participated in nor been kept apprised of CEO search activities for

months prior.
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15.  On or about March 10, 2016, MC was appointed EVP-RED-NYC. In that position,
MC became the senior executive at RDI responsible for the development of its valuable New York
City properties often referred to as Union Square and Cinemas 1, 2 & 3 (the “NYC Properties™).
However, MC has no real estate development experience. She is demonstrably unqualified to hold
that senior executive position. As EVP-RED-NYC, MC was awarded a compensation package
that includes a base salary of $350,000 and a short-term incentive target bonus of $105,000 (30%
of her base salary), and was granted a long-term incentive of a stock option for 19,921 shares of
Class A Common Stock and 4,184 restricted stock units under the Company’s 2010 Stock
Incentive Plan. Additionally, the Compensation Committee, consisting of Adams, Kane and
Codding, and the Audit and Conflicts Committee, comprised of Kane, McEachern and Wrotniak,
in or about March 2016 each approved so-called “additional consulting fee compensation” of
$200,000 to MC. In effect, MC was given a $200,000 gift. The Compensation Committee also
recommended and the RDI Board of Directors (meaning all of the individual director defendants)
also approved payment of $50,000 to Adams for what subsequently was described as
“extraordinary services provided to the Company and devotion of time in providing such
services.” These after-the-fact payments in effect were gifts.

16. On or about May 31, 2016, third parties unrelated to the Cotters made an
unsolicited all cash offer to purchase all of the outstanding stock of RDI at a purchase price of $17
per share. That was approximately thirty-three percent (33%) in excess of the prices at which RDI
stock was trading at the time. None of the individual director defendants engaged independent
counsel or a financial advisor to advise them with respect to the offer. Nor did they undertake any
other independent actions to make an informed, good faith determination of how to respond to the
unsolicited offer. Instead, they deferred to EC, who allowed the response date in the offer to pass
and who subsequently reported to the full Board of Directors orally that internal management had
generated a supposed valuation of the Company, which valuation pegged the value of the
company at well in excess of both the price at which RDI stock traded and the above market price
the third parties offered to buy all outstanding RDI stock. The individual director defendants
agreed that the offer was inadequate and agreed to not pursue the offer.
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PARTIES

17, Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr. (JJC) is and at all times relevant hereto was a
shareholder of RDI. JJC also has been a director of RDI since on or about March 21, 2002.
Involved in RDI management since mid-2005, JJC was appointed Vice Chairman of the RDI
board of directors in 2007 and President of RDI on or about June 1, 2013. He was appointed CEO
by the RDI Board on or about August 7, 2014, immediately after JJC, Sr. resigned from that
position. He is the son of the late James J. Cotter, Sr. (JJC, Sr.) and the brother of defendants MC
and EC. JJC presently owns 770,186 shares of RDI Class A non-voting stock and options to
acquife another 50,000 shares of RDI Class A non-voting stock, and is co-trustee and beneficiary
of the James J. Cotter Living Trust, dated August 1, 2000, as amend_ed (the “Trust™), which owns
2,115,539 shares of RDI Class A (non-voting) stock and 1,123,888 shares of RDI Class B (voting)
stock. The Trust became irrevocable upon the passing of JJC, Sr. on September 13, 2014.

18. Defendant Margaret Cotter (MC) is and at all times relevant hereto was a director
of RDI. MC is engaged in trust and estate litigation against JJC, by which she seeks, among other
things, to invalidate a trust document as part of an overall effort by MC and EC to, among other
things, procure control of RDI Class B stock sufficient to elect RDI’s directors. MC became a
director of RDI on or about September 27, 2002. MC is the owner and President of OBI, LLC, a
company that provides theater management services to live theaters indirectly owned by RDI
through Liberty Theatres, of which MC is President. Commencing in or before the Fall of 2014,
MC sought to become an employee of RDI. In particular, MC sought to be the senior person at
RDI responsible for development of highly valuable real estate in New York City owned directly
or indirectly by RDI, i.e., the NYC Properties. MC opposed the hiring of a senior executive
experienced in real estate development. EC with the approval and active assistance of the other
individual defendants on or about March 10, 2016, made MC EVP-RE-NYC. As such MC is the
senior person at RDI directly responsible for development of the NYC Properties. MC had and
has no real estate development experience.

19.  Defendant Ellen Cotter (EC) is and at all times relevant hereto was a director of
RDI. EC is engaged in trust and estate litigation against JJC, by which she seeks, among other
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things, to invalidate a trust document as part of an overall effort by MC and EC to, among other
things, procure control of RDI Class B voting stock sufficient to elect RDI's directors. She
became a director of RDI on or about March 13, 2013. EC was a senior executive at RDI
responsible for the day-to-day operations of its domestic cinema operations. EC was appointed
interim CEO on or about June 12, 2015 and was appointed CEO in January 2016.

20. Defendant Edward Kane (Kane) is and at all times relevant hereto was an outside
director of RDI. Kane has been a director of RDI since approximately October 15, 2009. By
Kane’s own admission, he was made a director of RDI because he was a friend of JJC, Sr., the
now deceased father of JJC, EC and MC. By Kane’s own admission, he neither had nor has skills
or expertise to add value as a director of RDI, except possibly with respect to certain tax matters.
Kane has sided with EC and MC in their family disputes with Plaintiff, launching vicious ad
hominem attacks against those such as Gould who have expressed unfavorable opinions relating to
either or both MC and EC, and lecturing JJC about how he (Kane) is implementing Corleone
(“Godfather”) style family justice in dealing with JJC. Nevertheless, Kane has acknowledged that
JIC is the person most qualified to be CEO of RDI. Kane sold all of the RDI options he then
owned on or about May 27, 2014.

21, Defendant Guy Adams (Adams) is and at all times relevant hereto was an outside
director of RDI. Adams became a director of RDI on or about January 14, 2014. Almost all of
Adams’ recurring income is paid to him by Cotter family businesses over which EC and MC
exercise control. For that reason, among others, Adams is financially dependent on EC and MC.
For those reasons and others, including that Adams has a financial interest in assets controlled
directly or indirectly by EC and/or MC, Adams was and is not a disinterested director for the
purposes of any decision to terminate JJC as President and CEO of RDI or any other decision of
interest to EC and/or MC, including matters relating to their compensation. Adams sold all of the
RDI options he then owned on or about March 26, 2015. He was paid $50,000 for reported
“extraordinary services provided to the Company and devotion in time in providing such services”
in or about March 2016, and had been granted options only a few months earlier. Until he

resigned in or about May 2016, Adams was at all relevant times a member of the RDI Board of
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Directors Compensation Committee.

22. Defendant Douglas McEachern (McEachern) is and at all times relevant hereto was
an outside director of RDI. McEachern became a director of RDI on or about May 17, 2012.
McEachern acted to protect and preserve his personal interests, and chose the side of EC and MC
in their family disputes with JJIC, including by agreeing as an RDI director to threaten and to
terminate JJC as President and CEO of RDI, and thereafter by misusing his position as a director
to protect and further the personal interests of EC and MC, as well as his own, purposefully acting
in ways he knew were detrimental to RDI and its public shareholders, including by pressuring
Storey to resign from RDI’s Board of Directors.

23.  Defendant William Gould (Gould) is and at all times relevant hereto was an outside
director of RDI. Gould was appointed a director on or about October 15, 2004. Gould approved
minutes for the board meetings at which the subject was the termination of JJC as President and
CEO, which minutes Gould knew to COI]tEIlil'l inaccuracies. Gould failed to cause the Company to
correct the materially misleading if not inaccurate Form 8-K filed on or about June 18, 2015.
Gould effectively abdicated his responsibilities as a director, including by acceding to the EC
Committee, agreeing to the appointment of unqualified persons to the RDI board following
effectively no deliberation by him and by participating in the CEO search, which was aborted if
not manipulated.

24.  Defendant Judy Codding (Codding) at all times relevant hereto was and is an
outside director of RDI. Codding became a director of RDI on or about October 5, 2015.
Codding supposedly was elected to fill a board seat that had been vacant since August 2014.
Codding has never served as the director of a public company and possesses no personal
experience in either of RDI’s principal businesses, real estate development and cinemas. Plaintiff
1s informed and believes that Codding was selected by EC and added to the RDI Board of
Directors because of Codding’s long-standing personal relationship with Mary Cotter, with whom
EC now lives. Codding as a director of RDI has acted to advance and protect the personal interests
of EC and MC, to the detriment of other RDI shareholders, including by voting to make EC CEO
after the CEO search process was aborted, by voting to make MC EVP-RED-NYC, by voting to
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provide MC with what amounted to a $200,000 gift, and by her acts and omissions in response to
an offer by a third-party to purchase all of the stock of RDI at a cash price above which it trades in
the open market.

25.  Defendant Michael Wrotniak (Wrotniak) at all times relevant hereto was and is an
outside director of RDI. Wrotniak became a director of RDI on or about October 12, 2015.
Wrotniak was elected to fill a board seat that had been vacated by the supposed retirement of
former RDI director Tim Storey on October 11, 2015, which so-called retirement in fact was
precipitated by EC and MC, with the supposed special nominating committee giving Storey the
choice of resigning and receiving a severance package or simply not being nominated to stand for
reelection. Wrotniak has never served as a director of a public company and possesses no
expertise in either of RDI’s principal businesses, real estate development and cinemas. Plaintiff is
informed and believes that Wrotniak was added to the RDI Board of Directors because of
Wroniak’s wife’s long-standing close personal relationship with MC. Wrotniak as a director of
RDI has acted to advance and protect the personal interests of EC and MC, to the detriment of
other RDI shareholders, including by voting to make MC EVP-RED-NYC, by voting to provide
MC with what amounted to a $200,000 gift, by voting to make EC CEO after the CEO search
process was aborted, and by his acts and omissions in response to an offer by a third-party to
purchase all of the stock of RDI at a price above which it trades in the open market.

26. Nominal defendant Reading International, Inc. (RDI) is a Nevada corporation and
is, according to its public filings with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”), an internationally diversified company principally focused on the development,
ownership and operation of entertainment and real estate assets in the United States, Australia and
New Zealand. The Company operates in two business segments, namely, cinema exhibition,
through approximately 58 multiplex cinemas, and real estate, including real estate development
and the rental of retail, commercial and live theater assets. The Company manages world-wide
cinemas in the United States, Australia and New Zealand. RDI has two classes of stock, Class A
stock held by the investing public, which stock exercises no voting rights, and Class B stock,

which is the sole voting stock with respect to the election of directors. An overwhelming majority
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(approximately eighty percent (80%)) of the Class A stock is legally and/or beneficially owned by
shareholders unrelated to JJC, EC and MC. Approximately seventy percent (70%) of the Class B
stock is subject to disputes and pending trust and estate litigation in California between EC and
MC, on the one hand, and JJC, on the other hand, and a probate action in Nevada. Of the Class B
stock, approximately forty-four percent (44%) is held in the name of the Trust. RDI is named only
as a nominal defendant in this derivative action.

27. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate or
otherwise, of Defendants named and identified herein as Does 1 through 100, inclusive, are
currently unknown to Plaintiff. Plaintiff, therefore, sues said Defendants by such fictitious names
and will amend his Complaint to show their true names and capacities upon ascertaining the same.
Upon information and belief, each of the Defendants sued herein as Doe has some responsibility
for the damages arising as a result of the matters herein alleged.

ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CLAIMS
General Background

28. Since approximately 2000, and until he resigned as Chairman and CEO of RDI on
or about August 7, 2014, James J. Cotter, Sr. (JJC, Sr.) was the CEO and Chairman of the Board
of Directors of RDI. Additionally, JJIC, Sr. (according to RDI filings with the SEC, among other
things) through the Trust controlled approximately seventy percent (70%) of the Class B voting
stock of RDI. As such, JJC, Sr. unilaterally selected and elected the board of directors.

29. For all intents and purposes, JIC, Sr. ran the Company as he saw fit, without
meaningful oversight or input from the board of directors. According to Kane, JJC, Sr. “did not
seek directors that could add significant value but sought out friends to fill out the ‘independent’

”

member requirements.” Kane himself acted as if his job as a director was to protect and further
the interests of his life-long friend and benefactor, JJC, Sr., not to protect and further the interests
of RDI and its shareholders. With the passing of JIC, Sr., Kane also acknowledged that it was
“time to change this approach and appoint individuals that could offer solid advice and counsel,

such as some NYC real estate people and/or NYC people with political know-how that we might

need if we are to develop our valuable assets there.”
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30.  Recognizing JIC, Sr.’s control of the Company, the board asked that he provide
them with a succession plan. He did so in or about December 2006, and the RDI board
implemented it. The succession plan was to have JJC assume JJC, Sr.’s position when JIC, Sr.
retired or passed, as the case may be.

31.  Since 2005, JJC was involved in most RDI executive management meetings and
privy to most significant internal senior management memos. JJC was appointed Vice Chairman
of the RDI board in 2007. The RDI board appointed JJC President of RDI on or about June 1,
2013, which responsibilities he filled without objection by the RDI board of directors.

32. On or about September 13, 2014, JIC, Sr. passed. Soon thereafter, trust and estate
litigation was commenced by his daughters, MC and EC, against JJC, which litigation involved
the issue of whether MC or JIC, or both, would serve as trustees of the voting trust that controlled
or would control the RDI voting stock previously controlled by JJC, Sr., among other things.

33.  As President and CEO of RDI, JJC alienated his sisters because he acted to protect
and further the interests of RDI and all of its shareholders, repeatedly rebuffing the efforts of MC
and EC to advance their own interests, as well as efforts by Kane and others to protect and further
the interests of MC and EC, as well as their own interests, all to the detriment of the Company and
its other shareholders. For example, JJC questioned and/or rejected purported expenses EC and
MC sought to have RDI pay. In one instance, EC attempted to charge RDI for an expensive
Thanksgiving dinner with her mother, sister and sister’s children, which effort Plaintiff rejected.
In another instance, MC sought to charge RDI for certain expenses of her father’s funeral.

34. JJC insisted that RDI employ an executive with experience in real estate
development to be the senior person at RDI overseeing RDI’s domestic real estate development
business, including the NYC Properties. MC resisted. MC wanted to be employed by RDI and to
secure lucrative compensation and/or benefits she otherwise would not receive. MC wanted to be
the senior person at RDI responsible for development of the NYC Properties. However, she is
unqualified to do so. MC has no real estate development experience.

35.  Frustrated by Plaintiff’s refusal as President and CEO to accede to their demands
for titles, positions, promotions, employment contracts and money from RDI, and with MC in

-13- 2010586508 _10
JA531




3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600

Las Vegas, NV 89169-5996

ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE

Lewis Roca

= 0w N

0 ~1 O WL

fle]

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

jeopardy of losing her lucrative consulting arrangement to manage live theater operations due to
the Orpheum Theatre debacle described herein, MC and EC agreed to act together and acted to
protect and advance their personal interests by seizing and acting to perpetuate control of RDI. To
that end, EC secured the agreement of defendants Kane, Adams and McEachern to choose sides in
their family dispute with JJC.

36. Kane, Adams and McEachern threatened Plaintiff with termination unless he
resolved his disputes with EC and MC on terms dictated by the two of them. When they
understood that Plaintiff had acquiesced, they relented. When they learned that he had not
acquiesced, they fired Plaintiff as President and CEO of RDI and thereafter acted to perpetuate
their control of RDL

EC and MC Act To Further Their Own Interests; Kane Assists and Does Too

37.  Soon after JIC, Sr. passed, EC sought an employment agreement and a promotion.
Plaintiff is informed and believes that EC did so in part because she was fearful that JJC, acting to
protect and further the interests of the Company, would fire her, notwithstanding the fact that he
had never expressed any intention of doing so. Soon after JJC, Sr. passed, EC also sought a raise.
The claimed impetus for fhe requested raise was to qualify for a loan on a Laguna Beach,
California condominium.

38.  Kane, who has a decade’s long quasi-familial relationship with each of MC and
EC, who call him “Uncle Ed,” acted to ensure that EC would obtain the loan she sought, described
above. To that end, Kane, purporting to act as chairman of the RDI Compensation Committee,
signed a letter on RDI letterhead to EC’s lender that represented that the Committee “anticipate[d]
a total cash compensation increase of no less than 20%” for EC “effective no later than January 1,
2015.” Despite JIC pointing out that sending such a letter to EC’s bank was inappropriate, EC
executed the letter on behalf of Kane.

39.  Also, in October 2014, Kane prompted the RDI board to provide EC a “bonus™ of
$50,000, on account of a supposed error by the Company in connection with the issuance of RDI
stock options EC had exercised in 2013. No other similarly situated RDI executive received such

a “bonus,” which was tantamount to a gift or other unearned compensation given to EC from the

-14- 2010586508 10
JAS532




3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600

Las Vegas, NV 89169-5996

ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE

Lewis Roca

i

o o e =9 N L

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

coffers of RDI. With EC as interim CEO and now CEO, the Company, EC and McEachern have
taken the opposite position with JJC.

40. Separately, commencing shortly after JIC, Sr.’s death on September 13, 2014,
Kane began pressing Plaintiff as President and CEO to recommend to the RDI board, and thereby
effectively approve, increases in directors’ fees and consideration paid to Kane and other outside
board members. Kane and the other outside directors were successful in increasing their
compensation, including by way of supposed one-time and/or special fee awards, including as
alleged herein.

MC And EC Bring Cotter Family Disputes To RDI

41.  Notwithstanding the fact that Plaintiff had been President of RDI since 2013,
notwithstanding the fact that JJC, Sr. and the RDI board had implemented a succession plan
pursuant to which Plaintiff would succeed JJIC, Sr. as CEO of RDI after substantial preparation,
and notwithstanding that JJC, Sr.’s testamentary disposition memorialized to EC and MC his
intention that JJC serve as President of RDI, MC and EC resisted and sought to avoid reporting to
JIC. For example, EC in October 2014 sought to have EC and MC report to an executive
committee, not Plaintiff as CEO. Later, when Plaintiff as CEO of RDI sought to engage in
substantive communications with MC about the live theater business for which she was
responsible, MC refused to have substantive communications with Plaintiff about such matters.

42.  The non-Cotter board members, faced with the personal disputes MC and EC had
with JJIC, including the pending trust and estate litigation, took steps to protect and enhance their
personal interests. The RDI board of directors on January 15, 2015 determined to purchase a
directors and officers insurance policy (which it never had before) with a limit of $10 million. At
the time, they also determined that stock option grants to individual directors made previously
would vest immediately and further determined that January 15, 2015 would be the date on which
to establish the stock price for option purposes.

43. In a private session of the non-Cotter directors on January 15, 2015, they discussed
and agreed upon a course of action put forth by EC and MC which initially was proposed to be the
first two paragraphs quoted below, but after discussion became all three. They resolved and
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approved, with Plaintiff, EC and MC abstaining, as follows:

“The CEO [,JJC,] cannot terminate the employment of Ellen Cotter unless
a majority of the independent directors concur with the CEO’s recommendation to
terminate Ellen Cotter;

The CEO [,JJC,] cannot terminate the existing Theater Management
Agreement of Ms. Margaret Cotter unless a majority of the independent directors
concurs with the CEO’s recommendations to terminate such Theater Management
Agreement; and

The CEO [,JIC,] cannot be terminated without the approval of the
majority of the independent directors.”

JJC Succeeds As President And CEO; MC And EC Continue To Object
44. Plaintiff’s work as CEO was recognized as successful by the stock market. RDI
stock was trading at $8.17 per share when Plaintiff became CEO but, by approximately the end of
2014, had traded as high as $13.26 per share and, in the Spring of 2015, traded at over $14.45 per
share.
45.  One analyst described the successes of JJC as President and CEO as follows:

Management Catalysts

RDI has historically suffered from a control discount. The dual class
structure created a situation where the Cotter family owned approx. 30%
of outstanding shares, but 70% of class B voting stock. James Cotter Sr.,
the longtime CEO, made little effort to promote the company and was
slow to monetize assets and unlock the value even though he did acquire
assets smartly and did a good job of operating the business. Over the past
two years, asset monetization has moved ahead and seems to be a sign of
things to come. In early August, James Cotter, Sr., resigned from serving
as the Company’s Chairman and CEO and recently passed away. Cotter’s
son Jim has taken over the CEO position. We think that Jim has already
been a positive influence in terms of value realization during the last year.
We believe that Jim was instrumental in pushing not only the sales of
important Australian assets, but also the share buyback. He is also seeking
other ways to increase value (e.g. considering ways to further monetize the
Angelika brand). We expect the stock will move much closer to fair value
once definitive announcements are made around the New York City assets
and other smaller asset monetization announcements in the next 12
months. The two New York assets discussed have appreciated
significantly in recent years and are a part of the value here. It is also
worth noting that RDI also owns other valuable, underutilized real estate
(including Minetta Lane Theater, Orpheum Theater, Royal George in
Chicago, etc.) that could ultimately be redeveloped and create incremental
value for shareholders.

46.  After meeting JJC in person in October 2014, one large stockholder commented, “I
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came away from our meeting with a firm view that you care about shareholders and that both you
and us will be nicely rewarded over time...I intend to remain a long-term partner. I am confident
that if you continue to buy back stock and the investment community begins to believe that you, as
a leader, will act in the best interests of shareholders, the stock price will be considerably higher.”
The stock price did move considerably higher.

47.  On June 1, 2013, when JJC was appointed President of RDI, the stock price was
only $6.08 per share. By May 31, 2015, The Street Ratings upgraded their recommendation of
RDI to a “buy” or “purchase.” On June 4, 2015, RDI Class A stock traded in the public
marketplace as high as $14.45 per share.

48.  MC and EC objected to Plaintiff’s on-going, successful efforts as President and
CEO of RDI which, though in the best interests of all RDI shareholders, including the public non-
Cotter family shareholders, were viewed by MC and EC as not in their personal interests. MC and
EC have preferred that the price at which RDI Class A stock traded be artificially depressed and
preferred that the conduct of the Board and senior management not be scrutinized.

49, By their actions and statements, including but not limited to their demands for
additional compensation and employment agreements, MC and EC made clear that their personal
interests were paramount, and that they would act to protect and further their personal interests, to
the detriment of the interests of RDI and its other shareholders.

JJC Complies With Board Processes, MC And EC Prompt The Termination of Such
Processes

50.  In March 2015, the non-Cotter directors appointed director Storey to function as
their representative or ombudsman to work with JJC as CEO, including by acting as a facilitator
with EC and MC.

51.  On behalf of the non-Cotter directors, one or both of Gould and Storey advised MC
and EC and Plaintiff that the process the non-Cotter directors had put in place, involving director
Storey as ombudsman, would continue through June 2015, at which time an assessment would be
made of the situation, including in particular the extent to which each of the three of them had

cooperated in the process and had undertaken to improve their working relationships and to
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sustain improved working relationships.

52.  From that point forward, Plaintiff worked with director Storey in the manner Storey
on behalf of the non-Cotter directors had requested. However, MC and EC did not, including as
otherwise averred herein, including by refusing to do certain things requested by Plaintiff, which
Storey had agreed were in the best interests of RDI. They also complained to Kane about Storey.

53.  Although MC for months had refused to have substantive discussions with Plaintiff
about the live theater business operations for which she was responsible, and for months had failed
and refused to produce even the most rudimentary of business plans, she nevertheless pushed to be
provided an employment agreement with RDI. For example, on May 4, 2015, by which time the
Orpheum theater debacle had come to light, and by which time she had provided no business plan
whatsoever, she emailed Plaintiff, stating “any idea when this employment agreement of mine that
you have been working on for months will be presented?”

The Outside Directors Demand and Receive Money and Stock Options

54. In the same time frame, the non-Cotter directors were seeking additional
compensation. In particular, Kane pushed Plaintiff to provide all non-Cotter directors other than
director Storey an extra $25,000 for the first six months of 2015, with the understanding “that at
year-end we will be asking for an additional payment.”

55.  With respect to director Storey, who resides in New Zealand and had taken no
fewer than a half dozen trips to Los Angeles in furtherance of his role as the representative or
ombudsman of the non-Cotter directors in interfacing with Plaintiff, on the one hand, and MC and
EC, respectively, on the other hand, Kane’s proposal was that Storey receive an additional $75,000
for the first six months of 2015, in recognition of the ongoing time and effort Storey was
expending as the representative or ombudsman for the non-Cotter directors.

56. Plaintiff advised Kane that he had some reservations about the additional
compensation Kane proposed providing to the non-Cotter directors.

MC’s Orpheum Theatre Debacle Puts Her In Jeopardy

57.  RDI’s Proxy Statement filed with the SEC in connection with the annual meeting

of RDI stockholders that occurred in 2014 described MC'’s role in relevant part as “the President
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of Liberty Theatres, the subsidiary through which we own our live theaters. [MC] manages the
real estate which houses each of four live theaters [including the one which is the principle source
of revenue, the Orpheum Theatre,] [and as such] secures leases, manages tenancies, oversees
maintenance and regulatory compliance on the properties. . . .”

58.  MC'’s diligence and candor, or lack of one or both, were called into question by her
handling of the relationship with the Stomp Producers. The Stomp Producers, the tenant at the
RDI owned Orpheum Theatre and the source of a majority of RDI's live theater revenues, gave,
notice on April 23, 2015 of termination of the lease for cause.

59. MC had been aware of the alleged issues raised by the Stomp Producers for
months. In particular, by email and correspondence dated February 6, 2015, the Stomp producers
wrote to MC and qomplained “about the maintenance and upkeep of the Orpheum Theatre.” They
further stated in their February 6, 2015 letter to MC as follows:

“Nothing in this letter is new to you as we and our employees have been in almost
constant contact about recurring problems at the theater, but there is now an
urgent need to attend to this matter on an immediate and comprehensive, rather
than piecemeal, bases . ...”

60.  Prior to receipt of the April 27, 2015 notice of termination, MC failed to disclose
the February 6, 2015 letter or the substance of it or that the Stomp Producers told MC on April 9,
2015 that they were going to vacate the theater or even the situation with the Stomp Producers
generally to Plaintiff, to the Company’s General Counsel or to any outside member of the RDI
board of directors. In doing so, she breached her fiduciary obligations as a director.

61.  Upon learning of the Stomp Producer’s notice to terminate, director Gould stated an
assessment to the effect that MC’s handling of the situation (independent of the merits or lack of
merits of the claims of the Stomp Producers), including not notifying anyone about the risk that the
Company could lose a material portion of its live theater business income, could be grounds for
termination.

Kane Chooses Sides in a Family Dispute
62.  Responding to complaints by EC and MC about Storey, Kane concluded that JJIC

had allowed Storey to come between him and his sisters. Kane chose the sisters’ side in their
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disputes with JJC. Kane communicated privately with Adams about terminating JJC as President
and CEO of RDL

63.  Kane’s quasi-familial relationship and visceral support of MC and EC has been
evidenced by, among other things, stunning ad hominem invectives directed at directors Gould and
Storey, as well as by rants to JJC about “The Godfather” and the Corleone family from that series
of movies, even including a suggestion that termination of JJC would be analogous to the murder
of someone disrespecting a Corleone family member.

Adams Is Beholden To MC And EC

64.  In or about 2007 or 2008 (according to Adams’ own sworn testimony in a recent
divorce proceeding), Adams’ business of an activist investor, by which he invested monies he
raised privately, failed after he lost approximately seventy percent (70%) of the monies invested
with him. Since that time, Adams has been unsuccessful in reviving that business and, for all
intents and purposes, has been unemployed. He has described it as a “sabbatical.”

65. EC secured Adams’ agreement to serve as interim CEO of RDI after termination of
JJC. Holding that position would be of value to Adams in terms of any additional compensation
he would receive.

66.  On or about July 10, 2013, Adams entered into an agreement whereby Adams was
to receive, among other things, cash compensation of $1,000 per week from JC Farm Management
Inc. (*JC Farm™), a private company JJC, Sr. owned, as well as carried interests in certain real
estate projects, including one by the name of Shadow View. Adams has been paid and continues
to be paid the $1,000 per week. Together with his income from RDI, those monies are the monies
Adams needs and uses to pay for his day-to-day expenses. Adams also received the carried
interests. The value of Adams’ carried interests in those real estate projects including Shadow
View, including whether it will be monetized and the extent to which it will be monetized for the
benefit of Adams, like JC Farm, is contended by MC and EC to be the controlled by the estate of
JIC, Sr., of which MC and EC presently are the executors.

67.  Based on information provided by Adams in sworn statements in a recent divorce

proceeding, the $1000 per month together with other amounts paid to him by Cotter entities over
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which EC and MC exercise control or claim to exercise control amounted to over half (50%) of
Adam’s (claimed approximate $90,000) income in 2013, at a minimum, and possibly amounted to
over eighty percent (80%) of that income.

68.  Thus, Adams is financially dependent on MC and EC. Practically, Adams has little
choice if any but to accommodate and advance the personal interests of MC and EC, including by
helping them seize, consolidate and perpetuate control of RDI, including as alleged herein.

69.  For such reasons, Adams was and is not independent generally, and was and is
neither independent nor disinterested with respect to matters involving the Cotters, including the
disputes between MC and EC, on one hand, and JJC on the other, the decision whether to fire JIC,
and compensation and employment decisions regarding EC and MC.

70. In or about March 26, 2015, Adams sold all RDI options he then had, including
options he had been granted only a few months earlier. He apparently failed to disclose that he
owned RDI options in his divorce proceedings.

71.  After Adams’ financial dependence on income from Cotter-controlled companies
was disclosed in this action, director defendant Gould acknowledged that Adams was not
independent for purposes of decisions regarding compensation of any of the Cotters, and Adams,
on or about May 14, 2016 resigned from the RDI Board of Directors Compensation Committee.

Defendants Other Than Gould Threaten Plaintiff With Termination If He Fails to Resolve
Disputes With EC and MC on Terms Dictated By Them

72.  On Tuesday, May 19, 2015, EC distributed a purported agenda for an RDI board of
directors meeting scheduled for Thursday, May 21, 2015. The first action item on the agenda was
entitled “Status of President and CEOJ,]” which in fact was the agenda item to raise an issue
previously never discussed at an RDI Board of Directors meeting, namely, termination of JIC as
President and CEO of RDI. EC purposefully had not previously distributed the agenda earlier. EC
purposefully chose the phraseology “status of President and CEO.” She did both to conceal the
fact that the meeting was specially called to concern the termination of JJC as President and CEO.
The agenda was untimely and deficient.

73.  Prior to May 19, 2015, each of Adams, Kane and McEachern communicated to EC
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and/or between or among themselves their respective agreement to vote as RDI directors to
terminate JJC as President and CEO of RDI.

74.  In the face of objections by directors Gould and/or Storey that the non-Cotter
directors had not undertaken an appropriate process to make any decision regarding whether or not
to terminate the President and CEO of RDI, and a request that the non-Cotter directors meet before
the scheduled May 21 meeting, Kane provided a visceral response to the effect that the outside
directors did not need to meet, acknowledging the agreement to vote and adﬁitting that even the
pretense of process would not be undertaken because “the die is cast.”

75.  EC and Adams previously had hired counsel ostensibly representing RDI, Akin
Gump, and had that counsel attend the May 21 board meeting at which the first and only item
discussed was termination of JJC as President and CEO.

76.  Faced with a clear record that the non-Cotter directors had failed to undertake any
process, much less an appropriate process, to make a decision regarding whether to terminate JJC
as President and CEO, Adams sought to have a discussion about a later item on the agenda that
arguably related to JIC’s performance. Gould objected. JJC recognized that Adams, Kane and
McEachern appeared to have previously determined to vote to terminate him, and that the non-
Cotter directors previously had put in place a process (described above) that was to play out
through the end of June, at least. Because that process had not been completed, any vote by any of
the non-Cotter directors to terminate JJC as President and CEO was in derogation of, and pre-
empted, their own process. No substantive discussion of the later agenda items, or of JIC’s
performance, occurred.

77.  The supposed May 21, 2015 special meeting was concluded, with no termination
vote having been taken.

78. On Wednesday, May 27, 2015, Texas attorney Harry Susman, one of the lawyers
representing MC and EC in the trust and estate litigation, transmitted to Adam Streisand, an
attorney representing JJC in the trust and estate litigation, a document outlining terms to which JIC
was required to agree to avoid the threatened termination as President and CEO of RDI. The
proposal was communicated as effectively a “take-it or leave-it” proposal and was accompanied by
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a deadline of 9:00 a.m. on Friday, May 29 to accept the proposal.

79.  Also on May 27, 2015, EC emailed RDI directors claiming “that the board meeting
held last Thursday was adjourned, to reconvene this Friday, May 29, 2015. The board meeting
will begin at 11:00 a.m. at our Los Angeles office.”

80. By the foregoing actions, among others, MC and EC made clear that accepting their
take-it or leave-it proposal, which would have resolved matters in dispute in the trust and estate
litigation and dispute about control of RDI, was what JJC had to do to avoid being fired as
President and CEO of RDI.

81. Also on May 28, 2015, approximately one day after EC and MC’s lawyer
transmitted the “take-it or leave-it” proposal and one day before the RDI board was to meet, Kane
told JJC to accept the take-it or leave-it offer to “end all of the litigation and ill feelings.” Among
other things, by email on May 28, 2015, Kane stated as follow to JIC:

“I have not seen the [take it or leave it settlement] proposal. I understand
that it would leave you with your title, which is very important to you and
which you told me was essential to any settlement . . . if it is take-it or
leave-it, then I STRONGLY ADVISE YOU TO TAKE IT, . . . if we can
end all of the litigation and ill feelings, -- and their offer to keep you as
CEO as a major concession -- . ..”

82.  On Friday, May 29, before the supposed RDI special board of directors meeting
commenced, EC and MC met with JJC and told him that the document that had been conveyed by
attorney Susman on their behalf two days earlier was a take-it or leave-it offer and that, if JJC did
not accept it, the RDI board would terminate him as President and CEO. JJC attempted to discuss
proposed changes with them, to which EC and MC responded that they would accept no changes.
They repeated that if JJC did not accept the agreement as proposed, JJC would be terminated as
President and CEO of RDIL

83.  Director Gould shortly thereafter came to JJC’s office and said that the majority of
the non-Cotter board members (meaning Adams, Kane and McEachern) were prepared to vote to
terminate him and that the supposed board meeting was about to commence.

84.  JIC entered the conference room where the supposed special meeting was to occur.

The supposed meeting was commenced and Adams made a motion to terminate JJC as President
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and CEO. JJC observed that Adams was not independent or disinterested, poinﬁng out that a
substantial portion of his income came from Cotter entities controlled by EC and MC, as
evidenced by sworn testimony Adams had given in his then-recent divorce proceeding. JJC
invited Adams to prove otherwise, to which Adams responded that he did not have to do so. One
or more of the non-Cotter directors inquired of Adaﬁls’ financial relationship to Cotter entities, but
Adams declined to provide substantive responses.

85.  Director Gould opined that it was not the role of the RDI board of directors to
intercede in the personal disputes between EC and MC, on the one hand, and JIC, on the other
hand, nor to tip the balance of power in those disputes. He further observed that the board should
not intercede in personal disputes or attempt at a minimum to maintain the status quo until the
courts resolved the trust and estate litigation, and added that he thought JJC had done a good job.

86.  Kane offered more personal invective directed to JJIC, including comments to the
effect that he thought that JJC had “****ed Margaret over with the changes . . . made to the estate”
and that JJC “does not have people skills especially with his two sisters . . .”

87.  The five outside directors asked JIC to leave the conference room so that they could
talk with EC and MC. Next, JJC was advised that the supposed RDI board meeting would be
adjourned until at or about 6:00 p.m. that evening. JJC was told that he had until the supposed
meeting reconvened that evening to strike a deal with EC and MC, failing which he would be
terminated as President and CEO of RDI when the supposed meeting reconvened.

88.  The supposed meeting reconvened at or about 6:00 p.m. on Friday, May 29, 20135,
at which time EC reported that she and MC had reached an agreement in principal with JJC. EC
read to the RDI Board of Directors portions of the document attorney Susman had transmitted to
attorney Streisand on May 27, 2015, including one that provided for an executive committee of the
Board of Directors which, she indicated, would be comprised of EC, MC, JJC and Adams, who
would be Chairman. EC concluded that, while no definitive agreement had been reached, EC and
MC would have one of their lawyers provide documentation to counsel for JJC. Ed Kane offered
congratulations and commented favorably about Plaintiff remaining CEO. No termination vote
was taken. The supposed special meeting concluded.
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89. On Wednesday, June 3, 2015, attorney Susman on behalf of EC and MC
transmitted a new document to JJC’s trust and estate attorney Streisand. The document contained
new terms previously not discussed, much less agreed, by the parties.

90. On Friday, June 5, 2015, attorney Susman left a message for attorney Streisand, the
sum and substance of which was that he (Susman) was awaiting word that JJC had agreed to all of
the terms in the document. By that message, attorney Susman implied that the document was a
“take-it or leave-it” proposal.

91. On June 8, 2015, JIC advised EC and MC that he could not accept their take-it or
leave-it document. MC responded that she would advise the RDI board of directors, referencing
the threat to have JJC terminated as President and CEO of RDI if he failed to reach a global
agreement (including of all trust and estate litigation matters) satisfactory to EC and MC.

92.  OnJune 9, 2015, in furtherance of important ongoing RDI business, JJC asked for a
response from MC with respect to a senior executive candidate to oversee RDI’s United States real
estate, including development of the NYC Properties, which candidate had been endorsed by
senior executives at RDI. MC consistently resisted employing such a person because hiring such a
person would preclude her from being the senior person at RDI responsible for overseeing
development of the NYC Properties. In response to JJC’s email, she called him and said, among
other things, “you were supposed to be terminated but for a global settlement . . . bye . . . bye.”

93. On Wednesday afternoon, June 10, 2015, EC transmitted an email to all RDI board
members (and RDI’s general counsel) stating, among other things, that “we would like to
reconvene the Meeting that was adjourned on Friday, May 29" at approximately 6:15 p.m. (Los
Angeles time.) We would like to reconvene this Meeting telephonically Friday, June 12 at 11:00
a.m. (Los Angeles time) . ..” The email purported to further “confirm [] our meeting of the Board
of Directors on Thursday, June 18" . . . We will be distributing Agenda and Board package for this
Meeting at the end of this week . . .”

94.  On Friday, June 12, 2015, a supposed RDI special board of directors meeting was
convened. Following through on their prior threat to terminate JJC if he did not resolve all
disputes with EC and MC on terms satisfactory to the two of them, Adams, Kane and McEachern
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each voted to terminate JJC, after McEachern made one last effort to pressure JJC, inviting him to
resign rather than be terminated. Storey and Gould voted against terminating JJC as President and
CEO. EC was elected interim CEO with the expressed intention of immediately initiating a search
for a new President and CEO.

95.  Additionally, and notwithstanding the fact that both directors and senior executive
officers at RDI had agreed that the Company needed to hire an executive with actual real estate
development experience to advise the Company with respect to the NYC Properties, and
notwithstanding the fact that at least one candidate acceptable to all but MC had been identified,
neither that candidate nor any other person was offered the position to oversee RDI’s United States
real estate. That is because EC, in one of her first acts as interim CEO, suspended the search for
such a person until a new CEO was hired, she stated. EC did so to ensure that MC could retain
control of activities related to the NYC Properties.

EC and Others Pressure Plaintiff In An Effort to Force Him to Abandon This Action

96.  EC, with the active assistance or knowing acquiescence of MC, Kane, Adams,
McEachern and Gould, has taken actions to pressure Plaintiff to abandon this action and cede
control of RDI to them. The actions taken to pressure Plaintiff include immediately terminating
his access to his RDI email account and to RDI’s offices and concocting new “policies” and/or
“practices” designed to bring financial pressure to bear on Plaintiff. One such activity is impairing
his ability to exercise RDI options and to sell RDI stock in a manner consistent with RDI’s
historical practices.

97. After the purported termination of Plaintiff on or about June 12, 2015, on EC’s
recommendation, the RDI Board had approved a new so-called insider trading policy. Plaintiff is
informed and believes that this supposed policy was created to impair his ability to generate
liquidity through the sale of RDI stock, the principal source of Plaintiff’s net worth. Given the
extremely limited holdings in RDI stock by any director, officer or employee of RDI other than
Plaintiff, this supposed policy enables EC to control the disposition of such shares through the
imposition of supposed blackout periods, which she has effectively done, with the assistance of
Craig Tompkins. Kane and McEachern, who purportedly oversee compensation related and
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related party matters, each have agreed to and cooperated in efforts to prevent Plaintiff from
exercising RDI options and selling RDI shares.

98.  In an effort to pressure Plaintiff to abandon this action, and to secure his resignation
from the RDI Board of Directors, EC on June 15, 2015 transmitted a letter to Plaintiff in which
she claimed that the employment agreement entered into by him as an executive (over a decade
after he became a director) required him to resign as a director upon his termination as an officer.
That letter claimed that his failure to do so constituted a breach of the referenced employment
agreement and threatened to terminate payments and benefits to Plaintiff if he did not resign
within 30 days of his termination. Shortly thereafter, the Company terminated the health and
medical benefits the Company provides to him, his wife and his three children and also terminated
severance payments and other benefits.

EC, MC, Kane and Adams Act to Entrench Themselves and Mislead RDI Shareholders

99, Subsequent to terminating Plaintiff, EC, MC, Kane, Adams and McEachern acted to
limit if not eliminate the participation in governance of RDI of JJC and directors Storey and Gould.
To that end, a previously inactive executive committee of the RDI Board of Directors has been
activated (i.e., the “EC Committee™). It has been repopulated so that EC, MC, Kane and Adams
are its only members, with only McEachern able to attend any of its meetings as he wishes. The
full authority of the RDI Board of Directors purportedly now is held by the EC Committee. By
such actions, EC, MC, Kane and Adams purposely impaired if not eviscerated the functioning of
RDI’s full Board of Directors, selectively replacing it with the EC Committee as EC saw fit.
Separately, McEachern as chairman of the Audit and Conflicts Committee barred directors who
were not committee members or at least Plaintiff, from attending committee meetings, ending a
longstanding practice of allowing all directors to attend.

100. Other fundamental corporate governance practices and protections at RDI have
been altered, circumscribed or eliminated. EC, with the active assistance and/or knowing
cooperation of MC, Kane and Adams, manipulated and reduced the flow of information to JJC,
Gould and Storey as RDI directors, including by failing to timely distribute drafts of prior RDI

board of directors meeting minutes and by failing to provide board packages sufficiently in
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advance of board meetings such that board matters were, to the knowledge of JJC, Storey and
Gould, impromptu actions (which had been addressed previously by one or more of EC, MC, Kane
and Adams).

101. EC, with the active assistance and/or knowing cooperation of MC, Kane, Adams,
McEachern and Gould, has caused RDI to disseminate materially misleading if not inaccurate
information to its public shareholders. They have done so in an effort to delay if not avoid
discovery of the actions of EC, MC, Kane, Adams and McEachern, and to avoid being held
accountable for those actions, whether by way of derivative action or otherwise. Among other
things, these defendants caused RDI to disseminate the following press release(s) and/or SEC
filings, each of which was misleading if not inaccurate by omission, commission or both:

a. RDI on June 15, 2015 issued a press release stating that its board of directors
“has appointed [EC] as interim President and [CEO], succeeding [JIC]....”
This press release was misleading because, among other things, it failed to
address the circumstances of the purported termination of JJC as President and
CEO, much less disclose that he purportedly had been terminated, much less
that the purported termination was without cause, or even that JJC had filed this
action;

b. On or about June 18, 2015, RDI filed with the SEC a Form 8-K which was
materially misleading if not inaccurate in several respects, including that it
stated that JJC was “required to tender his resignation as a director of [RDI]
immediately upon termination of his employment [, that he had not done so and
that RDI] considers such refusal as a material breach of [the] employment
agreement [] and has given [JJC] thirty (30) days in which to resign . ..” The
employment agreement in question, which is an exhibit to the Form 10-Q for
period ending June 30, 2013 filed by RDI with the SEC, on its face not only
does not require JJC to resign as a director in the event that he is terminated as
an executive officer, but on its face contemplates that he may continue to serve
as a director, which position he in fact held for many years prior to becoming
an officer and entering into the subject employment agreement. Separately, the
employment agreement contains a thirty (30) day cure provision with respect to
breaches of the agreement which may constitute a basis for termination of JJC
for cause, which defendants do not claim occurred here. Therefore, the
characterization in the Form 8-K of what the Company has done for thirty (30)
days is misleading both as to what the employment agreement provides and
what the Company has done, which in fact is to assert that JJC is breach of an
agreement which the Company purports to have terminated previously.
Additionally, the Form 8-K is materially misleading in describing this action;
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RDI has failed to file a Form 8-K with respect to the EC Committee, which is a
development that materially deviates from the prior practices of RDI and RDI’s
SEC disclosures with respect to those practices.

. On or about October 13, 2015, RDI filed with the SEC a Form 8-K which was

materially misleading if not inaccurate. In particular, the description in that
Form 8-K of defendant Storey “retir[ing]" from the RDI Board of Directors is
misleading if not inaccurate. As alleged herein, Mr. Storey had been told that he
would not be nominated to stand for reelection and he effectively was forced to
resign as a director. The Form 8-K also is misleading if not inaccurate insofar
as its descriptions of new board members Judy Codding and Michael Wrotniak
suggest that their respective experiences described in the Form 8-K, such as
Codding having experience in the field of education and/or Wrotniak having
“considerable experience in international business, including foreign exchange
risk mitigation,” were the reasons those two persons were made Directors of
RDI. The Form 8-K also is misleading if not inaccurate with respect to those
two persons being made directors of RDI because it fails to disclose their
respective personal relationships with Cotter family members. As alleged
herein, Codding is a personal friend of Mary Cotter and Wrotniak and/or his
wife are personal friends of MC.

On or about November 13, 2015, RDI filed with the SEC a Form 8-K which
was materially misleading if not accurate. It purported to describe the voting
results of the 2015 ASM and, in doing so, reflected the (likely purposefully)
erroneous results the new inspector of elections, First Coast, have been engaged
to provide.

On or about January 11, 2016, the Company issued a Form 8-K attaching a
press release of that date. The press release included a statement by defendant
Gould that said: “After conducting a thorough search process, it is clear that
Ellen is best suited to lead Reading moving forward.” That statement is
materially misleading if not inaccurate, including because it implies
erroneously that the selection of EC was the result of a (supposedly) “thorough
search process.”

On or about March 15, 2016, RDI filed with the SEC a Form 8-K which stated,
among other things, that the RDI Board of Directors Compensation Committee
and its Audit and Conflicts Committee each had approved payment of so-called
“additional consulting fee compensation” of $200,000 to MC “for services
rendered by her to the Company in recent years outside the scope” of a Theater
Management Agreement dated January 1, 2002, between the Company’s
subsidiary, Liberty Theaters, Inc. and OBI, LLC, an entity wholly-owned by
MC. The Form 8-K also stated that the RDI Board of Directors approved
“additional special compensation” of $50,000 to be paid to Adams “for
extraordinary services provided the Company and devotion of time in
providing such services.” The Form 8-K was materially misleading if not
inaccurate because, among other things, those payments were awarded for
reasons other and/or additional to those set in the Form 8-K.

. On or about July 20, 2016, RDI filed with the SEC a Form 8-K which was

materially misleading if not accurate. It purported to describe the voting results
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of the 2016 ASM and, in doing so, reflected the (likely purposefully) erroneous
results the inspector of elections, First Coast, have been engaged to provide.

i. On or about July 18, 2016, after failing to file a Form 8-K regarding the offer,
the Company issued a press release regarding the offer. It stated that the
“Board of Directors, after receiving input from management and its outside
advisors, carefully evaluated the [offer]. Following this review, the Board of
Directors determined that our stockholders would be better served by pursuing
our independent, stand-alone strategic business plan...” The press release was
materially misleading if not false because, among other things, no
“independent, standalone strategic business plan” has been delivered by

management to the Individual Director Defendants, either in connection with
the offer or otherwise.

EC, MC, Kane, Adams and McEachern Manipulate the Corporate Machinery of RDI in An
Effort to Control the Election of Directors at the 2015 Annual Shareholders Meeting

102. At least approximately forty four percent (44%) of the Class B voting stock of RDI
is held in the name of the James J. Cotter Living Trust, which became irrevocable upon JIC, Sr.’s
death on September 13, 2014 (the “Trust”). Who has authority to vote the RDI Class B voting
stock held in the name of the Trust is a subject of dispute in the California trust and estate
litigation between EC and MC, on one hand, and JJC, on the other hand. Plaintiff is informed and
believes that, unless EC, MC and JJC as co-trustees of the Trust all agree and provide a unanimous
direction to the Company as required under Section 15620 of the California Probate Code, none of
them can vote any of those shares in connection with an RDI Annual Shareholders Meeting
(“ASM?”).

103.  Plaintiff is informed and believes that EC and MC are aware of the foregoing
regarding whether the RDI Class B voting stock held in the name of the Trust properly can be
voted at or in connection with RDI’s ASM.

104. Plaintiff is informed and believes that EC and MC agreed to act and took actions to
increase the number of RDI Class B shares they could vote at RDI’s ASM in order to attempt to
control that vote without including the Class B voting stock held in the name of the Trust.

a. On or about April 17, 2015, EC and MC exercised options to acquire
50,000 and 35,100 shares of RDI Class B shares, respectively.

b. On or about September 17, 2015, EC and MC, acting as executors of the
estate of JJC, Sr., exercised an option to acquire 100,000 shares of RDI
Class B voting stock. Despite claiming a need to preserve assets of the
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Estate, EC and MC utilized liquid RDI Class A shares to pay for the
exercise of the Estate’s option to acquire these illiquid RDI Class B
shares.

105. In or about June 12, 2015, Plaintiff was told by RDI that the prior practice of
allowing the Compensation Committee of RDI’s full Board of Directors to approve the exercise of
options had been changed to require that each member of the Board of Directors approve any
exercise of options by any director. When Plaintiff on or about June 5 and July 2 sought to
exercise two separate tranches of RDI options, processing of his requests was delayed for weeks
from the times he gave notice of his election to exercise such options.

106. However, that purported new practice later was reversed or abandoned. Plaintiff is
informed and believes that that was because EC and MC, purporting to act as executors of the
Estate of JJC, Sr., intended to seek to exercise a supposed option to have the Estate acquire
100,000 shares of Class B voting stock (which they did, as alleged herein). EC and MC feared
that JJC as an RDI director would refuse to consent to the exercise of this option controlled by EC
and MC as executors of the Estate of JJC, Sr.

107. Two of three members of the Compensation Committee are Adams and Kane. On
or about September 21, 2015, Kane and Adams, purporting to act as directors and as members of
the Compensation Committee, authorized the request of EC and MC that the Estate be allowed to
(use liquid Class A stock to) exercise the supposed option to acquire the 100,000 shares using
shares of RDI Class A stock. Kane and Adams did so in derogation of the interests of RDI, which
received no benefit from receiving Class A stock (rather than cash), which merely reduced the
float of such stock. Plaintiff is informed and believes that Kane and Adams also did so without
requiring EC and MC as executors of the Estate to produce documentation establishing the
Estate’s entitlement to exercise such option, which documentation may not exist. Kane and
Adams claimed that they decided to allow EC and MC to exercise the supposed 100,000 share
option based on the advice of counsel, including Craig Tompkins. The third director who was a
member of the Compensation Committee, Timothy Storey, was unable to attend the supposed

meeting of the Compensation Committee because it was called with too little notice.
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108.  Plaintiff is informed and believes that EC and MC took such actions because of a
concern that, absent the exercise of the supposed option for the Estate to acquire 100,000 shares of
RDI Class B voting stock which EC and MC will purport to vote as executors of the Estate, EC
and MC might have lacked sufficient votes to control the 2015 ASM and, in effect, unilaterally
elect as RDI directors whomever they choose, in view of the requirement of unanimity under

California Probate Code Section 15620.

EC And MC Systematically Mislead RDI Shareholders, Including By Failing To Make
Disclosures Required By The Federal Securities Laws And By Making Misleading
Disclosures.

109.  On or about September 24, 2014, MC and EC filed a Schedule 13D with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). In that 13D, each of MC and EC
indicated that they were not a member of a 13D group and each excluded any and all RDI shares
not owned by them, including shares owned by the Trust and shares held by the Estate, from the
shares each reported as beneficially owned and/or shares subject to shared voting power.

110.  On or about December 22, 2014, EC and MC were appointed in the accompanying
Nevada probate action to act as co-executors of the Estate. Plaintiff is informed and believes that
they commenced the Nevada probate action at least in part to exercise control as executors of
certain Company Class B voting stock.

111.  On or about January 9, 2015, MC and EC filed an amendment to the schedule 13D
they filed on or about September 24, 2014 (the “13D1”). The 13D1 for the first time identified the
two of them as a 13D group. The 13D1 also was filed for the Estate, but it expressly indicates that
the RDI Class B voting stock held by the Estate was not stock with respect to which either MC or
EC had shared voting power.

112.  On or about April 16, 2015, EC exercised one or more options to acquire 50,000
shares of RDI Class B voting stock. She was allowed to do so by using RDI Class A non-voting
stock rather than cash. That provided no benefit to RDI. EC did not file the required Form 4
disclosure with the SEC regarding that acquisition of Class B ﬁoting stock until on or about

October 9, 20135, three days after the record date of October 6, 2015 set for the 2015 ASM.
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113.  Onor about April 17, 2015, MC exercised options to acquire a total of 35,100
shares of RDI Class B voting stock. She was allowed to do so by using RDI Class A non-voting
stock rather than cash. That provided no benefit to RDI. MC did not file the required Form 4
disclosure with the SEC regarding that acquisition of Class B voting stock until on or about
October 9, 2015, three days after the record date of October 6, 2015.

114. Plaintiff is informed and believes that in or before April 2015, MC and EC agreed
that they would exercise shared voting power of the RDI Class B voting stock held in the name of
the Estate together with RDI Class B voting stock held individually by each of them, such that EC
and MC together with the Estate were members of a group for the purposes of Schedule 13D.

115.  On or about October 9, 2015, EC and MC filed an amended 13D (the “13D2”). The
13D2 disclosed for the first time that EC and MC together with the Estate were members of a
group for the purposes of Schedule 13D. Plaintiff is informed and believes that EC and MC
purposefully failed to disclose the prior existence of this 13D group until such time as they had
exercised an option held by the Estate to acquire an additional 100,000 shares of RDI Class B
voting stock and until after the October 6 record date had passed, as part of their scheme to
attempt to control over fifty percent (50%) of the Class B voting stock (not including such stock
held in the name of the Trust) before the record date for the 2015 ASM. They acquired the
100,000 shares on or about September 21, 2015.

116. The 13D2 filed on or about October 9, 2015 also states that the Trust “is also a
member of the group with the Estate, Margaret Cotter and Ellen Cotter” and says that the “Trust
has separately filed a report on Schedule 13D on the date hereof.” The 13D2 also states that MC
and EC have shared voting power with both the Estate and the Trust.

117. On or about October 9, 2015, EC and MC caused the Trust to file a Schedule 13D.
That Schedule 13D, like the 13D2, states that the Trust is a member of a group for the purposes of
Schedule 13D with the Estate, MC and EC. In response to these late filings as well as others made
by the Company, one RDI shareholder representative asked the Board, “Why does this board and

management choose to continue to be serial abusers of the securities laws?”
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118. Contrary to what the Schedule 13D filed for the Trust on or about October 9 and
the 13D2 imply, EC and MC do not control the shares held in the name of the Trust for voting
purposes, shared or otherwise. Plaintiff is informed and believes that such statements made in
these two schedule 13Ds (and in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2015 ASM) were
intended by EC and MC (and by Kane, Adams and McEachern) to mislead other holders of RDI
Class B voting stock in anticipation of and in connection with the 2015 ASM and the 2016 ASM.

119. Thus, EC and MC systematically have manipulated their disclosure of actual and
claimed ownership and control of RDI Class B voting stock for the purposes of misleading RDI
shareholders and facilitating their scheme to seize control of RDI and perpetuate their control of
RDI. All such actions were purposefully taken by them in derogation of their fiduciary
obligations, including the duty of disclosure. |

120. Plaintiff is informed and believes that Kane was and Adams and McEachern may
have been party to this scheme. Kane and Adams acted to facilitate this scheme, acting as directors
and members of the Compensation Committee to effectuate the acquisition by the Estate of
100,000 shares of Class B voting stock, including as alleged herein.

EC, MC, Kane, Adams and McEachern Act to Stack the Board With Others Loyal to EC
and MC

121. EC, MC, Kane and Adams have added to the RDI Board of Directors individuals
who have had long-standing friendships with EC, MC and/or their mother.

122.  On or about August 1, 2015, a couple days before a RDI board meeting, EC as
Chairman of the Board included on a Board of Directors agenda an item not previously discussed,
proposing to add to RDI’s Board an individual purported to have needed and sought after real
estate development experience. EC has known this individual over twelve years and has a close,
personal relationship with him, his wife and child. However, that individual previously had done
business with RDI in a manner that caused harm to RDI. After Plaintiff objected based on these
factors, EC reported to the Board that her nominee had withdrawn from consideration.

123.  On or about October 3, just days before a board meeting, EC proposed Codding as

a director candidate. This prevented directors who had not been informed of this candidate,
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including Plaintiff, Storey and Gould, from genuinely vetting and deliberating about the candidate.
Codding has no expertise in either of RDI’s two principal business segments, cinema operations
and real estate development. Codding also has no experience as a director of a public company.

124. However, Codding maintains a long standing, close personal friendship with Mary
Cotter, the mother of EC, MC and Plaintiff. Mary Cotter has chosen the side of EC and MC in the
family disputes between EC and MC, on one hand, and JJC, on the other hand. EC currently
resides with Mary Cotter.

125. EC, together with Adams, McEachern and Kane, pushed to have Codding added to
RDI's Board in advance of the 2015 ASM. On October 5, Codding was made a director on an
impromptu basis, after only minutes of supposed deliberation by the Board. Each of defendants
other than Storey (and Plaintiff) acquiesced to EC's request and voted to add her to the Board.
While Gould said that more time was needed to allow for vetting of Codding, he approved the
appointment, effectively acknowledging that he was abdicating his fiduciary responsibilities in
order to accommodate EC and/or MC.

126.  After Codding’s appointment to RDI’s Board of Directors was disclosed, one of
RDI’s shareholder representatives communicated his disbelief over the appointment of someone
with no relevant experience and whose activity relating to her employer’s alleged violations of the
public bidding laws to secure a contract with L.A. Unified School District (LAUSD) to provide
iPads to schools allegedly was under scrutiny in a federal criminal investigation, discovered
through a simple Google search. None of Kane, Adams, McEachern or Gould had either
performed or caused a basic, competent public records search or other such diligence that would
have discovered this publicly available information regarding Codding before approving Codding
to be a director of RDI. None of Adams, McEachern or Kane therefore were aware of, or at least
disclosed to the Board any prior knowledge of, Codding’s involvement in such alleged activity
prior to voting to add her to the RDI Board. EC knew previously, but did not disclose what she
knew.

127. On October 5, 2015, EC announced to the full RDI Board of Directors that a so-
called nominating committee comprised of Kane, Adams and McEachern supposedly would
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propose a board slate of nominees for the RDI's 2015 ASM, which has been set for November 10,
2015. RDI’s counsel indicated that EC and MC’s personal lawyer recommended that EC and MC
not be involved in the nominating process and that the Board form a nominating committee for
optical reasons, given EC and MC’s role as executors of the Estate and trustees of the Trust.

128. EC and MC previously had determined that director Storey would not be
nominated to stand for reelection. Each member of the so-called nominating committee agreed to
execute the decision of EC and MC to not nominate director Storey to be reelected.

129.  Plaintiff is informed and believes that the insistence of director Storey that RDI
directors act in the interest of all shareholders, not just EC and MC, and his efforts to do so,
account in part for the decision and agreement of EC, MC, Kane, Adams and McEachern to not
nominate director Storey to stand for reelection at the 2015 ASM.

130. McEachern and Adams, purporting to act as members of the so-called special
nominating committee, pressured Storey to “retire” as a director. Storey acquiesced.

131.  The supposed nominating committee, acting at the direction and requests of EC and
MC, then selected Wrotniak, who was a candidate about whom EC provided information to the
full Board only a couple days before the Board meeting, to replace Storey.

132.  Wrotniak does not have expertise in either of RDI’s business segments, cinema
operations and real estate development. Nor does he possess experience in public company
corporate governance. However, Wrotniak is the husband of MC’s long-standing best friend. He
was chosen because of that friendship. MC and EC expect loyalty from him.

133. The supposed nominating committee selected Wrotniak, notwithstanding the fact
that a senior executive with chief financial officer experience at a public, multi-billion dollar real
estate services and investment company, experience with Wall Street and years of experience in
the real estate industry, expressed a willingness to serve on RDI’s Board of Directors. That
candidate had been suggested by Plaintiff and had no ties to any of the Cotters.

134. By the foregoing actions, EC, MC, Kane, Adams and McEachern each have

continued to misuse the corporate machinery of RDI, including in particular to attempt to rig the
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vote at the 2015 and 2016 ASMs, to entrench and perpetuate themselves in exclusive control of
RDI. Gould has acquiesced, at a minimum.
135.  On or about October 20, 2015, the Company issued its Proxy Statement for the
2015 ASM scheduled for November 10, 2015. The Proxy Statement is materially misleading if not
inaccurate in a number of respects, including the following:
a. It states (at page 10) that, under Nevada law, EC and MC, as two of three
trustees of the Trust, have the power to vote all of the RDI Class B voting stock
held in the name of the Trust on the books and records of the Company;
b. It states (at page 10) that EC and MC together have the power to vote
71.9% of a Class B voting stock entitled to vote for directors at the 2015 ASM;
e It states (at pages 10 and 11) that the Company is a controlled company
under NASDAQ listing rules;
d. It states (at page 11) that EC has been appointed as interim President and
CEO and that the Board has established an Executive Search Committee comprised
of EC, MC, Adams, Gould and McEachern which, it says, “will consider both
internal and external candidates.” Plaintiff is informed and believes that the
undisclosed plan is to make EC President and CEO after conducting a search the
purpose of which is to create the misimpression of a bona fide process;
& It states (on page 12) thaf the “Special Nominating Committee and the
Board accordingly considered the views of (EC and MC) with respect to the 2015
Director nominees,” when in fact the Special Nominating Committee and every
member of the Board other than Plaintiff acted as each understood EC and MC
desired;
f. It states (on page 12) that Plaintiff “vot[ed] against each of the
recommended nominees (including himself),” which is inaccurate;
g. It describes (on page 15) historical business experience of defendant
Adams, as if that experience is the reason he is a director and is nominated for
reelection, but fails to disclose his close personal ties to the late JIC, Sr. and to EC
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and MC, fails to disclose Adams’ financial dependence on companies and deals
controlled by EC and MC and misstates his recent professional activities;

h. It describes (at page 15) professional experience of Judy Codding in the
field of education as if that were the reason she was made a director and is
nominated for reelection, but fails to disclose her personal relationship with Mary
Cotter, the mother of EC and MC, and misstates her recent professional activities;
1 It describes (at pages 15-16) the role of MC with respect to the Company’s
live theatre operations, and says that she “heads up the re-development process
with respect to these properties and our Cinemas 1, 2 & 3,” but fails to disclose that
MC successfully has ended the search by the Company for an experienced real
estate executive to lead its real estate development efforts, in the United States,
including for the NYC Properties. Among the reasons MC did so was to create a
purported basis for seeking and securing employment with the Company;

g, It describes (at page 16) certain professional experience of Kane, including
experience from 1987 and 1988, but fails to disclose his historical and ongoing
quasi-familial relationship with EC and MC;

k. It describes (at page 16) certain professional experience of Wrotniak, as if
that were the reason he was made a director and is nominated for reelection, but
fails to disclose the close personal relationship he and his wife have with MC.

136.  On or about May 18, 2016, the Company issued its Proxy Statement for the 2016
ASM scheduled for June 2, 2016. The Proxy Statement was materially misleading if not
inaccurate in a number of respects, including the following:

a. It implies (at page 7) that the Company is entitled to determine the identity
of the trustees under the so-called Cotter Trust, the right of those trustees to vote
under California law and/or that the books and records of the Company identify
each of EC, MC and Plaintiff as trustees of the so-called Cotter Trust (the “Trust™);
b. It describes (at page 8) the supposed CEO search in a manner that implies
that EC timely resigned from the CEO search committee, that that committee relied
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on Korn Ferry and that Korn Ferry evaluated EC as a candidate for the CEO
position;

-3 It states (at page 9 and elsewhere) that the Company is a controlled
company under NASDAQ listing rules;

d. It states (on pages 9-10) that Adams served on the compensation committee
through May 14, 2016, but fails to disclose how it came to pass that he resigned;

€. It describes (on page 15) historical business experience of defendant
Adams, as if that experience is the reason he is a director and is nominated for
reelection, but fails to disclose his close personal ties to the late JJC, Sr. and to EC
and MC, and fails to disclose Adams’ financial dependence on companies and deals
controlled by EC and MC and misstates his recent professional activities;

f. It describes (at page 15) professional experience of Codding in the field of
education as if that were the reason she was made a director and is nominated for
reelection, but fails to disclose her personal relationship with Mary Cotter, the
mother of EC, and MC and her relationship with her employer would be coming to
an end and the reasons for such termination;

g. It describes (at page 16) the role of MC with respect to the Company’s live
theatre operations, and says that she “heads up the re-development process with
respect to these properties and our Cinemas 1, 2 & 3,” but fails to disclose that MC
successfully has ended the search by the Company for an experienced real estate
executive to lead its real estate development efforts in the United States, including
for the NYC Properties. Among the reasons MC did so was to create a purported
basis for seeking and securing employment in such position with the Company;

h. It describes (at page 16) certain professional experience of Kane, including
experience from 1987 and 1988, but fails to disclose his historical and ongoing

quasi-familial relationship with EC and MC;
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i It describes (at page 16) certain professional experience of Wrotniak, as if

that were the reason he was made a director and is nominated for reelection, but

fails to disclose the close personal relationship he and his wife have with MC.
The CEO Search is Aborted, Manipulated or Both, and EC is Selected

137. At a Board meeting on or about June 30, 2015, EC was empowered to select an
outside search firm to search for a new, permanent President and CEO for RDI. EC selected EC,
MC, McEachern and Gould as members of a CEO search committee. EC functioned as the
chairperson of the committee until she resigned, as described below.

138.  On or about August 4, 2015, EC reported to the Board that she had selected Korn
Ferry to be the outside search firm. A stated and accepted rationale for selecting Korn Ferry was
that Korn Ferrry would perform a proprietary detailed assessment of the finalists for the position
of President and CEO of RDI. The full Board had been told that each of the three finalists would
be presented to the full Board to be interviewed.

139.  Korn Ferry interviewed each of the four members of the CEO search committee
and Craig Tompkins, as well as other persons EC and/or MC had Kom Ferry interview and, based
on those interviews and further communications with some of those people, Korn Ferry created a
“position specification” document. The stated purpose of the document was to list qualifications
and characteristics that had been agreed to as those that would be used to select candidates and,
ultimately, a new President and CEO.

140. Finally, on or about November 13, 2015, an initial set of interviews of CEO
candidates was set to occur. Shortly before those interviews were to commence, EC allegedly
announced to the other members of the CEO search committee that she was a candidate for the
positions of President and CEO. At that point, she purportedly resigned from the committee.
Plaintiff is informed and believes that EC had considered being a candidate well before the initial
set of interviews, but chose to not disclose that.

141. At that point, McEachern, Gould and MC had no discussions about whether MC
should or could continue to serve on the committee, in view of the fact that her sister was a
candidate. Nor did the committee or any of them seek the advice of outside counsel with respect
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to that subject or any other issue related to EC declaring her candidacy after having directed Korn
Ferry for months.

142.  After on or about August 4, 2015, neither EC nor the CEO search committee
provided any reports regarding the (supposed) CEO search to the full Board until mid-December
2015. That was so in spite of requests by Storey and Plaintiff for reports or updates.

143. McEachren, Gould and MC in November and December interviewed several CEO
candidates. They identified at least one and possibly two of them as finalists. They also
interviewed EC. After interviewing EC, the three of them preliminarily agreed that she was their
choice to be CEO. They also agreed that Korn Ferry would be instructed to cease further work.

144, McEachern, Gould and MC then conducted a conference call during year-end
holidays, confirmed their choice of EC and charged Tompkins with summarizing their reasons.
Tompkins did so. The stated reasons for selecting EC did not match or even approximate the
qualifications and characteristics that were summarized in the “position specification” document
prepared by Korn Ferry.

145. Korn Ferry did not perform its proprietary special assessment of EC or of any other
candidate.

146.  On or about January 8, 2016, McEachern, Gould and MC presented EC to the full
Board of Directors as their selection to be the President and CEO of RDI. With little if any
deliberation, and with little if any information regarding the search and/or other candidates other
than a summary provided to them just days prior to meeting, each of the director defendants
agreed and voted to make EC President and CEO.

147.  On or about January 11, 2016, the Company issued a Form 8-K attaching a press
release of that date. The press release included a statement by defendant Gould that said: “After
conducting a thorough search process, it is clear that Ellen is best suited to lead Reading moving
forward.” That statement is materially misleading if not inaccurate, including because it implies

erroneously that the selection of EC was the result of a (supposedly) “thorough search process.”
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The Director Defendants Commence Looting The Company

148. Following the 2015 ASM in November 2015, by which the individual defendants
secured effectively unfettered control of the Company, and following the appointment of EC as
President and CEO in January 2016, the individual defendants turned their attention to the subjects
of employment, titles and compensation.

149.  On or about March 10, 2016, MC was appointed EVP--RED — NYC on EC’s
recommendation as President and CEO. In that position, MC became the senior executive at RDI
responsible for the development of its valuable NYC Properties. However, MC has no real estate
development experience. She is unqualified to hold that senior executive position.

150. As EVP--RED — NYC, MC was awarded a compensation package that includes a
base salary of $350,000 and a short-term incentive targét bonus of $105,000 (30% of her base
salary), and was granted a long-term incentive of a stock option for 19,921 shares of Class A
common stock and 4,184 restricted stock units under the Company’s 2010 Stock Incentive Plan.

151. Additionally, the Compensation Committqe, comprised of Adams, Kane and
Codding, and the Audit and Conflicts Committee, comprised of Kane, McEachern and Wrotniak,
in or about March 2016 each unanimously approved so-called “additional consulting fee
compensation” of $200,000 to MC. Each of the Individual Director Defendants (with EC and
MC abstaining) approved this $200,000 payment to MC. In effect, MC was given a $200,000 gift.

152. At the request of EC, the EC Committee requested the Compensation Committee to
review executive compensation. The result was that EC as President and CEO received a new
compensation package. If all bonuses available are paid to her, she will be paid over three times
what Plaintiff was paid as President and CEO.

153. The Compensation Committee also recommended and the RDI Board of Directors
(meaning all of the individual director defendants) also approved so-called “additional special

compensation” of $50,000 to Adams. This after-the-fact payment in effect was a gift.
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The Non-Cotter Director Defendants Effectively Ignore a Third Party Cash Offer to Buy All
of the Outstanding Stock of RDI at a Price in Excess of the Market Price

154.  On or about May 31, 2016, EC as Chairman, President and CEO of RDI and each
director received an unsolicited offer from a third party to purchase, for all cash, all of the
outstanding shares of RDI stock, meaning all Class A nonvoting shares and all Class B voting
shares (the “Offer”). This Offer was sent to EC and the other board members shortly after an RDI
employee reporting to EC reported to the third party that the Company was not for sale after such
third party indicated an interest in buying the Company. The proposed cash purchase price was
$17 per share. That price represented an approximate thirty-three percent (33%) premium over the
prices at which RDI stock was then trading in the open market.

155. The Offer to purchase all of the outstanding shares of RDI stock expressly allowed
for the possibility that, following due diligence, the Offer price might be increased from $17 per
share. The Offer indicated that a response to it was needed no later than June 14, 2016. The Offer
also indicated that those making it did not intend to make it public at the time.

156. EC distributed the Offer to members of the RDI Board of Directors on or about
May 31, 2016. The Board of Directors met with respect to the Offer on Thursday, June 2, 2016.
The Board agreed to meet the following week to determine whether and how to respond to the
Offer, after management distributed to Board members a business plan and materials relating to
the value of the Company. |

157. The RDI Board of Directors did not reconvene with respect to the Offer until June
23, 2016. No business plan and no materials relating to the value of the Company were provided
to Board members in advance of or at the June 23, 2016 meeting. Nor were any other materials
relevant to assessing the Offer provided. EC made an oral presentation concluding that RDI was
worth a price dramatically in excess of the Offer price and recommended that RDI pursue its
(supposed) long-term business plan. All of the individual director defendants agreed that an Offer
of $17 per share was inadequate. Plaintiff abstained in view of management’s failure to provide

information promised to be delivered before the meeting.
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158.  Neither EC nor anyone acting at her direction or request has ever provided a
strategic or long-term business plan for the Company to the RDI .Board of Directors.

159. In connection with determining whether and, if so, how to respond to the Offer,
none of the non-Cotter director defendants indicated that they had and, on information and belief,
Plaintiff alleges that they had not, consulted with outside independent counsel, outside
independent financial advisers such as investment bankers, or anyone else on whom directors are
entitled to rely in determining in good faith whether and, if so, how, to respond to such an offer.

160. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that each of the non-Cotter
directors, in determining whether and, if so, how to respond to the Offer, made their respective
decisions largely if not entirely on their understanding of what they understood EC and MC (as
supposedly controlling shareholders) wanted to do or not do in response to the Offer.

161. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that neither EC nor MC
consulted with outside independent counsel, outside independent financial advisers such as an
investment bank, or anyone else on whom directors are entitled to rely in determining in good
faith whether and, if so, how, to respond to such an Offer. Plaintiff is further informed and
believes and thereon alleges that neither EC nor MC in good faith even considered accepting the
Offer, pursuing discussions with the offerors or taking any other steps that would amount to
anything other than rejection of the Offer.

162. None of the individual director defendants made an informed, good-faith
determination of what was in the best interests of RDI and its stockholders in responding to the
Offer. None of the individual director defendants made a good faith determination of whether,
much less that, RDI with its present senior management, including EC as CEO and MC as EVP-
RED-NYC, could, much less would, deliver value or achieve results that approximated, much less
resulted in, RDI trading at the price or value EC told the Board of Directors on June 23, 2016 that
management had ascribed to the Company. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges
that none of the individual director defendants took any actions to test or to verify any of the oral

presentation by EC regarding the supposed value of the Company.
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RDI and RDI Shareholders are Injured

163.  When the individual defendants’ complained of conduct became publicly known
and disseminated, the price at which RDI stock traded dropped, evidencing injury to RDI and
resulting in monetary damages to RDI and to RDI stockholders. One or more directors or officers
of RDI observed at or about the time that this had occurred. Those damages are estimated to be in
the millions of dollars. When subsequent complained of actions of the individual defendants,
including to stack the RDI Board, became publicly known, RDI stock prices dropped again.
When the Offer described above was (belatedly) disclosed by the Company on or about July 18,
2016, the price at which RDI stock traded increased, evidencing injury and damages resulting
from the individual director defendants’ complained of conduct.

164. The individual defendants’ complained of conduct has resulted in injury to and
impairment of RDI’s reputation and goodwill. The consequences of such damage include
diminished ability to attract and retain qualified senior executives, increased costs if able to do so,
an impaired ability to effectuate transactions that may involve use of Company stock as
consideration, diminished willingness of institutional investors to buy and to hold RDI stock and
other impairment of and increased costs to conduct RDI’s business. Increased costs include
payment of unnecessary and/or excessive consulting fees, payment of duplicative or redundant
compensation and payment of increased professional costs, including audit and legal fees.

165. The individual defendants’ complained of conduct effectively has eliminated
important rights of shareholders, including the right to be timely informed of material
developments, the right to not be misled, the right to rely on timely and accurate SEC filings and
the right to have elections for directors that are not manipulated and not rigged.

166. The individual defendants’ complained of conduct constitutes waste and has caused
monetary damages to RDI, including what amounted to a gift of $50,000 to EC, a $200,000 gift to
MC and a $50,000 gift to Adams. Likewise, the engagement and payment of Korn Ferry, which
was used to create a misimpression of a bona fide CEO search, but which was not used to identify
or evaluate EC, who was selected by MC, McEachern and Gould without input from Korn Ferry,

which they instructed to cease work, also amounts to waste of at least the monies paid to Korn
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Ferry.

167. In taking the actions complained of herein, the individual defendants have wasted if
not appropriated corporate opportunities and wasted corporate assets. In particular and without
limitation, they have failed to act in good faith and on an informed basis to determine how to
monetize the Company’s valuable real estate assets, including the NYC Properties. Instead, they
have chosen to not take such steps but rather to hire MC to “keep the ball in the air,” so that there
is a pretext to employ her in the position in which is now employed, which she is wholly
unqualified to fulfill. In doing so, they have caused the Company to spend and continue to spend
substantial sums of money, believed to be at least in the millions of dollars, to pay outside
consultants because the Interested Director Defendants effectively acquiesced to MC’s insistence
that RDI not hire an executive experienced in real estate development, and because all of the
individual defendants instead approved hiring MC as EVP-RED-NYC. The extra monies paid to
outside consultant is believed to be in the millions of dollars.

168. The failure of the individual defendants to undertake to make an informed, good
faith determination of what was in the best interests of RDI and its stockholders in responding to
the Offer described above has resulted in injury to RDI and each of the stockholders. That injury
includes lost opportunity of each and every RDI stockholder to decide for himself, herself or itself
whether to sell his, her or its RDI stock at a price in excess of the price at which it trades in the
open market.

Demand Is Excused

169. Insofar as any or all of the claims made herein are derivative in nature, demand
upon the RDI board is excused because, among other things, as to each matter complained of
herein, a majority if not all members of RDI’s Board of Directors except Plaintiff (and in certain
instances former director Storey) took and/or approved the complained of conduct. They therefore
are unable to exercise independent and disinterested business judgment in responding to a demand,
including because the actions giving rise to this action alleged herein were not undertaken honestly

and in good faith in the best interests of RDI, much less the product of a valid exercise of business

judgment.
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170.  Each and all of the RDI board members named as defendants herein would be
materially affected, either to their benefit or detriment, by a decision of the RDI board with respect
to any demand, and would be so affected in a manner not shared by the Company or its
stockholders, incll_lding for the reasons alleged herein.

171.  Additionally, as to each and all matters complained of herein, a majority if not all of
the director defendants is and would be unable to exercise independent and disinterested business
judgment responding to a demand because, among other things, doing so would entail assessing
their own liability, including possibly to the Company. The same is true particularly with respect
to the non-Cotter directors, who lack independence and lack disinterestedness, including for the
reasons alleged herein, including but not limited to Adams’ financial dependence on companies
controlled by EC and MC, Kane’s quasi-familial relationship with EC and MC, McEachern’s and
Gould’s fiduciary breaches and Codding and Wrotniak’s personal relationships with Cotter family
members.

172.  Additionally, notwithstanding the foregoing allegations, each of Adams, Kane and
McEachern lack disinterestedness and independence because each has affirmatively chosen,
without any obligation to do so and in derogation of their fiduciary obligations as directors of RDI,
to pick sides in a family dispute involving trust and estate litigation between Plaintiff, on one hand,
and EC and MC, on the other hand, and to misuse their positions as directors in doing so. Like
MC and EC, in so acting, they did not act honestly and in good faith in the best interests of RDI.
Additionally, in voting to give EC and MC positions for which they are unqualified, and
corresponding compensation packages, and in failing to take steps to make an informed, good faith
decision regarding the Offer to purchase all RDI stock at a premium, and instead effectively
deferring to EC and/or MC, each of the director defendants, including Codding and Wrotniak,
acted in derogation of the fiduciary duties they owe to RDI and its other shareholders.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(For Breach of Fiduciary Duty — Against All Defendants)

173.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 172, inclusive, of this complaint

and incorporates them herein by this reference as though set forth in full.
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174.  Each of the individual defendants at times relevant hereto was a director of RDI.
As such, each owed fiduciary duties to RDI and to Plaintiff and other RDI shareholders, including
fiduciary duties of care, candor, disclosure, good faith and loyalty to RDI.

175.  The duty of care owed by each of these defendants entails, among other things, an
obligation to exercise the requisite degree of care in the process of decision making as a director
and to act on an informed basis.

176. The duty of care further requires, among other things, that these directors do not act
with undue haste, a lack of board preparation or a failure of deliberation with respect to the merits
of any and every supposed business decision.

177. By the conduct described herein, each of the individual defendants (insofar as he or
she was a director at the time) breached their respective duties of care and good faith. Each did so
as alleged herein, including by, among other things, the following:

a. They failed to engage in any process to assess the skills and performance of
Plaintiff as President or as CEO in connection with the decision to threaten
to terminate and to terminate him, and instead pre-empted an ongoing

process;

b. They abdicated, or caused other directors to abdicate, their fiduciary
responsibilities as directors by creating and acting through the EC
Committee;

i They failed to take steps to cause, much less assure, that persons added to

the RDI Board possessed any qualifications other than personal
relationships with one or more members of the Cotter family;

d. They failed to take actions to cause, much less assure, a bona fide, fair and
un-manipulated search for a new President and CEO to occur;

e They failed to take and/or delayed taking action, after having been informed
of the financial dependence of Adams on Cotter family businesses for
income, to eliminate or even circumscribe Adam’s authority as a director or
as a member of the Compensation Committee responsible for determining
compensation to EC and MC;

f. They failed to take actions to enable themselves to make an informed, good

faith decision regarding whether to respond to the Offer, and if so, how, and
instead did what they thought EC, MC or both wished.

178.  As adirect and proximate result of the acts and omissions of said defendants as
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described herein, Plaintiff and the Company and its other shareholders have suffered injury and
continue to suffer injury as alleged herein.

179. Plaintiff cannot ascertain at this time the full nature, extent or amount of damages,
which are in excess of $50,000, suffered by virtue of the complained of conduct of said defendants.
Plaintiff will amend this complaint and set forth said damages when they are ascertained,

according to proof at trial.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Breach of Fiduciary Duty — Against All Defendants)

180.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 172, inclusive, of this complaint
and incorporates them herein by this reference as though set forth in full.

181.  Each of the individual defendants at times relevant hereto were directors of RDI.
As such, each owed fiduciary duties, including fiduciary duties of care, candor, disclosure, good
faith and loyalty, to the Company, to Plaintiff and to other RDI shareholders.

182. The duty of loyalty includes the obligation to not use their positions of control of
the Company, including in particular as directors, to further their own personal or financial
interests or the personal or financial interests of another of them to the detriment of the interests of
the Company and its shareholders.

183. By the conduct described herein, each of these defendants have undertaken to
further their own interests or the interests of another of them, to the direct, immediate and ongoing
detriment of the Company, Plaintiff and each of its other shareholders. That conduct includes, but
is not limited to, the following:

a. Threatening to terminate Plaintiff as President and CEO if he did not strike
a resolution of trust and estate disputes with EC and MC on terms
satisfactory to the two of them;

b. Terminating Plaintiff as President and CEO of RDI after he did not strike a
resolution of trust and estate disputes with EC and MC on terms satisfactory
to the two of them;

C. Repopulating and activating an executive committee where none was

needed and where the effect, if not the purpose and effect, was to prevent
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Plaintiff, Storey and Gould from fully participating as members of the RDI
Board of Directors;

d. Allowing EC to direct the (supposed) search for a permanent President and
CEQ, allowing MC to participate, including in particular following the
disclosure by EC that she was a candidate, and by effectively firing Korn
Ferry in order to assure the selection of EC and selecting EC;

e. Awarding EC and MC positions they were not qualified to hold, and by
gifting monies to EC, MC and Adams; and

£ As to all individual defendants other than EC and MC, choosing not to take
any actions such as employing independent counsel or financial advisors to
advise them regarding whether and, if so, how to respond to the Offer, but
instead relying on untimely, incomplete and/or inadequate information
provided by a conflicted EC and by effectively deferring to EC, MC or both
of them;

g. As to all individual defendants other than EC and MC, abdicating their
fiduciary responsibilities to the Company and shareholders other than EC
and MC; and

h. As to EC and MC, misusing their position as purportedly controlling
shareholders to usurp or attempt to usurp the authority of the RDI Board of
Directors.

184. By reason of the foregoing, each of the individual defendants has breached their
fiduciary obligations, and in particular their fiduciary duties of good faith and loyalty, to the
Company and to Plaintiff and all other shareholders of the Company.

185. As adirect and proximate result of the acts and omissions of said defendants as
described herein, Plaintiff and the Company and its other shareholders have suffered injury and
continue to suffer injury as alleged herein.

186. Plaintiff cannot ascertain at this time the full nature, extent or amount of damages,
which are in excess of $50,000, suffered by virtue of the complained of conduct of said defendants.
Plaintiff will amend this complaint and set forth said damages when they are ascertained,
according to proof at trial.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Breach of Fiduciary Duty—Against All Defendants)
187.  Plaintiff repeats realleges paragraph 1 through 172, inclusive, of this complaint and
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incorporates them here in by this reference as though set forth in full.

188. Each of the defendants at times relevant hereto was a director of RDI. As such,
each owed fiduciary duties to RDI and to its shareholders, including Plaintiff, including the duties
of care, candor, disclosure, good faith and loyalty.

189. The duties of candor and disclosure require that the Individual Director Defendants
each cause the Company to make timely, accurate and complete disclosures of information to its
shareholders.

190. By the conduct described herein, including in particular but not limited to causing
or allowing RDI to disseminate untimely and materially misleading if not inaccurate information,
in SEC filings and/or by press releases, each of the individual defendants has breached his or her
duties of candor and disclosure.

191.  As a direct and proximate result thereof, the Company and its shareholders have
suffered injury and continue to suffer injury is alleged herein.

192. Plaintiff cannot ascertain at this time the full nature, extent amount of damages
suffered by virtue of the complained of conduct of said defendants.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary Duty — Against MC and EC)

193.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 192, inclusive, of this
complaint and incorporates them herein by this reference as though set forth in full.

194. Insofar as any or all of Defendants contend that the decision to terminate Plaintiff
as CEO and President was made based upon a vote of the non-Cotter directors, and independent of
the fact that such vote was legally ineffectual, the fiduciary breaches alleged above were solicited
and aided and abetted by MC and EC.

195.  As alleged more fully herein, EC and MC had solicited and assisted the actionable
conduct of defendants Kane, Adams and McEachern, including in particular but not limited to the
threat by the three of them to terminate JJIC as President and CEO of RDI if, in the few hours
between the adjournment of the supposed RDI board meeting on Friday, May 29, 2015 the
resumption of that supposed meeting at or about 6:00 p.m. that evening, JJC did not reach a global
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settlement agreement with EC and MC, meaning agree to their take-it or leave-it agreement or any
other such agreement they would demand he accept.

196. EC and MC further solicited and aided and.abcttccl the decisions and actions of
defendants Adams, Kane and McEachern to terminate JJC as President and CEO of RDI.

197. EC and MC further prompted and aided and abetted the fiduciary breaches of other
directors as alleged herein, including but not limited to matters as to which EC, MC or both
abstained or otherwise did not vote, including votes regarding their employment at RDI.

198. Each of EC and MC have acted with knowledge of the fiduciary obligations of the
five outside directors. Each of EC and MC have acted with knowledge of the manner in which
those fiduciary obligations were breached, and aided and abetted and continue to aide and abet
said breaches. Accordingly, each of EC and MC are liable for aiding and abetting those fiduciary
breaches.

199. As a direct and proximate result of the acts and omissions of said defendants as
described herein, Plaintiff and the Company and its other shareholders have suffered injury and
continue to suffer injury as alleged herein.

200. Plaintiff cannot ascertain at this time the full nature, extent or amount of damages,
which are in excess of $50,000, suffered by virtue of the complaint of conduct of said defendants.
Plaintiff will amend this complaint and set forth said damages when they are ascertained,
according to proof at trial.

Irreparable Harm

201.  As aresult of the ongoing acts of Defendants, the Company, Plaintiff and other RDI
shareholders have suffered and will continue to suffer immediate and ongoing irreparable injury
for which no adequate remedy at law exists, including as alleged herein. Accordingly, Plaintiff is
entitled to relief restraining Defendants, and each of them, from continuing their course of conduct
and undertaking further actions in derogation of their fiduciary obligations, and to an order and
judgment finding that the actions undertaken to date, including to threaten JJC with termination
and thereafter terminate JJC as President and CEO of RDI, as well as their actions undertaken in
furtherance of the self-dealing and entrenchment scheme alleged herein, are legally ineffectual and
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of no force and effect, will be enjoined, or both.

202. In particular, unless such injunctive relief is granted, Plaintiff, the Company and
other shareholders will suffer irreparable harm for which no adequate remedy at law exists.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment against Defendants and each of them, jointly
and severally, as follows:

1. For relief restraining and enjoining Defendants from taking further action to
effectuate or implement the (legally ineffectual) termination of Plaintiff as President and CEO of
RDI;

2. For a determination that the purported termination of Plaintiff as President and
CEO of RDI was legally ineffectual and is of no force and effect;

3. For entry of an order that:

a. Finds that that EC, MC, and one or more of Kane, Adams and/or
McEachern lacked the requisite disinterestedness and/or lacked independence
and/or failed to act with the requisite disinterestedness and/or independence in
voting (and purporting to act as) directors of RDI to remove Plaintiff as President
and CEO of RDI, finds that actions to remove Plaintiff as President and CEO were
void or voidable and declares such action voided and legally ineffectual, such that
Plaintiff is restored to and EC is removed from the positions of President and CEO
of RDI (unless and until such time as he resigns or is removed by way of proper
and legally enforceable procedure);

b. Enjoins the individual defendants and each of them, and their agents, from
any and all actions to circumvent, impair the function of or render ineffective RDI’s
full Board of Directors, including in particular but not limited to any and all actions
to (i) delay the delivery of draft minutes of RDI Board of Directors meetings and/or
cause minutes to be edited or revised to suit the litigation purposes of any or all of
EC, MC, Kane, Adams and McEachern, (ii) cause the failure or untimely delivery

of agendas and materials to be used at RDI Board of Directors meetings, (iii) cause
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minutes of RDI Board of Directors meeting to be inaccurate, misleading or
incomplete, (iv) cause the EC Committee or any other committee of the Board of
Directors (other than its audit and compensation committees in the ordinary course
of business) to take any actions, to make any decisions or to otherwise act or fail to
act in place or in lieu of the full Board of Directors with respect to any and all
decisions of the type or nature that can be made by RDI’s Board of Directors
(rather than by its senior executives), and (v) put any member of RDI’s Board of
Directors in a position of making any decision on an informed basis, in good faith
and with the best interests of all RDI shareholders in mind;
c. Directs RDI and the individual defendants to make such corrective
disclosures as are determined by the Court to be appropriate, with such disclosures
required to be made in advance of RDI’s 2017 ASM or, alternatively, orders that
the 2017 ASM to be postponed pending such corrective disclosures;
d. Enjoins the individual defendants and each of them, and their agents, from
manipulating the 2017 ASM, including by entering an order sterilizing or voiding
any vote they cast at or in connection with the 2017 ASM of the 100,000 shares of
Class B voting stock that were the subject of an option purportedly exercised in or
about September 2015 and any shares of Class B voting stock held in the name of
the Trust on the Company’s stock register; and
& Requires that nominees for RDI's Board of Directors have bona fide
qualifications to serve on the board of a public company engaged in RDI’s two
principal business segments, cinemas and real estate development.

4. For judgment against each of the Defendants for breach of their respective fiduciary

obligations;
3, For actual and compensatory damages incurred by RDI and/or by Plaintiff and
against each of Defendants in an amount according to proof at trial;

6. For costs of suit herein; and

"
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For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

DATED this 2nd day of September, 2016.

LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP

/s/ Mark G. Krum

Mark G. Krum (Nevada Bar No. 10913)
3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600
Las Vegas, NV 89169-5958

Attorneys for Plaintiff
James J. Cotter, Jr.
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VERIFICATION OF JAMES J. COTTER, JR. OF
SECOND AMENDED VERIFIED COMPLAINT

I, James J. Cotter Jr., declare as follows:

1. I am over the age of eighteen (18) years and competent to testify to the matters set
forth herein. Pursuant to all applicable laws, I swear as follows:

2. As a shareholder of Reading International, Inc. (“RDI”), I am plaintiff in the above-
céptioned action,

3. As stated in the Second Amended Verified Complaint (the “First Amended
Complaint”), I am and at all times relevant to this action have been a shareholder of nominal
defendant RDI.

4, I have read the Second Amended Complaint and am familiar with the contents
thereof. The factual allegations therein are true based upon my personal knowledge, except for
those matters set forth upon information and belief, which I believe to be true, as well.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

DATED this 3/ dayof A-a«s t , 2016

\
JKVER . COTTER, JR.

-1- 2010793535_1
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 2nd day of September, 2016, I caused a true and correct copy of

the foregoing SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT to be electronically served to all parties of

record via this Court’s electronic filing system to all parties listed on the E-Service Master List.

/s/ Judy Estrada

An employee of Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie LLP
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09/23/2016 05:35:22 PM

Donald A. Lattin (NV SBN. 693) % 1~H"m’

dlattin@mclrenolaw.com
Carolyn K(’JRenner (NV SBN. 9164) CLEROE ThE COURT
crenner@mclrenolaw.com
MAUPIN, COX & LEGOY
4785 Caughlin Parkway
Reno, Nevada 89519
Telephone: (775) 827-2000
Facsimile: (775) 827-2185

Ekwan E. Rhow (admitted pro hac vice)
eer(@birdmarella.com

Hernan D. Vera (admitted pro hac vice)
hvera@birdmarella.com

Shoshana E. Bannett (admitted pro hac vice)
sbannett@birdmarella.com

BIRD, MARELLA, BOXER, WOLPERT, NESSIM,

DROOKS, LINCENBERG & RHOW, P.C.

1875 Century Park East, 23rd Floor

Los Angeles, California 90067-2561

Telephone: (310) 201-2100

Facsimile: (310) 201-2110

Attorneys for Defendant William Gould

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
JAMES J. COTTER. JR, CASE NO. A-15-719860-B
Plaintiff, DEFENDANT WILLIAM GOULD’S
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
VS.
MARGARET COTTER, et al., Assigned to Hon. Elizabeth Gonzalez,

Dept. X1
Defendant.
Trial Date: November 14, 2016

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.,

Nominal Defendant.
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TO ALL PARTIES, COUNSEL, AND THE COURT:

Pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 56, Defendant William Gould, by and through
his counsel of record, hereby submits this Motion for Summary Judgment as to the First, Second,
and Third Causes of Action in Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint.

This Motion is based upon the following Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the
accompanying Declaration of Shoshana E. Bannett and exhibits thereto, the Declaration of
William Gould, the Individual Defendants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (No. 3) on
Plaintiff’s Claims Related to the Purported Unsolicited Offer, the pleadings and papers on file, and
any oral argument at the time of a hearing on this motion.

September 23, 2016

BIRD, MARELLA, BOXER, WOLPERT, NESSIM,
DROOKS, LINCENBERG & RHOW, P.C.

o A Mha

Ekwan E. Rhow (admitted pro hac vice)
Hernén D. Vera (admitted pro hac vice)
Shoshana E. Bannett (admitted pro hac vice)
1875 Century Park East, 23rd Floor

Los Angeles, California 90067-2561

MAUPIN, COX & LeGOY
Donald A. Lattin (SBN 693)
Carolyn K. Renner (SBN 9164)

4785 Caughlin Parkway
Reno, NV 89519

Telephone: (775) 827-2000
Facsimile: (775) 827-2185

Attorneys for Defendant William Gould
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NOTICE OF MOTION

TO: LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP, Attorneys for Plaintiff:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the above Motion will be heard the 25 day of

DL TR , 2016, at 8:30A in Department XI of the above-designated Court,

or as soon thereafter as counsel can be heard.

September 23, 2016

BIRD, MARELLA, BOXER, WOLPERT, NESSIM,
DROOKS, LINCENBERG & RHOW, P.C.

o A Mo

Ekwan E. Rhow (admitted pro hac vice)
Hernan D. Vera (admitted pro hac vice)
Shoshana E. Bannett (admitted pro hac vice)
1875 Century Park East, 23rd Floor

Los Angeles, California 90067-2561

MAUPIN, COX & LeGOY
Donald A. Lattin (SBN 693)
Carolyn K. Renner (SBN 9164)

4785 Caughlin Parkway
Reno, NV 89519
Telephone: (775) 827-2000
Facsimile: (775) 827-2185

Attorneys for Defendant William Gould
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

L INTRODUCTION

Defendant William Gould should be a stranger to this lawsuit. As the only defendant
director who both voted against the termination of Plaintiff James Cotter Jr. (“Plaintiff” or “Cotter,
Jr.”) as CEO and then, upon Plaintiff’s termination as approved by the rest of the Board, voted to
appoint Co-Defendant Ellen Cotter as CEO, he has been stuck in the middle of a longstanding turf
war. That war has pitted Plaintiff against his sisters Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter, as they
have battled over control of Reading International (“Reading”). In the midst of this never-ending
family dispute, Gould did what any independent director would have to do in this situation: take
positions that he believed were in the best interests of Reading, while attempting to ignore whether
they favored one side or the other.

The relevant facts that support this conclusion are not in dispute. Gould is a nationally
recognized corporate lawyer who focuses his practice on advising boards of directors on how to
fulfill the fiduciary duties they owe to their shareholders. Gould was appointed to Reading’s
Board of Directors in 2004 and, after several intervening years away, was recruited by James
Cotter, Sr. (“Cotter, Sr.”) to rejoin. He has served Reading with distinction and, on a board
composed of family members with competing agendas, has been a sober voice of reason
advocating consistently for what he believed to be in the best interests of the company and its
investors. Indeed, if there is one thing upon which Reading, the Cotter siblings, the activist
investors, and the rest of the Board all agree, it is on Gould’s independence—a position
exemplified by his unpopular “no” vote on Plaintiff’s termination.

Despite Gould’s sterling record of service to Reading, Plaintiff nonetheless persists in
holding Gould hostage in this family tug-of-war. Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint (“SAC™)
alleges a noxious brew of outright falsehoods against Gould, including the over-the-top claim that
the directors began “looting the company” by approving compensation (SAC, p. 42) and that
Gould “effectively abdicated his responsibilities as a director” (SAC 4| 23) by approving a litany of
corporate acts.

Plaintiffs” apparent theory of the case is that if Gould did not agree with Plaintiff’s

3336794 |
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particular views or disagree with the other Defendants’ positions—regardless of his independent
thoughts—he has breached his fiduciary duties. This theory is, on its face, nonsensical. As a legal
matter, Nevada law is absolutely clear that directors are protected against personal liability for
erroneous (or even bad) decisions so long as they do not involve fraud, intentional misconduct,
or a knowing violation of the law. Here, after dozens of depositions and tens of thousands of
pages of discovery, there is not even one fefa of evidence that Gould acted with this culpable
mens rea. To the contrary, even the activist shareholders who intervened in this case and the Korn
Ferry search firm admitted in deposition that Gould took his role seriously and acted in what he
believed to be the best interests of the company. There is simply no evidence to create a genuine
material issue on this foundational requirement, and for this reason alone, the claims against
Gould should be summarily adjudicated.

On the factual merits of whether there was a breach of duty in the first instance, Plaintiff’s
claims against Gould fare no better. With respect to each and every one of Gould’s seven alleged
predicate violations (see SAC 9 179), there is no evidence whatsoever that Gould was unduly
influenced, acted pursuant to a conflict or acted in bad faith in any way. Rather, again, Plaintiff
simply imputes bad faith based solely on the ultimate position that Gould took on the issues that
were before the Board. This manner of proof is insufficient to prove Plaintiffs’ claim under
Nevada law—and common sense. As a result, Gould should be released from this case and
summary judgment should be entered.

IL. STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS
A. The Cotter Siblings Become Embroiled in Conflict Following the Death of
Their Father, Reading CEO and Chairman, James Cotter, Sr.

Cotter, Sr. was the dominant figure at Reading up until his death. As the controlling

shareholder of Reading, he served as its CEO for nearly 15 years and as Chairman of the Board for

more than 20 years. Exh. 27 at 285." Given his ownership, Cotter, Sr. hand-selected all board

All references to “Exh.” are to the exhibits attached to the Declaration of Shoshana E. Bannett
in Support of Defendant William Gould’s Motion for Summary Judgment, filed concurrently
herewith in the Appendix of Exhibits, Exhibit B.
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members. /d. at 290-291. He operated Reading in a "wheel and spoke” style, in which all
Reading employees reported to him, and it “was his show.” Exh. 36 at 166:13-18; 169:17-19.

After presiding over Reading for well over a decade, Cotter, Sr. resigned from all of his
positions at Reading on August 7, 2014, and passed away on September 13, 2014, throwing
Reading into a time of transition and uncertainty. Exh. 28 at 325. Cotter, Sr.’s son, Cotter, Jr.,
was appointed CEO following his father’s resignation. /d. In deciding to appoint Cotter, Jr.,
Reading’s Board of Directors did not conduct any search or consider any other candidates.

Exh. 36 at 191:22-192:14. Nor did they consider or review any materials regarding selecting

a CEO. Id. at 177:1-4. The Board never debated his qualifications or whether he was the best
person for the job.” Instead, the Board appointed Cotter, Jr. CEO based on the Board’s
understanding that Cotter, Sr., the controlling shareholder, wanted his son to succeed him as CEO.
Id. at 162:3-7.

The Board members who appointed Cotter, Jr. were the same Board members who later
voted to terminate him—with the exception of Gould. /d. at 177:5-8. Although Cotter, Jr. claims
to have had concerns about the independence of certain directors at the time of his appointment, he
never voiced any such concerns. /d. at 177:9-16. Despite this lack of process and purported lack
of independence, Cotter, Jr. admits that his appointment as CEO was consistent with the fiduciary
duty that the directors owed to the Reading shareholders. /d. at 191:8-13.

Following the death of Cotter, Sr., the Cotter siblings—Cotter, Jr., Chairman of the
Reading Board Ellen Cotter, and Board Member and Reading Consultant Margaret Cotter—
became embroiled in a dispute over Cotter, Sr.’s estate, which would determine control over
Reading. See Exh. 41 at 65:8-66:6. As a result, the issues between the siblings relating to the

estate matters “permeated the company” and “spread to employees.” Exh. 37 at 321:23-24.

Citations to exhibits containing excerpts of deposition transcripts refer to the original
deposition transcript page.

Cotter, Jr.’s only relevant experience consisted of having been a director, being familiar with
the assets and businesses of Reading, and having done (in his opinion) a good job in his year as
president. Exh. 38 at 584:2-19. Cotter, Jr. believed his appointment to CEO was appropriate,
because he had been “working under the expectation” that he would be his father’s successor.
Exh. 36 at 193:9-15.
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Cotter, Jr. raised complaints against his two sisters, and his two sisters reported complaints about
Cotter, Jr. Id. at 316:22-25.

As a result of this dysfunction, Reading’s Board stepped in to mediate.® In March 2015,
Gould and the other non-Cotter directors appointed Director Tim Storey to serve as an
“ombudsman” to work with and coach Cotter, Jr. and help mediate disputes between Cotter, Jr,
and Ellen and Margaret Cotter, and to report back to the Board regarding the progress. Exh. 1 at
3; Exh. 41 at 118:1-119:6; 119:17-120:2.

B. Cotter, Jr. Is Terminated as CEO Over the Objection and No Vote of Gould.

In May 20135, after several months of attempted mediation by Storey, Ellen Cotter
circulated an agenda for a Board meeting with the first item reading “Status of President and
C.E.O.” Exh. 6 at 30; Exh. 35 at 171:22-172:25. The agenda was meant to serve as a predicate
for a motion to terminate Cotter, Jr. as the president and CEO. Exh. 41 at 136:21-137:7. At the
time the agenda was circulated, Ellen Cotter had discussed terminating Cotter, Jr. with Guy
Adams, Ed Kane, Douglas McEachern and Margaret Cotter—but not with Gould. Exh. 35 at
176:1-8. In fact, this agenda item was the first time that Gould was informed that any of the Board
was considering terminating Cotter, Jr. as CEO. Exh. 41 at 109:22-110:8.

Upon further discussion at the Board Meeting that took place on May 21, 2015, Ellen and
Margaret Cotter, Adams, Kane, and McEachern made clear that they believed they had given
Cotter, Jr. enough time to improve his management and that they intended to terminate him. /d. at
123:6-21. Despite the strongly expressed feelings of the majority of the Board, Gould spoke out
against terminating Cotter, Jr. Gould told the Board that he believed that they should give Cotter,
Jr. more time and that the ombudsman process and Storey’s final report should be completed
before any vote. /d. at 123:6-21; Exh. 2 at 7. Ultimately, Cotter, Jr. was not terminated at that
Board meeting.

The Board then reconvened on two subsequent occasions to further discuss his

At that time, in addition to the Cotter siblings, the Board consisted of Ed Kane, Douglas
McEachern, Guy Adams, Tim Storey, and William Gould. Gould was the lead independent
director. Exh. 28 at 328-31; Exh. 41 at 12:11-15.
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termination: first on May 29, 2015, and then on June 12, 2015. Exhs. 3; 7 at 31-33. After
extensive discussions at the June 12 meeting, the issue was finally put to a vote and Cotter, Jr. was
terminated as CEO and president by a vote of five to three. Gould voted against terminating
Cotter, Jr. Exh. 7 at 33; Exh. 32 at 510:19-23. Immediately thereafter, the Board considered and
voted to appoint Ellen Cotter, Jr. to the position of interim CEO. Gould voted in favor of Ellen
Cotter's appointment. Ex. 7 at 33-34.

C. After Gould Declines an Offer to Serve on Reading’s Executive Committee,

the Board Approves a Reconstituted Committee.

After voting to terminate Cotter, Jr., the Reading Board also voted to reconstitute the
existing Executive Committee and issue a new charter. Exh. 7 at 34. Ellen Cotter asked Gould to
be on the Executive Committee, but Gould declined. Exh. 41 at 25:15-20. The Board then
approved a new Executive Committee, consisting of Margaret Cotter, Ellen Cotter, Ed Kane and
Guy Adams, and delegated to the Executive Committee “the authority to take any and all actions
that the Board may take (other than as restricted by Nevada law and the Bylaws of the Company)
between the regular and special meetings of the Board of Directors.” Exh. 7 at 34. The Board
voted 7-1 in favor of the new Executive Committee, with Ellen and Margaret Cotter, Adams,
Kane, McEachern, Storey, and Gould all supporting the measure. /d. Only Cotter, Jr. voted
against. /d.

Gould had no concerns that reconstituting the Executive Committee would shuttle board
decisions over to a smaller group. Exh. 41 at 28:3-12. Gould knew that many corporations have
executive committees, and he recognized that any major decisions of the Executive Committee
would still have to be reported to the full Board. /d. Gould believed that, just as a CEO cannot
make major decisions without approval from the Board, the Executive Committee would not be
able to make major decisions without having them vetted by the Board. Exh. 41 at 28:22-29:7.

D. After Gould Disagrees with Decision to Force Out Storey, the Board

Nominates Codding and Wrotniak for Open Board Seats.
Several months after Ellen Cotter was appointed Interim CEQ, Director Storey resigned

from the Reading Board after being informed that he would not be re-nominated. The other
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directors on the Board, with the exception of Gould, had lost confidence in Storey. Exh. 41 at
175:14-24. For example, Adams and Kane felt that Storey, while well-intentioned, increased
divisiveness among the Cotters through his role as ombudsman. Exh. 33 at 274:17-277:20.
Gould, however, still had confidence in Storey. Exh. 41 at 175:14-24. Gould did not play any
role in Storey’s departure; he was informed after-the-fact. Exh. 42 at 442:15-443:3.

Because the Board had not yet nominated anyone to fill the gap left by a former director,
Storey’s resignation meant that there were two open slots on the Board. Exh. 15 at 144, As
a “Controlled Company” under SEC rules, Reading was not required to have a nominating
committee, given that the controlling shareholder could determine the Board composition
unilaterally. /d. at 324. Historically, Reading had not maintained a nominating committee and the
directors were identified and recommended by Cotter, Sr., then approved by the Board. Exh. 27 at
290-291.

Despite the fact that a nominating committee was not required, in October 2015, Reading
established a Special Nominating Committee and delegated to it the authority to interview, review
the backgrounds of potential candidates, and make recommendations regarding nominees.

Exh. 15 at 145. Directors Adams, Kane, and McEachern served as the members of the Special
Nominating Committee. /d.

Ellen Cotter initially recommended Judy Codding to serve as a director. Adams, Kane and
McEachern all met with Codding, believed she would be a good addition to the Board based on
her business background and general demeanor, and recommended her appointment. /d. at 144;
Exh. 46 at 349:18-24, 350:16-25; Exh. 34 at 311:15-312:24. Codding, who has a doctorate in
education, was an entrepreneur who helmed a successful education company. Exh. 28 at 329. She
also had experience serving on boards.” /d. Although Codding did not have experience in real

estate or cinema, Reading had never had any formal criteria requiring particular qualifications or

> Codding came to Ellen Cotter’s attention because Codding was friends with Mary Cotter, the

Cotter siblings’ mother. Ellen Cotter herself was not close to Codding and had met Codding
between 5 and 10 times over 15 years. Exh. 34 at 307:19-308:7. The friendship between Codding
and Mary Cotter was disclosed to the other Board members. Exh. 42. at 454:24-455:5. Codding
also had a pre-existing relationship with Cotter, Jr. Cotter, Jr. had asked Codding for her help
getting his child admitted to a private school. Exh. 46 at 353:3-10.
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skills that needed to be represented on the Board.® Exh. 27 at 291; Exh. 38 at 808:7-15. The
Board approved the recommendation and elected Codding to the Board with a vote of 6-1 with
Ellen and Margaret Cotter, Adams, Kane, McEachern, and Gould voting in favor, Storey
abstaining, and Cotter, Jr. voting against.

After Codding was elected, a shareholder emailed the Board and indicated that Codding
had been involved in a scandal involving iPads at the LAUSD. Exh. 46 at 354:11-355:11.
Although the Special Nominating Committee had conducted a background check on Codding, this
information was not known to the Directors at the time Codding was elected. /d. at 354:11-55:11;
357:18-58:13: Exh. 41 at 177:13-78:12. The Special Nominating Committee followed up by
instructing in-house counsel Craig Tompkins to investigate the allegations, and he found
additional information that had not been communicated by the shareholder. Exh. 46 at 365:5-14.

After reviewing this new information, the Special Nominating Committee then had
a lengthy interview with Judy Codding. In his role as lead director, Gould participated in the
interview. /d. at 364:15-21; 365; Ex. 41 at 178:15-179:1. During the interview, Codding
explained the iPad situation to the satisfaction of the Board. /d. at 374:5-11; Exh. 41 at
178:15-179:23 (testifying that he concluded that it was a “political thing” with no substance to the
allegations). After further discussion and consideration, the Board then supported her nomination
for re-election to the Board. /d.

The Special Nominating Committee then considered Michael Wrotniak who had been
proposed by Margaret Cotter. The Special Nominating Committee had been considering and
interviewed a candidate recommended by Cotter, Jr., but that candidate withdrew himself from
consideration. Exh. 33 at 296:23-301:6. Margaret Cotter knew Wrotniak through a mutual friend.

Exh. 39 at 320:16-321:9. This relationship was disclosed to the Board and Wrotniak informed

®  This has always been the case. For example, at the time that Cotter, Jr. was appointed to the

Board in 2002, Reading’s principal business was real estate. Exh. 36 at 137:20-25. Cotter, Jr. did
not have any business experience with real estate when he was appointed to the Board. /d. at
138:3-16. Even though he did not have any experience with Reading’s business, Cotter, Jr.
believes that his appointment to the Reading Board was appropriate. /d. at 138:20-139:4. Cotter,
Jr. agrees that in some circumstances it is appropriate for the Board to conclude that someone is
suitable for a board position even though they do not have all of the preferred characteristics of

a board member. /d. at 139:5-16.
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Adams that he was independent and would always vote his mind. Exh. 33 at 268:19-23; Exh. 42
at 454:18-455:5.

The Special Nominating Committee interviewed Wrotniak before recommending him.
Exh. 43 at 64:8-20; Exh. 46 at 382:1-10; Exh. 33 at 267:7-24. Although Wrotniak did not have
a background in real estate or cinema, he had experience in finance and was CEO of a privately
held commodities trading company. Exh. 33 at 265:8-266:14; Exh. 28 at 330. His finance
background was important to the directors and he was later put on the Audit Committee. Exh. 35
at 69:6-10. The Special Nominating Committee also conducted a background check on Wrotniak.
Exh. 46 at 384:4-385:1. After the Special Nominating Committee recommended Wrotniak, the
Board voted to elect him to the Board by a vote of 7-1, with Cotter, Jr. voting against. Exh. 16 at
148.

Gould’s involvement was not remarkable, except that he did express a concern that the
Board was given a limited amount of time to consider their nominations. In response, Ellen Cotter
explained to him that the compressed time period was necessary because of the impending Proxy
Statement deadline and because the Special Nominating Committee had waited to involve the full
Board until it was clear they would be going forward with a candidate. Exh. 41 at 171:16-22;
174:16-23. Gould was satisfied by that response. See id. Gould thereafter supported both
Codding and Wrotniak for a variety of reasons but, in part, because there had been a conflict
among the directors and he wanted to prevent the conflict from further festering. Exh. 42 at
488:18-489:23. He also supported Codding and Wrotniak because it was important that the Board
be constituted in a way that would enhance cooperation and have the confidence of the CEO going
forward. Id. As Gould explained, “at this point, the Company had been involved in dispute after
dispute after dispute ... and there was also the factor of trying to get this company back on track.
And I think that’s what I was concerned with in approving the two new directors.” /d.

E. After a Thorough Search, Ellen Cotter Is Appointed Permanent CEO.

After Cotter, Jr.'s termination in June 2015, Reading also immediately began the process of
looking for a permanent CEO. The Board authorized Ellen Cotter to select an external search

firm, and Korn Ferry was engaged. Exhs. 5 at 25; 12 at 132; 35 at 74:6-19. The CEO Search
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Committee was then constituted, consisting of Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, McEachern, and
Gould. Exh. 12 at 132. At the time, Ellen Cotter had not indicated that she was seeking to be
appointed permanent CEO. See Exh. 35 at 84:3-85:4.

The search process began in earnest with Korn Ferry interviewing each of the committee
members in order to draft a position specification based on the characteristics the committee
members were seeking in a CEO. Exh. 44 at 36:20-37:13; Exh. 35 at 78:5-10. Gould took this
process seriously: before the call he reviewed an interview preparation questionnaire, considered
the questions and prepared notes. Exh. 42 at 317:14-23; Exh. 8 at 37. Gould’s interview with
Korn Ferry lasted over an hour. Exh. 42 at 318:10-21. Korn Ferry’s Robert Mayes testified that
he had “sophisticated” conversations with Gould, in which Gould expressed the desire to secure
a patient leader, who could deal well with activist investors. Exh. 44 at 72:21-73:14.

The position specification Korn Ferry subsequently drafted heavily emphasized real estate
development experience. Exh. 9 at 53-56. However, during the selection process, Gould and the
other committee members became convinced that the position specification overemphasized real
estate experience. Exh. 42 at 321:7-15. Cotter, Jr. agreed that the position specification focused
too much on real estate experience, stating that “[t]his is not a CEO specification. That is a CEO
specification for a glorified director of real estate position.” Exh. 17 at 150.

Based on the original position specification, Korn Ferry selected five candidates for the
Committee to interview and circulated candidate profiles. Exh. 10 at 58-59. The interviews were
scheduled to commence in November 2015. Exh. 4 at 15; Exh. 10 at 58-59. Before the first
interview took place, Ellen Cotter realized that she wanted to be considered for the position.

Exh. 35 at 84:3-85:4. As she reviewed the candidate profiles circulated by Korn Ferry, she
thought that she compared favorably to the people Korn Ferry had found. /d. As soon as realized
that she wanted to be considered, she called Korn Ferry and told them of her intention and also
that she would be withdrawing from the CEO Search Committee. /d. at 91:18-92:12; see Exh. 42
at 357:18-24. Ellen Cotter then withdrew from the Committee before any interviews took place.
Exh. 35 at 113:11-18; Exh. 42 at 356:1-12. Gould was subsequently appointed chair of the search
committee. Exh. 42 at 431:4-14; Exh. 4 at 16; Exh. 11 at 123,

3336794 9

DEFENDANT WILLIAM GOULD’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

JAS591




= W 2

Rl B o e N = S

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

In November 2015, the search committee interviewed four candidates. Exh. 42 at
360:8-22. Gould was impressed with the candidates. /d. at 348:23-355:25. The search committee
subsequently interviewed three additional candidates, including Ellen Cotter and a new candidate
identified by Korn Ferry. /d. at 360:8-22. Ellen Cotter was the last candidate interviewed. /d. at
361:23-24. Gould and McEachern led the interview of Ellen Cotter, which lasted about
45 minutes and focused on her thoughts about the future of Reading. /d. at 363:3-23. Following
Ellen Cotter’s interview, Gould told the Committee that in his view, even though all the candidates
had been good, he thought that Ellen Cotter made the most sense for the company. As Gould
explained,

[S]he had a great reputation, the people liked her at the company. We all enjoyed

our own -- we all thought highly of her, every one of us. She is intelligent. She had

the kind of a personality that could help get through some of these difficulties

dealing with other people. And she had theatrical experience. She was willing to

bring in real estate help. And that this was a very tough time to bring in somebody

from the outside given the fact that no one knew who would actually control this

company a year down the line. And for all those reasons, you know, it became

apparent to me, my -- I just said, ‘This makes the most sense for the company.’

Id. at 368:8-24; see also Exh. 41 at 55:14-21 (“Ellen was the type of person who would continue
the continuity.”). McEachern agreed. Exh. 42 at 368:25-369:1.

Given these conclusions, the CEO Search Committee told Korn Ferry not to perform the
proprietary assessment. /d. at 306:9-17; Exh. 46 at 471:13-20. The Committee members did not
believe they needed Korn Ferry’s assessment of Ellen Cotter, since they knew her so well.

Exh. 42 at 406:10-21. Indeed, Korn Ferry admitted that their assessment would not be useful as
an evaluation tool for Ellen Cotter, but only as an onboarding tool. Exh. 44 at 67:3-9, The
Committee subsequently instructed Korn Ferry to stop work until the Board discussed the
recommendation of Ellen Cotter, in order to avoid further costs. Exh. 42 at 405:2-14; Exh. 44 at
67:10-18. . Ultimately, Reading saved $35,000 by avoiding the assessment process. Exh. 19.

On December 29, 2015, the Committee members met again to discuss recommending
Ellen Cotter for permanent CEQ. Exh. 11; Exh. 4 at 17-20. Among the reasons they discussed for

recommending her was the scope and extent of her knowledge of Reading and her performance to

date as interim CEO. /d. Exh. 42 at 432:7-24 (summary of discussion in Exh. 4 is accurate).
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Following the discussion, the Committee held a formal vote. Exh. 11; Exh. 4 at 18. Margaret
Cotter abstained, and Gould and McEachern voted in favor of recommending Ellen Cotter.
Exhs. 4 at 20; 11 at 125.

The full Board subsequently met, and after a discussion about the CEO search process,
Ellen Cotter, and the other candidates, the Board voted to approve Ellen Cotter as permanent CEO.
Exh. 14 at 141; Exh. 42 at 423:24-424:19. The vote was 7-1, with Ellen Cotter not participating
and Cotter, Jr. voting no. /d.

F. In Consultation with an Expert Firm and the Compensation Committee, the

Board Approves Executive Compensation and Other Payments.

In March 2016, the Board approved a new schedule for executive compensation, which
was recommended by the Compensation Committee. Exh. 18 at 161-162. The Compensation
Committee, which at that time consisted of Kane, Codding, and Adams, evaluated compensation
considerations with the assistance of an expert firm in the field of executive compensation, Willis
Tower Watson, and Reading’s outside lawyers at Greenberg Traurig. Exh. 25 at 209. The
Compensation Committee engaged in extensive discussions with Willis Tower Watson regarding
executive pay arrangements. /d. The Willis Tower Watson analysis indicated that the total
compensation that had been paid to Ellen Cotter was below the 25™ percentile in comparison to
similar companies. /d. at 211. As a result, the Compensation Committee recommended certain
increases in the pay of Ellen Cotter and other executives. /d. at 214. Gould relied on the work of
the Compensation Committee and experts Willis Tower Watson in approving Ellen and Margaret
Cotter’s pay. Gould Decl. 4 2.” Notably, no one voted against Ellen and Margaret Cotter’s
compensation, including Cotter, Jr. Exh. 18 at 162.

In addition, both the Audit Committee (Kane, Wrotniak, and McEachern) and the
Compensation Committee reviewed, considered, and recommended a one-time payment of
$200,000 to Margaret Cotter to compensate her for work undertaken beyond her consulting

agreement and in consideration for certain releases and waivers granted by her company as part of

7 “Gould Decl.” refers to the Declaration of William Gould in Sutpport of Gould’s Motion for

Summary Judgment, filed concurrently herewith in the Appendix of Exhibits, Exhibit A.
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the termination agreement between Reading and her company. Exh. 25 at 208. Gould relied on
the assessment of both the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee in approving this
one-time payment. Gould Decl. § 3.

Finally, in March 2016, Ellen Cotter recommended a one-time $50,000 bonus to Guy
Adams because Adams had rendered extraordinary services and devoted significant amounts of
time beyond what was typical for a board member. Exh. 18 at 163. His services included
assisting Ellen Cotter during her transition to interim and then permanent CEO, advising on
investor relations, traveling to New York to assist in the evaluation of the Union Square Project,
assisting with other potential transactions, and significant time spent on the Compensation
Committee and the Executive Committee. /d. Reading had previously issued one-time payments
when a Board member spent an unusually large amount of time on Reading business. Exh. 28 at
331. The $50,000 bonus to Adams was in the range of such prior payments. /d. The Board
approved the payment by a vote of 7-1 with Adams not participating and Cotter, Jr. voting against.
Exh. 18 at 163.

G. Gould Opines that Adams Should Not Serve on the Compensation Committee,

and Reading Follows His Opinion.

Before Cotter, Jr. was appointed CEO of Reading, he admits that he was concerned that
Adams’ finances meant that he was not independent. Exh. 36 at 177:9-12; 177: 21-23;
178:20-180:4. However, he did not express his concerns to anyone when the Board met to appoint
him as CEO. Exh. 36 at 181:2-8. And despite these purported concerns, Cotter, Jr. did nothing to
investigate Adams’ independence for the next eight months. Exh. 38 at 643:15-644:2; 647-648.
Only when Cotter, Jr. realized that Adams intended to vote to terminate him as CEO did he begin
investigating Adams” finances. At that time, Cotter, Jr. purportedly learned that the money Adams
was receiving from Cotter-controlled entities represented a significant portion of his overall
income. Exh. 36 at 182:6-18; Exh. 38 at 644:3-645:25.

At the May 21, 2015 Board meeting (the first meeting where the directors discussed
terminating Cotter, Jr.), Cotter, Jr. first raised the issue of Adams’ independence. Exh. 2. He also

asserted that Kane was not independent. /d. Cotter, Jr. did not provide details regarding Adams’
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purported lack of independence, other than to summarily assert that a large portion of Adams’
income derived from Cotter-controlled entities. /d.; Exh. 41 at 30:24-31:7. Gould had no direct
knowledge regarding Adams’ income or net worth. Exh. 41 at 31:10-17. All of the Board
members filled out D&O questionnaires, which contained their financial disclosures, and turned
them in to Reading counsel. Exh. 42 at 449:16-450:9. Gould believed that Reading counsel was
vetting these questionnaires for issues such as financial dependence. /d. And so at that time he
did not inquire into Adams further, given that the Board members had a practice of not inquiring
into each other’s finances and of allowing conflict issues to be resolved by counsel. /d.

Following Adams’ deposition in this case, Gould directly learned that a great percentage of
Adams’ income came from Reading and the Cotter family. Exh. 41 at 31:18-32:8. Gould was
then asked by Reading counsel Tompkins and Ellen Cotter whether, with this information, Gould
considered Adams independent for the purpose of serving on the Compensation Committee.

Exh. 41 at 32:9-15. Gould informed Tompkins and Ellen Cotter that he did not believe so because
if Adams’ livelihood depended on Reading and the Cotter family, he could not be independent in
voting on the compensation of Cotter family members. Exh. 41 at 32:11-15; 33:14-34:7. Shortly
thereafter, Adams resigned from the Compensation Committee. Exh. 41 at 36:8-10.

H. Reading’s Management Is Responsible for Issuing SEC Filings.

In the approximately 15 months since Cotter, Jr. was terminated, Reading filed numerous
filings with the SEC, including Form 8-K filings and Proxy Statements. See, e.g., Exhs. 21-25;
28-29. Gould did not sign any of the challenged Form 8-K filings or Proxy Statements. /d.
Reading’s counsel submitted drafts of the Form 8-K filings and Proxy Statements to the Board
before filing them. Exh. 42 at 269:24-271:11. Gould’s practice was to review the drafts if there
was sufficient time before the filing deadline and provide counsel with comments or corrections, if
he had any. /d. Gould relied on Reading’s lawyers to decide if and when a disclosure in an SEC
filing was required. /d. at 402:12-403:18. When Gould reviewed proxy statements, he looked at
and verified facts related to him and then the only the most important parts to the extent he had
personal knowledge. Exh. 41 at 179:17-180:9; Exh. 42 at 460:11-461:2. Gould relied on

Reading’s lawyers and the directors and executives most directly involved to vet the information
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in the SEC filings as to those matters that he did not have direct involvement or knowledge.
Exh. 41 at 181:10-182:7; Exh. 42 at 449:16-450:9; 460:1-462:18; 467:2-13.
II1. ARGUMENT

A. Standard Of Review

Rule 56(c) of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure specifically authorizes the granting of
summary judgment when “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and ... the moving party
is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” NRCP 56 (c); Sustainable Growth Initiative
Committee v. Jumpers, LLC, 122 Nev. 53, 128 P.3d 452, 458 (2006). “[I]n order to defeat
summary judgment, the nonmoving party must transcend the pleadings and, by affidavit or other
admissible evidence, introduce specific facts that show a genuine issue of material fact.” Cuzze
v. Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of Nevada, 123 Nev. 598, 603, 172 P.3d 131, 134 (2007). “A factual
dispute is genuine when the evidence is such that a rational trier of fact could return a verdict for
the nonmoving Party.” Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 731, 121 P.3d 1026, 1031 (2005).

B. Plaintiff Must Meet an Extremely High Burden to Hold Gould Liable for

Breach of Fiduciary Duty in Nevada.

A claim for breach of fiduciary duty has three elements: (1) the existence of a fiduciary
duty; (2) the breach of the duty; and (3) damages proximately caused by the breach. Klein v.
Freedom Strategic Partners, LLC, 595 F. Supp. 2d 1152, 1162 (D. Nev. 2009). Nevada
recognizes two distinct types of fiduciary duties in the corporate context: (1) the duty of care; and
(2) the duty of loyalty. Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 122 Nev. 621, 632 (2006).

Directors are given broad protections when facing such claims. Under the business
judgment rule, there is a presumption that a director is acting properly. See id. at 636; Nev. Rev.
Stat. § 78.138 (“Directors and officers, in deciding upon matters of business, are presumed to act
in good faith, on an informed basis and with a view to the interests of the corporation.”). The
business judgment rule protects the distinction between ordinary negligence—which is insulated
from liability—and actionable gross negligence. See F.D.I.C. v. Jacobs, No. 3:13—-CV-00084-
RCJ, 2014 WL 5822873, at *4 (D. Nev. Nov. 10, 2014).

Accordingly, a board’s “decisions will not be disturbed if they can be attributed to any
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rational business purpose.” Sinclair Oil Corp. v. Levien, 280 A.2d 717, 720 (Del. 1971). “[E]ven
a bad decision is generally protected by the business judgment rule’s presumption.” Shoen, 122
Nev. at 636. “[O]vercoming the business judgment rules requires the articulation of facts that
suggest a wide disparity between the processes the director used and that which would have been
rational. In other words, the complaint must allege facts establishing a decision that is so
unreasonable that it seems essentially inexplicable on any ground other than bad faith.” /n re
AgFeed USA, LLC, 546 B.R. 318, 330 (Bankr. D. Del. 2016) (applying Nevada law).

Even if Cotter, Jr. is able to meet this high initial threshold, he must prove additional facts
as to Gould's conduct as a director. This is because, under Nevada law, Gould still cannot be
liable, unless the breach of fiduciary duty also involved intentional misconduct, fraud, or
a knowing violation of the law. Shoen, 122 Nev. at 640; Nev. Rev. Stat. § 78.138(7).

Here, all the relevant evidence proves that Gould was operating safely within the business
judgment rule and attempting to make the best decisions for Reading under extremely difficult
circumstances—nothing more and nothing less. And there are no cognizable facts from which
a fact-finder could infer that Gould acted with negligence, much less intentional misconduct,
fraud, or a knowing violation of the law.

C. Gould’s Conduct with Respect to Plaintiff’s Termination Was Not a Breach of

Fiduciary Duty Involving Intentional Misconduct, Fraud, or a Knowing
Violation of the Law,

Cotter, Jr.’s primary claim in this case is that the Board acted improperly when they
terminated him. Preposterously, he is still pursuing a claim against Gould for breach of fiduciary
duty relating to the termination, even though there is no dispute that Gould voted against
terminating Cotter, Jr. Exh. 32 at 510:19-23. Given this undisputed fact, Cotter, Jr. cannot
establish that Gould breached any duty with respect to his termination, let alone that Gould’s
conduct involved intentional misconduct, fraud, or a knowing violation of law. Cotter Jr.’s claims
against Gould relating to his termination should be summarily adjudicated.

D. Gould’s Conduct in Approving a Reconstituted Executive Committee Was Not

a Breach of Fiduciary Duty Involving Intentional Misconduct, Fraud, or
a Knowing Violation of the Law.

Cotter, Jr. also alleges that Gould breached his fiduciary duty in approving the
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reconstituted Executive Committee because the purpose in doing so was to limit the participation
of Gould, Storey, and Plaintiff in Reading’s corporate governance. SAC 4 99, 183(c). Setting
aside the absurdity of assessing liability against Gould because he limited his own participation,
Cotter Jr.’s theory is completely belied by the undisputed fact that Gould was asked to serve on
the Executive Committee. Exh. 41 at 25:15-20. He chose not to serve simply because the time
commitment was too extensive. /d. Because Gould was in fact asked to serve on the Executive
Committee, it is clear that the purpose was not to exclude Gould, Storey, and Cotter, Jr.

At any rate, Cotter, Jr. cannot show that Gould’s decision to approve a reconstituted
Executive Committee was “so unreasonable that it seems essentially inexplicable on any ground
other than bad faith,” let alone that Gould’s approval involved intentional misconduct, fraud, or
a knowing violation of the law. Gould testified that he approved the Executive Committee
because many corporations have executive committees. Exh. 41 at 28:3-12. Gould was not
concerned about giving authority to a smaller group because the decisions would still be reported
to the full Board, and he trusted the members of the committee not to make major decisions
without Board input. Exh. 41 at 28:22-29:7. There is nothing unreasonable about approving
a governance structure that is routinely used at corporations across the country. Cotter, Jr.’s
claims regarding the Executive Committee must also be summarily adjudicated.

E. Gould’s Conduct with Respect to the Appointment of Directors Codding and

Wrotniak Was Not a Breach of Fiduciary Duty Involving Intentional
Misconduct, Fraud, or a Knowing Violation of the Law.

Cotter, Jr. contends that Gould breached his fiduciary duty in appointing Codding and
Wrotniak. He argues that Wrotniak did not possess any qualifications other than a personal
relationship with a friend of Margaret Cotter, and that Codding did not possess any qualifications
other than a personal relationship with the Cotter siblings” mother. SAC 4 121-133; 177(c). He
also argues that Board members should be required to have real estate or cinema experience. /d.
These claims are fatally flawed.

When Cotter, Jr. himself was appointed to the Board, he too lacked such experience and
was appointed because he was the controlling shareholder's son. Exh. 36 at 137:20-139:4. Indeed,

there is no dispute that Cotter, Sr. regularly and properly selected Reading’s Board members based
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on friendships and family relationships—not on business experience in Reading’s industry.
Exh. 43 at 29:4-23; Exh. 36 at 137:20-138:16. In more than 10 years on the Board, Cotter, Jr.
never challenged any of his father’s appointments, even if they were his father’s friends and
lacked experience in Reading’s substantive areas of business. See Exh. 27 at 287-288.

Beyond the disingenuousness of his claims, the law does not require specific experience or
background to serve on the Reading Board. Under Nevada law, the only requirements to serve on
a board is that a director be at least 18 years of age and a natural person. Nev. Rev. Stat. § 78.115.
And Cotter, Jr. knew that Reading did not require that its directors have any additional
qualifications. Exh. 38 at 808:7-15; Exh. 27 at 291. Reading clearly disclosed the fact that it had
no particular requirements for directors to its shareholders.® Exh. 27 at 291. Here, it is undisputed
that Wrotniak and Codding are over the age of 18 and natural persons. Exh. 28 at 328. The
appointment of Wrotniak and Codding therefore complied with both Nevada law and Reading’s
bylaws.

Reading’s status as a “Controlled Company” under the NASDAQ Listing Rules reinforces
the propriety of the Wrotniak and Codding appointments.” Exh. 28 at 326. In a "Controlled
Company," the controlling shareholder has the right to select directors by virtue of their
ownership rights. NASDAQ Listing Rule IM-5615-5. As such, the fact that Wrotniak and
Codding, both experienced business people, had tangential personal relationships with Margaret
and Ellen Cotter, or that they were recommended by Margaret and Ellen Cotter, does not
somehow render them unqualified to serve on the Board. This is especially true here where the
relationships are so limited that they do not even call into question Codding’s and Wrotniak’s

independence. Beam ex rel. Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia, Inc. v. Stewart, 845 A.2d 1040,

®  Shareholders who were unhappy that there were no particular qualifications required for

directors had a remedy — they could sell their stock. Brehm v. Eisner, 746 A.2d 244, 256 (Del.
2000) (Stockholders who disdain the composition of a board can “make[e] individual buy-sell
decisions involving [the company’s] securities™).

i Although Cotter, Jr. appears to allege that despite numerous SEC filings, which all state that

Reading is a “Controlled Company,” Reading is not actually controlled, the undisputed facts
establish that Reading has been and is controlled by the Cotter family. Indeed, Cotter, Ji’s own
expert witness opined that “[a] Delaware Court would likely consider EC and MC to be
controlling stockholders.” Exh. 31 at 494.
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1050 (Del. 2004) (affinities between Directors and Officers, whether “they arise before board
membership or later as a result of collegial relationships among the board of directors” do not,
standing alone, impede independence). And even where the relationship between the director and
the controlling shareholder is much more significant, “[t]here is no obligation to draw the
conclusion that family ties and experience at non-profits are inadequate qualifications to serve as
a director of a public company.” Friedman v. Dolan, No. CV 9425-VCN, 2015 WL 4040806, at
*11 & n.77 (Del. Ch. June 30, 2015) (“Friedman”’)." Stockholders should generally be given
latitude to determine whether directors are qualified to serve. Oberly v. Kirby, 592 A.2d 445, 469
(Del. 1991). And because “judges are not equipped to evaluate whether an individual is qualified
to serve on a given board,” courts should be “reluctant to create a standard whereby any director
related to a controller must prove her worth and qualifications in court.” Friedman, 2015 WL
4040806 at *11 & n.77

Cotter, Jr.'s additional complaint as to these appointments is that the decision was made on
a short timeframe. Setting aside the fact that Gould was the one who raised this concern, Cotter,
Jr. further ignores the fact that there was a rational business reason to consider Codding and
Wrotniak on an expedited basis. Ellen Cotter explained to Gould that the compressed time period
was necessary because of the impending deadline to file a proxy statement. Exh. 41 at 171:16-22;
174:16-23. Gould understood and accepted this urgency and made a decision in the time
available. See id. As corporate governance expert Dr. Alfred E. Osborne explained, making
a decision on an expedited basis under these circumstances was consistent with good corporate
governance because there is value to the stockholders in being able to vote on a full slate of
directors. Exh. 30 at 448,

With respect to Codding only, Cotter, Jr. contends Gould breached his fiduciary duty
because Gould did not cause a basic, competent public records search or other satisfactory
diligence, which would have turned up the iPad scandal, before approving Codding. SAC 4 126.

But here, Reading utilized a Special Nominating Committee to vet board candidates. Exh. 28 at

% Delaware unreported cases have precedential value and may be cited. See Aprahamian v.
HBO & Co., 531 A.2d 1204, 1207 (Del. Ch. 1987)
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326. Gould did not serve on the Special Nominating Committee. /d. The Special Nominating
Committee consisted of Adams, Kane, and McEachern."" /4. Under Nevada law, Gould was
entitled to and did rely on the recommendation of the Special Nominating Committee, who
interviewed the candidates and believed they would be positive additions to the Board. Nev. Rev.
Stat. § 78.138(2)(c) (“In performing their respective duties, directors and officers are entitled to
rely on information, opinions, reports ... that are prepared or presented by ... [a] committee on
which the director or officer relying thereon does not serve ... as to matters within the committee’s
designated authority and matters on which the committee is reasonably believed to merit
confidence.”); Exh. 46 at 349:18-24, 350:16-24, 382-83 (discussing candidates); Exh. 33 at
265:8-267:24 (discussing Wrotniak). Exh. 35 at 69:14-24; Exh. 34 at 311:15-312:24 (discussing
candidates). While Gould did not specifically discuss background checks with the Special
Nominating Committee, it was his understanding that the Special Nominating Committee had
vetted the candidates. Exh. 41 at 177:13-178:14; 203:3-11 (Gould “blindsided” and “a little bit
disappointed” when he learned that the Company had not done its own Google searches)."”

When Gould learned that the background investigation into Codding was incomplete,

" Plaintiff contends that Adams and Kane are not independent. To conserve space, Gould does

not address the allegation as to Adams. That is because even if Adams was not independent, the
Special Nominating Committee’s recommendations were still made by an independent and
disinterested majority. Cotter, Jr. concedes that McEachern is independent. Exh. 36 at 85:6-86:4.
As for Kane, he does not receive any material income from the Company or the Cotters. See

Exh. 43 at 51:19-53:3. Kane had a longstanding friendship with Cotter, Sr. /d. at 29:4-23. He has
known all of the Cotter siblings since childhood, and his relationship was the same with all three.
Id. at 36:5-15. Absent more, Kane’s friendships with the Cotter siblings do not cast doubt on
Kane’s independence. See Louisiana Mun. Police Employees Ret. Sys v. Wynn, No. 2:12-CV-509
JCM GWF, 2013 WL 431339, at*8-*9 (D. Nev. Feb 1, 2013) (applying Nevada law and finding
that allegations of a 40-year friendship and a 30-year friendship are insufficient to rebut

a presumption of independence). Indeed, as the Delaware Supreme court explained, allegations of
a close “friendship must be accompanied by substantially more in the nature of serious
allegations” that would “support the inference that because of the nature of the relationship or
additional circumstances,” the “non-interested director would be more willing to risk his or her
reputation than risk the relationship with the interested director.” Beam ex rel. Martha Stewart
Living Omnimedia, Inc. v. Stewart, 845 A.2d 1040, 1051 (Del. 2004) (allegation that directors
“moved in the same social circles, attended the same weddings, developed business relationships
before joining the board, and described each other as ‘friends’ ... are insufficient, without more, to
rebut the presumption of independence.”). There are no other such “serious allegations™ against
Kane here.

'>" The Special Nominating Committee had asked its usual firm to conduct a background check,
although they apparently did not do a competent job. Exh. 46 at 354:55; 357-58; 358:5-13.
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Gould took immediate steps to remedy the problem. Exh. 41 at 177:13-178:14. Gould took

a more active role in following up with Codding to determine what had happened in the iPad
situation. /d. at 177:17-178:12. Gould participated in a lengthy interview with Codding. /d. By
the end of the interview, he was satisfied that the allegations had been a “political thing” and he
supported Codding’s nomination for re-election to the Board. /d. at 178:5-179:23. Gould acted
reasonably in becoming more involved after the inadequacies of the background check became
clear.

Finally, regardless of whether the appointment of Codding and/or Wrotniak followed best
practices, there is simply no evidence that Gould acted with intentional misconduct, fraud, or
a knowing violation of the law. To the contrary, the evidence shows that Gould supported
Wrotniak and Codding because he believed it was important that “the board become constituted in
a way that will help ... project the company into the future and have the confidence of the CEO of
the company.” Exh. 42 at 489:9-16. Gould explained that “at this point, the Company had been
involved in dispute after dispute after dispute. and there was also the factor of trying to get this
company back on track. And I think that is what I was concerned with in approving the new
directors.” Exh. 42 at 489:17-23. In other words, Gould was doing his best to make the decisions
that he thought were in Reading’s best interest. Given Gould’s clear positive intent, there is no
basis to hold him individually liable for any claims relating to the appointment of Codding and
Wrotniak. Summary judgment on these claims should be granted Gould’s favor.

F. Gould’s Participation on the CEO Search Committee and Vote for Ellen

Cotter Was Not a Breach of His Fiduciary Duty Involving Intentional
Misconduct or Fraud or a Knowing Violation of Law.

Cotter, Jr. alleges that Gould breached his fiduciary duties with respect to the CEO search
by allowing Ellen Cotter to direct the search for a permanent CEO and by firing Korn Ferry in
order to assure the selection of Ellen Cotter and by selecting her as permanent CEO. SAC
9 183(d). Cotter, Jr.’s claim is based on nothing more substantive than his anger that the Board
replaced him with his older sister. The undisputed evidence demonstrates that Reading’s CEO
search was adequately conducted, more thorough than previous CEO searches, and led to the

selection of a competent CEO that independent shareholders have not objected to. There was no
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breach of duty here.
1. The CEO search was conducted appropriately.

The evidence shows a CEO search that was reasonable and appropriate under the
circumstances. Reading retained a professional search firm, Korn Ferry. Exh. 5. Although
Cotter, Jr. complains that Ellen Cotter was in charge of the selection, he does not contend that
Korn Ferry was not qualified to assist with an executive search.” The Board then selected
a search committee consisting of Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, McEachern, and Gould. It is
undisputed that McEachern and Gould are independent. Exh. 36 at 79:12-80:8; 85:6-86:4."* And
the search process was reasonably thorough and appropriate. It consisted of:

o Meeting with Korn Ferry to help put together a position specification. Exh. 44 at
37:7-18; Exh. 35 at 78:5-10.

o Interviewing all of the candidates recommended by Korn Ferry. Exh. 42 at
348:23-355:25; 360:8-22.

° Interviewing Ellen Cotter after she decided that she wanted to be considered.
Exh. 42 at 361:15-24.

s Causing Ellen Cotter to withdraw from the Search Committee when she announced
she wanted to be considered. Ellen Cotter did not take part in any candidate
interviews or deliberations about particular candidates. Exh. 35 at 91:19-92:12;
96:5-17.

o Discussing the relative merits of the external candidates against Ellen Cotter.
Exhs. 4 at 16; 11 at 123-124.

» Selecting Ellen Cotter based on her job performance to date, her personality,
knowledge of the Company and the stability she offered, among other factors.
Exh. 42 at 368:4-369:10; Exhs. 4; 11. Gould and McEachern were unanimous in
favor of Ellen Cotter. Out of an abundance of caution, Margaret Cotter did not
participate in the vote. /d.

. Circulating a report to the full Board and gresenting the Search Committee’s
recommendation. Exh. 14 at 139; Exh. 42 at 423:24-424:15 A majority of the
independent and disinterested directors then voted to appoint Ellen Cotter as
permanent CEQ. 1d.””

13 Indeed, when Cotter, Jr. was CEO, he retained Korn Ferry to help with his search for a senior

real estate executive. Exh. 44 at 20:16-19.

""" According to Korn Ferry, there is also nothing unusual about having an interim CEO, such as

Ellen Cotter, participate on a CEO Search Committee. Exh. 44 at 50:13-17.

"> The vote was 7-1 with Cotter, Jr. voting no, and Ellen Cotter not participating. Exh. 14 at 141.
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While there are no rules or regulations that govern how CEO searches should be
conducted, corporate governance expert Dr. Alfred E. Osborne, Senior Associate Dean at UCLA
Anderson School of Management, who teaches best practices for directors and has participated in
numerous CEO searches, opined that the above-described search was “appropriate and consistent
with good governance practices in the search for a CEO. Exh. 30 at 436-441.

Cotter, Jr.’s criticisms of the CEO search process are really nothing more than his
unsubstantiated speculation that the search would have been better if Ellen Cotter had not initially
been involved and if Korn Ferry had completed their work. But even if that were true, it is legally
irrelevant:

[TThe law of corporate fiduciary duties and remedies for violation of those duties

are distinct from the aspirational goals of ideal corporate governance practices.

Aspirational ideals of good corporate governance practices for boards of directors

that go beyond the minimal legal requirements of the corporation law are highly

desirable, often tend to benefit stockholders, sometimes reduce litigation and can

usually help directors avoid liability. But they are not required by the corporation

law and do not define the standards of liability.

Brehm v. Eisner, 746 A.2d 244, 256 (Del. 2000).

The relevant inquiry here is not whether the Board conducted a perfect or even a successful
search. The only question is whether Gould breached his fiduciary duties by engaging in
intentionally wrongful conduct. The undisputed facts here do not show much of a disparity at all
between an “ideal” search process and the actual process used by the CEO Search Committee (to
select Ellen Cotter. To the contrary, the facts suggest that the Board’s process was eminently
rational, and therefore there was no breach of duty.

2. Gould did not allow Ellen Cotter to direct the CEO search.

The undisputed evidence does not support Cotter, Jr.’s contention that Gould allowed Ellen
Cotter to direct the CEO search in order to assure that she was selected. If Gould had let Ellen
Cotter direct the CEO search to ensure that she was selected, then one would expect Gould and
Ellen Cotter to have worked to create a position specification that was more closely-tailored to her
precise skill set, rather than one overemphasizing the need for real estate experience.

Nor does the evidence support a claim that her efforts to direct the CEO search began later,

when she decided to become a candidate. Ellen Cotter withdrew from the Search Committee and
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did not participate in the Committee’s subsequent decision to ask Korn Ferry to look for
candidates with more operating experience. Exh. 35 at 113:3-18; Exh. 42 at 356:1-12. The mere
fact that the Search Committee decided to look at candidates with more operating experience does
not suggest that the Committee was acting at Ellen Cotter’s direction to ease the path for her
selection. To the contrary, the undisputed evidence shows that during the process of conducting
the search, Gould became convinced that the specification overemphasized real estate
development experience. Exh. 42 at 321:7-15. Cotter, Jr. cannot contend that there was anything
nefarious about such an opinion. After all, Cotter, Jr. agreed with Gould that the position
specification overemphasized real estate experience. Exh. 17 at 150. There are simply no facts to
support Cotter, Jr’s theory that Gould let Ellen Cotter direct the search to assure she was selected.
3. There were rational business reasons to select Ellen Cotter as CEO.

Gould decided to recommend Ellen Cotter to be the CEO because she was intelligent, had
a great reputation, was well-liked at Reading, and had the kind of personality that could help
Reading get through some of the difficulties they had been having. Exh. 42 at 368:8-24. She had
experience in operations and theater and was willing to bring in help to deal with real estate issues.
Id. She had also performed well as interim CEO. Exh. 4 at 18-20. Gould also took into account
that it was a difficult time to bring someone in from the outside. /d. In short, Gould thought she
was the best person for the job. And McEachern agreed. Exh. 42 at 368:25-369:1.

All of the factors that Gould took into account in selecting Ellen Cotter are common
considerations in selecting a CEO. Korn Ferry’s Bob Mayes testified that internal candidates are
sometimes preferred because there is less disruption internally. Exh. 44 at 57:16-20. Mayes also
testified that cultural fit, motivation, drivers, personality traits, and style are all commonly
considered and that a strength in these areas can outweigh a weakness in the other. /d. at
58:14-24. As Mayes explained, it is common to hire a candidate that does not exactly match the
position specification because he’s “never met a perfect candidate.” /d. at 58:25-59:7.

Given that Gould took into account rational, commonly-considered business considerations
in selecting Cotter like stability, personality, culture fit, and her success to date in the role,

Plaintiff cannot show that Gould’s recommendation of Ellen Cotter was “so unreasonable that it
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seems essentially inexplicable on any ground other than bad faith.” See AgFeed, 546 B.R. at 330.
This is corroborated by the fact that a sophisticated independent shareholder is satisfied with Ellen
Cotter’s selection and does not believe there is a much better CEO for the company out there.
Exh. 40 at 259:15-18. Plaintiff therefore cannot show that Gould breached his fiduciary duty in
recommending Ellen Cotter for CEO.
4. There was a rational business reason to ask Korn Ferry to stop
working once the CEO Search Committee selected Ellen Cotter.

Cotter, Jr. also contends that Gould breached his duty by effectively firing Korn Ferry to
ensure that EC was selected. There are absolutely no facts to support Cotter, Jr.’s conspiracy
theory. The undisputed evidence shows that the Search Committee used Korn Ferry’s work
extensively. They interviewed every external candidate suggested by Korn Ferry. Once the
Search Committee was fairly certain it would recommend Ellen Cotter, it made sense to ask Korn
Ferry to not to do any further work, especially since the last remaining step was an expensive
close look at candidates. Exh. 42 at 405:2-14. The Committee members had known and worked
with Ellen Cotter for years. /d. at 406:19-21. They had watched her navigate and execute the role
of interim CEQO. They had no need for Korn Ferry’s deeper psychological assessment on Ellen
Cotter’s “makeup.” Id. at 405:2-14; 406:19-21; Exh. 44 at 67:10-18. Ultimately, Reading saved
$35,000 (nearly 20% of the cost of the CEO search) by asking Korn Ferry not to go forward with
its proprietary assessment. Exh. 5 at 24; Exh. 19. Simply put, it was a reasonable and a rational
business decision to ask Komn Ferry to stop work once a well-known internal candidate was
selected, in order to save money. Plaintiff cannot show that the decision to ask Korn Ferry to stop
working is “so unreasonable that it seems essentially inexplicable on any ground other than bad
faith.” See Agfeed, 546 B.R. at 330.

5. The undisputed evidence demonstrates that Gould did his best to select
the most qualified CEO.

Even if there were a factual dispute as to whether Gould breached his fiduciary duties with

respect to the CEO search (and there is not), there is absolutely no evidence that could support

a finding that Gould acted with intentional misconduct, fraud, or a knowing violation of the law.
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That is especially true because there are no Nevada or Delaware statutes governing the selection of
a CEO. Nor are there any Nevada or Delaware cases that clearly establish the responsibilities of
a board in connection with a CEO search, from which one could conclude that Gould knew or
should have known that he was conducting a search inappropriately. In addition, all of the
evidence shows that Gould was simply trying to find the best person to fill the CEO position. The
Korn Ferry partner who worked most closely with the Search Committee recognized this. He
testified that Gould took the process seriously, attended all search committee calls, that he was not
absent and that he never said or did anything that made him think that Gould was doing anything
other than trying to find the right person for the job. Exh. 44 at 70:16-74:24.'° Because there are
no facts to suggest that Gould acted with intentional misconduct, fraud, or a knowing violation of
the law, summary judgment should be granted in Gould’s favor on the CEO search claims.

G. Gould’s Approval of Payments Was Not a Breach of his Fiduciary Duty

Involving Intentional Misconduct, Fraud, or a Knowing Violation of the Law.

Next, Cotter, Jr. contends that Gould breached his fiduciary duty in approving a salary
raise for Ellen Cotter, a one-time payment to Margaret Cotter upon the windup of her consulting
agreement, and a $50,000 additional payment to Adams because these were all gifts. SAC 9 151,
152, 153. Beyond Cotter, Jr.’s conjecture, there is no evidence to support the fact that these
payments are gifts. As discussed below, the payments all served legitimate business purposes, and
Gould appropriately relied on the work of committees and experts to determine whether and in
what amount to make the payments.

1. Gould did not breach his duties in approving Ellen and Margaret
Cotter’s executive pay.

The undisputed facts prove that the Compensation Committee (Kane, Codding, and

'®" In fact, the CEO Search Committee here went through a much more thorough process than

was used to select Cotter, Jr., who was equally as inexperienced with real estate development as
Ellen Cotter. See infrra at p. 3. This fact proves the hypocrisy of Cotter’s claim that his selection
as CEO was appropriate, while Ellen Cotter’s was a breach of duty, and makes Cotter Jr.’s
allegation that Gould was intentionally violating even more improbable. Even if it were
theoretically possible to conduct a more thorough search than the one at issue here, it defies belief
that Gould intentionally violated his fiduciary duties by employing a more comprehensive
practice than Reading had previously used for CEO selection.
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Adams) used an expert firm, Willis Tower Watson to determine that Reading’s total executive
compensation was below the 25" percentile in comparison to similar companies. Based upon the
expert’s work, the Compensation Committee recommended an increase in total pay so that
Reading’s executives’ total pay was comparable to similar companies. Exh. 25 at 211. Under
Nevada law, Gould was entitled to rely on Willis Tower Watson and the work of the
Compensation Committee because the recommendations were within Willis Tower Watson’s
expert competence and within the scope of the Compensation Committee’s delegated authority.
See NRS 78.138(2)(b),(c). Moreover, courts are “hesitant to scrutinize executive compensation
decisions, recognizing that it is the essence of business judgment to determine if a particular
individual warrants large amounts of money.” Friedman v. Dolan, 2015 WL 4040806, at *5. It
was reasonable and rational to vote for pay increases to bring Reading’s executive compensation
in line with the market, and there is no factual basis from which to infer that Gould breached his
fiduciary duties, let alone that he acted with intentional misconduct, fraud, or a knowing violation
of the law.

2. Gould did not breach his duty in approving Margaret Cotter’s

one-time payment.

It is undisputed that two separate committees approved the one-time payment of $200,000
to Margaret Cotter in March 2016—the Compensation Committee and the Audit Committee
(Kane, Wrotniak, McEachern). There are no facts to support the contention that this payment was
a gift. The committees reported that the payment was meant to compensate Margaret Cotter for
additional work and in consideration for valuable releases and waivers granted by her company as
part of the termination agreement between RDI and her company. Gould relied on these
recommendations when he voted to approve this payment. Gould Decl. § 3. It was reasonable and
rational for Gould to rely on the recommendations of two separate independent and disinterested
committees who had carefully considered the payment to Margaret Cotter, and it was reasonable
and rational to approve payments for work that had not otherwise been paid for and valuable
releases. See Nev. Rev. Stat. § 78.138(2)(c). Once again, there is no factual basis from which to

infer that Gould breached his fiduciary duties, let alone that he acted with intentional misconduct,
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fraud, or a knowing violation of the law.”
3. Gould did not breach any duties in approving Adams’ bonus.

It is undisputed that the Reading Board had a history of approving one-time payments to
directors who expended extraordinary time on the Company’s behalf. Exh. 28 at 343. In fact, less
than a year earlier, Cotter, Jr. himself had approved additional payments ranging from $25,000-
$75,000 to non-Cotter Board members based on additional time spent on the management and
personnel issues at the Company. See Exh. 2 at 8. Consistent with Reading’s practice, in
March 2016, Ellen Cotter recommended an additional one-time payment of $50,000 for Adams
because he had spent a significant amount of time helping in her transition to CEO, significant
committee work, and also assistance with a New York real estate development project. Exh. 18 at
163. Because Ellen Cotter had worked closely with Adams with respect to most of this additional
work, she was in a position to know how much time he spent and what amount of compensation
was reasonable. Under Nevada law, Gould was therefore entitled to rely on EC’s recommendation
regarding the $50,000 payment. Nev. Rev. Stat. § 78.138(2)(a) (Directors entitled to rely on
information and opinions prepared or presented by “[o]ne of more directors, officers, or
employees of the corporation reasonably believed to be reliable and competent in the matters
prepared or presented.”). There is no evidence that Gould breached his fiduciary duty when he
approved a one-time payment to Adams for extra work, let alone that he acted with intentional
misconduct, fraud, or a knowing violation of the law.

H. Gould’s Failure to Take Action to Remove Adams from the Compensation

Committee Before May 2016 Was Not a Breach of his Fiduciary Duty
Involving Intentional Misconduct, Fraud, or a Knowing Violation of the Law.

Cotter, Jr. also contends that Gould failed to take and/or delayed taking action after having

been informed of the financial dependence of Adams on Cotter family businesses for income.

SAC 9 177(c). But again, Cotter, Jr.’s allegations are refuted by the undisputed facts themselves.

’ Similarly, it was reasonable for Gould to approve Ellen Cotter’s recommendation that
Margaret Cotter serve in a senior position in charge of New York real estate. Gould approved the
recommendation because it is his view that a CEO should be able to build his or her own team.
Gould Decl. 4| 5. If Ellen Cotter’s choice of Margaret Cotter was a poor one, the directors would
hold her accountable.
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Gould only learned that a great percentage of Adams’ income came from Reading and the Cotter
family after Gould’s deposition in this case, which occurred on April 28-29, 2016. Exh. 41 at
31:18-32:8. Gould then conferred with Reading counsel and CEO Ellen Cotter and informed them
that based on the information about Adams’ finances, Gould did not believe that Adams was
independent for the purpose of serving on the Compensation Committee. /d. at 32:11-15;
33:14-34:7. And shortly thereafter, Adams resigned from the Compensation Committee. /d. at
36:8-10. In sum, after learning about Adams’ finances, he acted swiftly to inform management
that Adams should not serve on the Compensation Committee.

Cotter, Jr. suggests that Gould breached his fiduciary duty by not immediately acting on
the allegations that Cotter, Jr leveled about Adams’ finances at the time of his termination. This is
yet another example of ‘the pot calling the kettle black.” After all, Cotter Jr. claimed he became
suspicious about Adams’ financial dependence eight months before he looked into it further, and
(conveniently) he never raised it when Adams supported his election to CEO. Exh. 38 at
636:2-21; 643:15-644:2; 647:13-648:6 . Moreover, Gould did not have initial suspicions
significant enough to act upon. The Directors all filled out D&O Questionnaires with the details
of their finances and submitted them to Company counsel. And Gould reasonably relied on
counsel to vet the questionnaires for issues such as financial independence—something he was
entitled under Nevada law to do. Exh. 42 at 449:16-450:9; Nev. Rev. Stat. § 78.138(2)(a)
(allowing directors to rely on officers reasonably believed to be competent in the matters
presented). See also Exh. 2 at 6 (general counsel reported that he had consulted the Company’s
regular Nevada corporate counsel and had been advised that Adams had no conflict that would
preclude them from voting on any matter with respect to Cotter, Jr.).

L Gould’s Actions with Respect to Reading SEC Filings and Press Releases

Were Not a Breach of his Fiduciary Duties Involving Intentional Misconduct,
Fraud, or a Knowing Violation of the Law.

Plaintiff further alleges that Gould caused or allowed Reading to disseminate untimely or
materially misleading information in SEC filings and/or press releases. SAC 4| 190. Plaintiff’s
various complaints about the filings and press releases mainly take issue with statements that were

not erroneous factual assertions, but rather merely management positions, as well as information
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that Plaintiff contends should have been included, but was not. For example, Plaintiff contends
that the following information should have been included:

° Descriptions of directors Adams, Codding, Kane, and Wrotniak in the October 20,
2015, and May 18, 2016 Proxy Statement should have purportedly included their
personal ties to Cotter, Sr. and/or the Cotter sisters.

e The June 15, 2015 RDI press release was allegedly misleading because it stated
that Ellen Cotter succeeded Cotter, Jr. as president but did not discuss the details of
Cotter, Jr.’s termination.

3 The October 13, 2015 Form 8-K allegedly should have stated that Storey retired
from the Board because he would not be re-nominated and was forced to resign.

Cotter, Jr.’s claims are completely specious and legally untenable.'® The law is clear that

one cannot state a claim for breach of fiduciary duty by alleging that public filings do not contain
enough information. In re Amerco Derivative Litigation, 252 P.3d 681, 701 (Nev. 2011)
(“Amerco”). In Amerco, for example, plaintiffs alleged that the directors had “knowingly signed
misleading and incomplete public filings” that failed to include details of certain allegedly
self-dealing transactions” even though the defendants knew were aware of the details of the
transactions. /d. The Nevada Supreme Court held that “simply alleging that the public filings do
not contain enough information does not demonstrate that respondents engaged in intentional
misconduct or fraud.” Id. As in Amerco, Cotter, Jr.’s allegations that the SEC filings and press
releases did not contain enough information does not demonstrate that Gould engaged in
intentional misconduct or fraud, and such claims must be summarily adjudicated in Gould’s favor.

Cotter, Jr. also contends that:

° The June 18, 2015 Form 8-K should not have stated that Cotter, Jr. was required to
tender his resignation as a director of Reading immediately upon the termination of
his employment because Cotter, Jr. contends that is not true.

o The November 13, 2015 Form 8-K should not have described the voting results of
the 2015 Annual Shareholder Meeting because Cotter, Jr. believes the results were

erronecous.

o The January 11, 2016 Form 8-K should not have stated that the Company

'* " Once again, Cotter, Jr. accuses Gould of breaching his fiduciary duty, even though Cotter, Jr.

acted in the exact same manner for years. Specifically, Cotter, Jr. allowed the Company to file
proxy statements, which failed to reveal Kane or Adams’ personal friendships with Cotter, Sr.
See, e.g., Exhs. 26-27.
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conducted a thorough search process for a new CEO.

© The March 15, 2016 Form 8-K should not have described the reasons that the
Board approved payments to Margaret Cotter and Adams because Cotter, Jr.
believes that the Board had other hidden motives for the payments that were not
revealed.

First, it would have been unreasonable to include the statements that Cotter, Jr. suggests
should be included in the SEC filings because such statements are inconsistent with management’s
positions. See Michelson v. Duncan 407 A.2d 211, 222 (Del. 1979) (not erroneous to fail to
inform shareholders of statements which were inconsistent with management’s positions).

Second, Plaintiff’s contention ignores the undisputed facts regarding how such filings were
made. Reading’s counsel submitted drafts of the SEC filings to the directors before filing the
documents. Exh. 42 at 269:24-271:11. As he was permitted to do under Nev. Rev. Stat. § 78.138,
Gould relied on Reading’s counsel and the directors and executives most directly involved to
check the information with respect to matters Gould was not involved with. Exh. 41 at
181:10-182:7; Exh. 42 at 449:16-450:9, 460:1-462:18, 467:2-13. With respect to his own facts
and any important parts of the filings that he had knowledge of, Gould reviewed and verified, and
provided comments or corrections when he had them. Exh. 41 at 180:4-9; Exh. 42 at
269:24-271:11, 460:15-20. Gould’s practice was reasonable and consistent with the obligations of
an independent director. Exh. 30 at 451. Thus, even if the SEC filings were misleading (and they
were not), there are simply no facts to demonstrate that Gould was intentionally trying to mislead
anyone with these filings. Summary judgment on these claims should be granted.

IV.  CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, and the reasons stated in the Individual Defendants” Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 3) on Plaintiff’s Claims Related to the Purported Unsolicited
Offer, all of Plaintiff’s claims against Defendant Gould should be summarily adjudicated in favor

of Gould.
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DECLARATION OF WILLIAM GOULD

I, WILLIAM GOULD, declare as follows:

1. I am a party in the above-entitled action. I have personal knowledge of the facts set
forth herein, which are known by me to be true and correct, and if called as a witness, I could and
would competently testify thereto.

2. In March 2016, I voted to approve the executive compensation packages for Ellen
Cotter and Margaret Cotter that had been recommended by the Compensation Committee. In
approving Ellen and Margaret Cotter’s pay, | relied on both the work of the Compensation
Committee and the work of executive compensation experts Willis Tower Watson as described to
me by the Compensation Committee.

3. In March 2016, I voted to approve a one-time payment of $200,000 to Margaret
Cotter. This payment was recommended by Reading’s Audit Committee and Compensation
Committee. I relied on the assessment of both the Audit Committee and the Compensation
Committee that the fact and amount of the payment were appropriate.

4, In March 2016, I voted to approve a one-time payment of $50,000 to Guy Adams
based on Ellen Cotter’s report of the extraordinary services he rendered and the significant amount
of time he spent. I relied on Ellen Cotter’s assessment that the fact and amount of the payment
were appropriate because she worked closely with Adams on the additional work that he
undertook and had the best knowledge of the time he spent.

5. In March 2016, I voted to approve Margaret Cotter’s employment as an Executive
Vice-President in charge of the New York real estate development projects. Reading’s CEO,
Ellen Cotter recommended Margaret Cotter for the role. In my view, a CEO should be able to

select his or her own team to run the company. If Ellen Cotter’s choice of Margaret Cotter turns
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out 10 be a bad choice, the other directors and | could and would act to hold Ellen Cotter

accountable.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the faws of the State of Nevada that the foregoing
is true and correct.

Executed on September 23, 2016, at Los Angeles, California.

/ 2
{-‘{) ,ﬁ\/{rgﬁiaﬁ&“f\ ,”4’?“{'{-—{:—}/{'
WILLIAM GOULD

-y
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DECLARATION OF SHOSHANA E. BANNETT

I, Shoshana E. Bannett, declare as follows:

1. I am an active member of the Bar of the State of California and an attorney with
Bird, Marella, Boxer, Wolpert, Nessim, Drooks, Lincenberg & Rhow, P.C., attorneys of record for
Defendant William Gould in this action. I make this declaration in support of Defendant William
Gould’s Motion for Summary Judgment. Except for those matters stated on information and
belief, I make this declaration based upon personal knowledge and, if called upon to do so, I could
and would so testify.

2. Attached hereto as Exhibit 1 is a true and correct copy Deposition Exhibit 11
marked at the deposition of Timothy Storey, Vol. 1, taken February 12, 2016. .

3, Attached hereto as Exhibit 2 is a true and correct copy Deposition Exhibit 199
marked at the deposition of James Cotter, Jr., Vol. 2, taken May 17, 2016.

4. Attached hereto as Exhibit 3 is a true and correct copy Deposition Exhibit 200
marked at the deposition of James Cotter, Jr., Vol. 2, taken May 17, 2016.

5. Attached hereto as Exhibit 4 is a true and correct copy Deposition Exhibit 313
marked at the deposition of Margaret Cotter, Vol. 3, taken June 15, 2016.

6. Attached hereto as Exhibit 5 is a true and correct copy Deposition Exhibit 373
marked at the deposition of William Gould, taken June 29, 2016.

7 Attached hereto as Exhibit 6 is a true and correct copy Deposition Exhibit 338
marked at the deposition of Ellen Cotter, Vol. 3, taken June 16, 2016.

8. Attached hereto as Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy Deposition Exhibit 348
marked at the deposition of William D. Ellis, taken June 28, 2016.

9. Attached hereto as Exhibit 8 is a true and correct copy Deposition Exhibit 377
marked at the deposition of William Gould, Vol. 2, taken June 29, 2016.

10.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 9 is a true and correct copy Deposition Exhibit 381
marked at the deposition of William Gould, Vol. 2, taken June 29, 2016.

11.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 10 is a true and correct copy Deposition Exhibit 386

marked at the deposition of William Gould, Vol. 2, taken June 29, 2016.
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12.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 11 is a true and correct copy Deposition Exhibit 389
marked at the deposition of William Gould, Vol. 2, taken June 29, 2016.

13.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 12 is a true and correct copy Deposition Exhibit 416
marked at the deposition of Timothy Storey, Vol. 2, taken August 3, 2016.

14.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 13 is a true and correct copy of a document titled
“Minutes of the Meeting of the Board of Directors of Reading International, Inc. March 19, 2015,”
which was produced during the course of this litigation and Bates numbered GA00004638-4641.

15.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 14 is a true and correct copy of a document titled
“Minutes of the Board of Directors of Reading International, Inc. January 8, 2016,” which was
produced during the course of this litigation and Bates numbered JCOTTER008369-8372.

16.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 15 is a true and correct copy of a document titled
“Minutes of Special Telephonic Meeting of the Board of Directors of Reading International, Inc.
October 5, 20135,” which was produced during the course of this litigation and Bates numbered
JCOTTERO11389-11393.

17.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 16 is a true and correct copy of a document titled
“Minutes of Special Telephonic Meeting of the Board of Directors of Reading International, Inc.
October 12, 2015,” which was produced during the course of this litigation and Bates numbered
JCOTTERO011394-11395.

18.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 17 is a true and correct copy of an e-mail, dated January
18, 2016, which was produced during the course of this litigation and Bates numbered
JCOTTERO016893-16895.

19.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 18 is a true and correct copy of a document titled
“Minutes of the Board of Directors of Reading International, Inc. March 10, 2016,” which was
produced during the course of this litigation and Bates numbered RDI10054790-54807.

20. Attached hereto as Exhibit 19 is a true and correct copy of a document titled
“Vendor Ledger” and dated April 25, 2016, which was produced during the course of this
litigation and Bates numbered RDI0058287-58297.
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21.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 20 is a true and correct copy of a press release titled
“Reading International Announces Appointment of Ellen Cotter as Interim Chief Executive
Officer,” issued by Reading International, dated June 15, 2015.

22.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 21 is a true and correct copy of Reading International's
Form 8K filed with the SEC, dated June 18, 2015,

23.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 22 is a true and correct copy of Reading International's
Form 8K filed with the SEC, dated October 13, 2015.

24.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 23 is a true and correct copy of Reading International's
Form 8K filed with the SEC, dated November 13, 2015.

25.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 24 is a true and correct copy of Reading International's
Form 8K filed with the SEC, dated January 11, 2016.

26.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 25 is a true and correct copy of Reading International's
Form 8K filed with the SEC, dated March 15, 2016.

27.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 26 is a true and correct copy of Reading International's
Schedule 14A Proxy Statement filed with the SEC, dated April 29, 2013.

28.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 27 is a true and correct copy of Reading International's
Schedule 14A Proxy Statement filed with the SEC, dated April 25, 2014.

29.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 28 is a true and correct copy of Reading International's
Schedule 14A Proxy Statement filed with the SEC, dated October 20, 2015.

30.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 29 is a true and correct copy of Reading International's
Schedule 14A Proxy Statement filed with the SEC, dated May 18, 2016.

31.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 30 is a true and correct copy of expert witness Alfred E.
Osborne, Jr., Ph.D.'s Expert Report dated August 25, 2016.

32. Attached hereto as Exhibit 31 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of expert
witness Myron T. Steele's Expert Report dated August 25, 2016.

33.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 32 is a true and correct copy of James J. Cotter, Jr.'s

Responses to William Gould's First Set of Request for Admission, dated June 13, 2016.
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34.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 33 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the
deposition of Guy Adams, Volume 2, taken April 29, 2016.

35.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 34 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the
deposition of Ellen Cotter, Volume 2, taken May 19, 2016.

36.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 35 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the
deposition of Ellen Cotter, Volume 3, taken June 16, 2016.

37.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 36 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the
deposition of James Cotter, Jr., Volume 1, taken May 16, 2016.

38.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 37 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the
deposition of James Cotter, Jr., Volume 2, taken May 17, 2016.

39.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 38 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the
deposition of James Cotter, Jr., Volume 3, taken July 6, 2016.

40.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 39 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the
deposition of Margaret Cotter, Volume 2, taken May 13, 2016.

41.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 40 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the
deposition of Jonathan Glaser, taken June 1, 2016.

42. Attached hereto as Exhibit 41 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the
deposition of William Gould, Volume 1, taken June 8, 2016.

43.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 42 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the
deposition of William Gould, Volume 2, taken June 29, 2016.

44, Attached hereto as Exhibit 43 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the
deposition of Edward Kane, taken May 2, 2016.

45.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 44 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the
deposition of Robert Mayes, taken August 18, 2016.

46.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 45 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the

deposition of Douglas McEachern, taken May 6, 2016.
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47.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 46 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the

deposition of Douglas McEachern, taken July 7, 2016.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada that the foregoing

is true and correct, and that I executed this declaration on September 23, 2016, at Los Angeles,

California.
e » g
g 3 NN . =
_ "%2 w}{;&ﬁ,f\g\j\@m‘ & 4
'\\,\‘\m b
Shoshana E. Bannett
3335866.2 6

DECLARATION OF SHOSHANA E. BANNETT IN SUPPORT OF
DEFENDANT WILLIAM GOULD’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

JA630




EXHIBIT 1

JJJJJ



Mossage

Feoay: Dgndtd, Wil 0L {WGould@troygouidaami
Seepd: A0 LRSS AN
e gadensSpwatap cony Bans lelkane@saarncoml doeeachorn@@daing terativedomy T Swaney
{fostachanpelabnf/owsEachange Sdministrative firoup
{PYERECRE 235P D T one Redipsiont /0501 180 133 48 Mo Sl a7 Ed 18 A8 irg sy
Hubjeet Cosepficdirniind Moo - Reasting intaation
Atachatests:  mapeliligh; Beading ot dog S850-2 trop INRIASG T pat

Fhag: Fodlow up

o preparalican e owr selephues mas

o ab 1RO pove on March 187 Lo attachag & roemovandhen seting forthia

gt vl e R ering the mntters 0 be dhsgussed 2t the mesting, Of counss, of soy of you have ather

wagdd Be dncassed, plense B ros B aind aedf o the maemarandan socordingly,

atiaes vou foel

Wittimm £ Soukd

3 ARG - P {YVRGY SB%-

St BHO0

2T

forlvose Lo Bogipiead fhis ow gt fiy
b, BY e resessd i @it il Please
aobfy o8 meeiiately of the aere by tefin Soanall sadd delets Inh meoings Sawy puwr svitera. Thatd vou s sdvanos oy cooperatian,

Caondidantiad TE oniRass
001

JA632
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often pointed out, our duty 15 to all the shaveholders and not just to the Cotter family. We cannot
accept « dysfunctional manageroent team voder any circumstances. Indeed, the Company has
ssidd in its public fitings that the Cotters will work together noteathstanding the lithgation and that
they do aot belisve that the litigation will affest its Company’s operations. Bat we must ask
oursefves, how can we insore that the three Cotters wall work together gives the “tharswouchear™
hostitiy curcently esisting?

My thinking i a3 Tollve

At the Board Meeting on Mavch 19th | we would tell (not suggest, bot tell) the Cotters
wiat aur position is on this imparant s

We must be sutisfied that the theee of tham are able 10 wark fogether 1o a prasduciive way.
Fhat means tha they must dead with esch other with professiomalism and segpect. Fow example,
Jiotdr can’t go araund Elles and deal snly with Bob Smerliog or interview and bive a bigh tevel
fhod and beverage exesative o Blen's avea of respoasibility withoot comdting witk Elfen, and
Bllen nust comply witl B, s reasonable requests {such as providing s business plan for
damestic omentas), as would be the case wath any other exesutive dealing with the CEQL

Here are the general directives we will tay oot

i The fawsuil will in o way affect the Company's operations or
managcnmnt.
2. The Board stands behind and supports Jun, Jr. as CEQ, however, the

Bouard expects i to work respectfully and professionally with

his sisters. The office cavironment snd norale mast retum to notmaley.
independent Directors are tnvestigating Lirada’s clatms, and, i proven, the
Tnsdepersdent Direvtors may regpaire Joy, Jr to fake an anger management
class. On the Mip side, Margaret and Ellen must acoept the fact thin

Jine 3 is the CEO and must interact professionally with hinn @ though
the hitigation were not pending

>3

731 Ellen will be given the title, Prasident of Domaestic Cinemas, Margaret
will rerain an independent contractor, and, at the request of the new
Real Estate Director or the CEQ, will provide consulting services

on real estate matters

4 Fim Stovey will act as an ombudsman {and mentor to fim, Jr)
and be the Board"s point person 1o help make sure that the Coters are
property interacting with each other, that the Company is
fumctioning properly and that these general divectives are being
fotfowed  In this capacity, Tim will be overseeing the operations

3
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ITMYERNATIGONAL

adinutes of the
Muating of the Board of Bwrectors
af
Reading mlemationst, ng.

gy 23, 2015

4 guly noticed meeting of the Board of Directors {the “Board”) of Reacing internationzl, Inc. {the
‘Company”} was beld in the Company’s offices in Los Angeles on May 21, 2015 at approximately
11:15% aum. tlos Angeles time}

Prasent were Ellen # Cotter, Chairperson of the Soard, and Board members Margarel Cotter,
Vice Chairperson, James . Cotter, Ir., William D. Gould, Edward L. ¥ane, Doug McEachern, Tim

storey and Guy Adams,

in attendance at the invitation of the directors wars Willlam D, Ellis, Company Secretary and
General Counsal, and Craig Tompking, Alse in attendance al the reguest of the Chairperson were
Company counsel, Gary Mclaughiin and Frank Reddick, of Alun Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld, 1P,
On pehalf of James 1 Cotler, ir, Mark Srum of Lewis Hoca Hothgerber LLP was alse present.

in advance of the meeting, the Chalrparson had distributed fo sach of the directors a notice of
the meeting and an agenda. In addiion, Neal Brockmsver, counsel Tor the independent directors,
nad reported to each of the independent directons a3 1o a teleghone conversatinn he had on May
28, 2015 with Mr. ¥rum, who had informed Mr. Brockmevyer that if the Board took action at its
meeting on May 21, 2015 to terminate M, James Cotter’s employment with the Company, he
would file a lawsuir in Nevada court ageinst the directors personadly based on an alleged breach
of fiduciary duty of care and duty of lovaity. Turther, on May 18, 2015, dMr. James Cotter hao
reguested the Chairperson to place on the asgenda of this meeting the following malters (2} a
report by him on 2 Heview of the Company’s Operations and the search for 3 Director of Real
Estate, {y) employment agreaments for Ms. tlen Cotter and Ms. Margaret Cotter and {7) hig
reqguest that the Company repurchase 100,000 shares of Class & non-volting stock owneod by hum,

Call to Order
as. Ellen Cotter, Chairperson of the Board, called the meeting to order at approximately 13:35
a.m. [Les Angeles time] and did a roll call of the attendees. Mz Effen Cotter acted 8¢ recording

secretary for the mesting and took these minute:.

Fresenes of Alornsys
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Reading International, Inc.

Minutes Board of Directors Meeting
May 21, 2015

Page 2

Prior to moving to the agenda, the Board took up the question of whether counsel from Lewis
Roca Rothgerber and Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld should participate in the meeting. The
Chairperson informed the board that non-board members are entitled to attend the meeting
only at the invitation of the Board and that Mr. Krum did not represent the Company and had
indicated an intention to file a lawsuit on behalf of Mr. James Cotter against each of the other
directors. Following discussion, Mr. Adams made a motion, seconded by Mr. Kane, that Mr. Krum
be requested to leave the meeting. Upon a vote of 7-1, with Mr. Cotter voting against, the motion

was approved.

The Board then discussed whether it was appropriate for Messrs. Reddick and McLaughlin to be
present at the Meeting. The Chairperson stated that Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld had been
engaged by the Company on employment and certain other matters for over ten years and
Messrs. Reddick and Mclaughlin were present at her request. Following discussion, Mr.
McEachern made a2 motion, seconded by Mr. Kane, to invite Messrs. Reddick and MclLaughlin to
attend the meeting. By a vote of 5-3, with Messrs. Cotter, Storey and Gould voting against, the

motion was adopted.

Mr. Krum then addressed the Board stating that, in his opinion, the Board had not engaged in an
adeguate process in order to make a determination to terminate Mr. Cotter as Chief Executive
Officer and that Messrs. Adams and Kane were not disinterested directors. Mr. Ellis reported
that he had consulted the Company’s regular Nevada corporate counsel and had been advised
that Messrs. Adams and Kane had no conflict that would preclude them as a matter of law in
participating in the meeting and voting on any matter with respect to Mr. Cotter.

Review of Operations

Ms. Ellen Cotter then stated that she would like take up the last item on the agenda, Mr. Cotter’s
report on operations, out of order as the first order of business. Mr. Cotter stated that he was
not prepared to make a presentation on the Company’s operations but instead would like to
address the Board on his performance as Chief Executive Officer and the reasons he believed it
appropriate that he continue in that role. Mr. Cotter then proceeded to speak to the Board at
length about his position of President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He told the
Board that he firmly believed that his father, James J. Cotter, Sr., the Company’s former Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer, had intended for him to have this role and his continuation as Chief
Executive Officer would be consistent with his father’s wishes. He also took issue with the
independence of Mr. Kane and Mr. Adams and repeated the statements his counsel had
addressed to the Board urging that they be disqualified from voting with respect to any action to

terminate him as Chief Executive Officer.

The Board then proceeded to discuss at length the performance of Mr. Cotter as Chief Executive
Officer and President of the Company since he was appointed in August 7, 2014.
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Reading International, Inc.

Minutes Board of Directors Meeting
May 21, 2015

Page 3

For over the next two hours the Board discussed Mr. James Cotter’s performance as Chief
Executive Officer. Messrs. Adams and Kane and Madams Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter each
stated that it would be in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders that the Board
conduct a search for a qualified chief executive officer and that Mr. Cotter be relieved of his
positions as Chief Executive Officer and President of the Corporation and reviewed the reasons
underlying this assessment. As part of that discussion, it was noted that the independent
directors had met numerous times to discuss this matter and Mr. Cotter’s progress in this role.
Messrs. Adams and Kane and Madams Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter reviewed their
assessment of deficiencies that they observed in Mr. Cotter’s leadership, understanding of the
Company’s business, temperament, managerial skills, decision-making and other attributes in the
role of Chief Executive Officer. Messrs. Gould and Storey expressed their views on Mr. Cotter’s
performance and their conclusion that a decision to make a change in this position would not be

in the best interests of the Company at this time.

At approximately 2:00 p.m. (Los Angeles time), Messrs. Gould, Kane, McEachern, Storey and
Adams suggested that they continue the discussion in executive session and Ms. Ellen Cotter, Ms.
Margaret Cotter, and Messrs. James Cotter, Ellis, Tompkins, McLaughlin and Reddick left the

meeting.

Independent Directors Session

Messrs. Gould, Kane, McEachern, Storey and Adams continued in executive session for the next
two hours during which time they continued their review of Mr. James Cotter’s performance and
the course of action that would be in the best interests of the Company.
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Reading International, Inc.
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May 21, 2015
Page 4

Resumption of the Meeting with the Full Board

At approximately 4:00 p.m. (Los Angeles time), Ms. Elien Cotter, Ms. Margaret Cotter, and Mr.
lames Cotter rejoined the meeting.

After much further discussion amongst Board members, Mr. Gould suggested that Mr. Cotter
continue as President of the Company and the Board commence a search for a new Chief
Executive Officer. Mr. Cotter twice refused to continue in the role of President under a new Chief

Executive Officer.

After much further discussion, the Board determined to take no action at this meeting with
respect to Mr. Cotter’s position as Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company and that
the Board would reconvene the meeting on May 29, 2015 to continue its deliberations. In the
interim, the Directors would be provided the opportunity to reflect on the discussion during the
meeting and Mr. Cotter indicated that he would give further consideration to continuing in the
role of President of the Company under the leadership of a new Chief Executive Officer. At the
request of the Board, Mr. Cotter agreed to maintain during the upcoming week a “low profile,”
to not take any significant corporate action and take some time out of the office.

Independent Director Compensation

The Board then discussed the inordinate amount of director time that had been spent addressing
the management and personnel issues at the Company.

A motion was made by Mr. McEachern and seconded by Mr. Storey that each of the directors
who are not employed by the Company or members of the Cotter family, receive a one-time
bonus of $25,000 in recognition of the significant additional time required addressing these
matters. Upon motion dufy made, seconded and unanimously adopted, the Board approved such

one-time bonus.

Ms. Ellen Cotter then adjourned the Meeting at approximately 5:00 p.m., to be reconvened on
May 29, 2015 at 10:00 a.m. (Los Angeles time) at the Company’s Los Angeles offices.

WM

Ellen M. Cotter, Cha%er@v( Recording Secretary
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READING

INTERRATIONAL

an,

Bintes of the
beeting of the Board of Directors
of
Heading Internationat, ing,

May 29, 2015

& duly noticed meetmng of the Board of Directors {the “Board”} of Reading internationsl, inc.
{the "Company”) was held in the Company’s Los Angeles office on May 21, 2015 and ultimateiv
adiourned te May 29, 2010 at 11:00 a.m_ (Los Angeles time}

Present were Efien M. Cottes, Chairperson of the Board, and Board members Margaret Coiter,
Vice Chairperson, Jarnes 1. Cotter, Ir.. William D Gould, Edward L. Kane, Doug McEachem, Tim
Storey and Guy Adams. In attendance at the invitation of the directors was Witham D Fflis,
Corporztion Secretary and General Counsel,

Prior ta the meeting, Neal Brockmaver, counsei for the independent directors, reported te each
of the independent directors as to a telephone conversation he had on May 28, 2015 with Mr.
Mark Krum of Lewis Roca Rothgerber, counsel for Mi. james Cotter, ir. Mr. Brockmeyer
reporied that in Bis conversation, Mr. Erumnm asserted that Mr. Guy Adams was not a
disinterested director and was disgualified from voting on any matter addrassing Mr. Cotter’s
continued employment by the Company as Chief Executive Officer and President  He also
asked Mr. Brockmeyer if Mr Brockmever was authorized to accept service of process on behalf
af the independent directors of the Company and asksd Mr. 8rockmever 1o respond by 18:00
s, on May 29, 2015, The substance of Mr. Brockmeyer's report was also shared with William
Eitis. General Counsel of the Company.

Call 1o Order

Mg, Ellen Cotter, Chairperson of the Board, callad the meeting 1o order at anproximately 11:00
a.m. (Los Angeles time) and did a roll call of the attendees. br. William Eilis acted as recording
secretary for the meeting and took these minutes.

Status of President and Chiet Executive Officer

The Board continuad its discussion of Mr. James Cotter Ir'c performance as Chief Executive
Officer and President of the Company. FPrior to adjournment on May 21, 2015, the Board
distussed having My, Cotier continue as President of the Company and to immediately
commence a search for a new Chief Executive Officer. At that time, Mr. Colter twice informed
the aother directors that ke found that arrangement te be unacceptable. Mr. Cotter informed
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Reading International, Inc.
Minutes Board of Directors Meeting

May 29, 2015
Page 2

the Board that he had given further thought to a role as President and that he would not agree
to remain employed as President of the Company under the leadership of a new Chief

Executive Officer.

Mr. Adams explained his lack of confidence in Mr. Cotter’s ability to “move the Company
forward”, principally based on Mr. Cotter’s lack of leadership skills, understanding of the
Company’s business, temperament, managerial skills, decision-making and other attributes in
the role of Chief Executive Officer and President.

Mr. Adams’ then made the following Motion:

| move to remove James Cotter, Ir. from his position as President and Chief
Executive Officer and all other positions he holds with the Company, its
subsidiaries and affiliates. Mr. Cotter’s employment agreement provides that if
he is terminated without cause he is entitled to severance pay. While | personally
believe we may have cause in this situation, it is my proposal that we take this
action to remove him “without cause” under the terms of his contract, which will
provide him the benefit of the contractual severance pay, assuming there is no

further breach of the agreement.

The above Motion was seconded by Mr. McEachern.

Before Ms. Ellen Cotter opened the floor to discussion on this Motion, she read the Board the

following statement:
[ want to disclose for the record, and as all of you know, Margaret Cotter and |
have an interest in litigation that has been filed in California and we are now
parties to a fawsuit filed in Nevada by our brother concerning shares of stock and
options formerly held by our father. Qur brother is also interested in this

litigation.
Ms. Margaret Cotter confirmed for the Board that this statement also applied to her as well.

Mr. Cotter began the discussion by questioning the independence of Mr. Adams to vote an the
Motion. Mr. Ellis told the Board that he had reviewed with the Company’s regular Nevada
counsel the substance of Mr. Brockmeyer’ s report on his conversation with Mr. Krum, including
the stated reasons that Mr. Adams was allegedly not disinterested and disqualified from voting
on the matter before the Board. He reported to the Board that counsel had advised him that,
based on the facts outlined by Mr. Krum (which were the same as those asserted by Mr. Cotter
at the meeting), Mr. Adams did not have a conflict that would prevent him from voting on the

above motion.
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Mr. Cotter further reiterated that it was the intention of his father, the former Chairman and
CEO of the Company, that he run the Company and that the Board should observe his wishes,

The Board had a lengthy discussion of Mr. Cotter's performance as Chief Executive Officer and
President of the Company. Mr. Cotter disputed these characterizations of his performance and
stated his belief that he was competent to continue to run the Company.

The Board then discussed various options regarding how the Company’s senior management
team should be structured, including terminating Mr. Cotter and appointing an interim Chief
Executive Officer to run the Company until Mr. Cotter’s successor could be appointed,
continuing Mr. Cotter in the role as President and commencing a search for a new Chief
Executive Officer (which Mr. Cotter had on three different occasions rejected), and deferring
any decision with respect to Mr. Cotter's status as an officer of the Company and maintaining
the “status quo” until the pending litigation between the members of the Cotter family is
resolved, recognizing that the litigation could impact the control of the Company. Directors
Storey and Gould urged Mr. Cotter, Ms. Ellen Cotter and Ms. Margaret Cotter to attempt to
negotiate a universal settlement that would resclve issues relating to the control of the
Company and provide certainty to management and staockholders alike.

Ms. Ellen Cotter then informed the Board that legal counsel for Ms. Ellen Cotter and Ms.
Margaret Cotter had contacted Mr. Cotter’s counsel during the last week and proposed a
settlement of the litigation existing between the three of them and related trusts and estates.
It was noted that settlement of the litigation could be beneficial to the Company and its
shareholders because it would remove any questions regarding the voting of the Company’s
common stock held by the trust and estate of Mr. James Cotter, Sr., which represents a control
position in the Company and may reduce or eliminate the tension and obstacles to working
collaboratively as a team that currently exists among the three litigants.

Ms. Ellen Cotter then reviewed the terms of the proposal made by her and Ms. Margaret
Cotter’s counsel to Mr. Cotter’s counsel to resolve their litigation matters. It was noted that, to
the extent the proposal addressed the terms of any settlement of litigation between the family
members and their related trusts and estates, it was a matter personal to the Cotter family and
not a matter on which the Board would have a view. To the extent that the proposal addressed
the structure of the senior management of the Company, that was a matter for the Board of
Directors and could not be dictated by the terms of any settlement. However, recognizing the
potential benefits to the Company and its stockholders of a settlement of the existing litigation
among the Cotter family members and their related trusts and estates, the meeting went into
recess at approximately 2:00 p.m. to permit Mr. Cotter and Madams Ellen Cotter and Margaret
Cotter to continue their discussion of settlement terms.

The Board meeting reconvened at approximately 6:00 p.m. at the Los Angeles offices of the
Company. Present in the Los Angeles office of the Corporation were Ellen M. Cotter,
Chairperson of the Board, and Board members Margaret Cotter, Vice Chairperson, James J.
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Cotter, Jr. and Guy Adams. Present telephonically. were William D. Gould, Edward L. Kane,
Doug McEachern and Tim Storey. In attendance telephonically at the invitation of the directors
was William D. Ellis, Company Secretary. Each of the persons in attendance confirmed that

they could hear one another.

Ms. Ellen Cotter reported that she, Ms. Margaret Cotter and Mr. James Cotter, Jr. had reached
an “agreement-in-principle” regarding their various disputed issues. Ms. Ellen Cotter then
proceeded to read the “agreement-in-principle” to the Board. The agreement in principle
addressed the terms of the settlement of the litigation matters existing between the three
Cotters and related trusts and estates and alsc addressed Mr. Cotter’s continued role as an
officer of the Company. Ms. Ellen Cotter acknowledged that she and Ms. Margaret Cotter had
no authority to bind the Company or the Board as to matters related to the Company’s
management structure that were part of the settlement, and the Cotter parties could only
agree to vote for the settlement of those issues if the Board indeed approved such matters,
She further noted that the “agreement-in-principle” still had to be reviewed by counsel and

documented to the Cotters’ mutual satisfaction.

Adjournment

It was then determined to adjourn the meeting and to permit the Cotters to move forward to
document their settlement. No action was taken by the board with respect to the mation
made earlier in the meeting and no action was taken on any element of the agreement in
principle arrived at between the Cotter family members and related trusts and estates.

William D. Ellis, Recording Secretary
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The Work of the Commuttee:

The Committee determined that it would consider both internal and external candidates,
and directed Kom Ferry to gather information concerning the Campany and its aeeds in
terms of 8 President?CEQ, 1o assist the Committes in formulating an appropriate posiion
specification, and to seek to idenufy candidates who could in the view of Korn Ferry
reasonably meet the Company ‘s needs A copy of the Company s agreement with Korn
Ferry is antached as Agachment 1, hereto,

Korn Ferry prepared the position specification, a copy of which is antached as Attachmen
2 hereto. The position description was used by Kom Ferry to identfy ougside
candidates. It emphasized a real estate backgroond, baged on the assuraption that if an
cutside vandidate were idemified and retained, Ellen Cotier and Robent Smerling would
continue to be principaliv responsible for the aperation of the Company™s domestic
cinema operations and Wawne Smith would continue to be principally responsible for the
operation of the Company’s Australia/NZ cinema operations.  From the broad poot of
candidates imitiatiy screened, Kom Ferry brought forward four candidates 1o be
witerviewed. Ou November 13, 2015, follovany the interviews of the four candidates, the
Committee directed Ko Feery 1o focos more an individoals with both operating
company and real estaie ex pedence, wdeatly 1n a public company setting  Twa additicnal
candidates were subsequently identified by Kom Ferry and interviewed by the
Committee.

Korn Ferry has advised the Commitiee that it sesearched over 200 prospective candidates,
had contact with approximately 60 interviewed 11, and altimately presenied 9ix external
candidates to the Committee The search was heavily focused within Southern
Califorpia, due to likely candidate perception of risk associated with the Company's
ongoing hitigation and shareholder activism, and resultant reticence to relocate.  Copies
of the resumes for each of these six individuals are atiached as Atachmenis 3A through
s}

During this process, Eflen Cotter advised the Committee that she was a serious candidate
For the President/CEO position and, accordingly, did not paciicipate 10 the intenviews of
any of the candidates identified and presented by Kom Ferry and resigned from the
Conmittee. The candidates rdentfied and presented by Korn Ferry were inteeviewed by
Directors Margaret Carter, Witham Gould and Doog Mckiachem.

Foltowing the interview of the inibal Give candidates by the Commitiee, Kom Ferry an
Pecember 17, 2015 recommended that three candidates (Candidates Dan Sheddan, Many
Caverly and Ellen Cotter) be selected to undergo further and more detailed assessment by
Korn Ferry as a past of the selection process Kom Ferry also identified on December 17,
2013 ag additional candidate, David Duncan, for the Committee’s consideation, for s
total of si¢ candidateg

The Committee scheduled a meeting for fater that same day. December 17, 2015, at 4:00
pm. Ms Ellen Cotter, having resigned from the Committer, did not attend the meeting

Page 2 of 7
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READING

INTEANATIDHAL

Minutes of the
Meeting of the Board of Directors
of
Reading International, ive,

june 12, 2015

A doly noticed meeting of the Board of Directars {the “Board”} of Reading Intemational, ne.
{the “Company™} was held on June 12, 2015 at approximately 1100 a.m. {Los Angeles tima} by
welephone conference call.

Frosent were Fllen M, Cotter, Charperson of the Board, and Board members Margaret Jofter,
Wice Chairperson, James | Cotter, e, Wilham D, Goudid, Edward L Kane, Doug Mctachern, T
Storey and Guy Adams, In sltendsnce at the witation of the direetors was William B Ehis,
Corporation Secretary and General Counsel of the Company. M. Catter cosfirmed with sach
dicentor that (1§ there wee no othee partiigants on the teleplone, {1 each of the panticipanis
couid hear one another and (i) the call was not to be recorded.

Prior to the mesting, on May 20, 2015 and May 28, 2015, Mr. Krum, counsel for James 1. Cotter,
ir.. contacted Neal Brockmever, counsel to the independent directors, and informed Mr.
Brockmayer that Mre. Cotter intended to file a lawsuil against the directors personally for
breach of fiduciary duty if they took action to terminate Mr. Cotter as Chief Executive Officer
and Peasident of the Company.

Call to Order
s, Ellen Cotter, Chairperson of the Board, called the mesting to order at approximately 11:00

a.m. {Los Angeles time) and did a coll call of the attendess. Mr. William Ellis acted as recording
secretary for the meetiog and took these minutes,

The Board continued ity discussion of My, James Cotter, B perfurswane as Chiet Execative
Qfficer and President of the Company. Ms. Ellen Cotter reviewsd with the directars the
dispussions to date. The independent directors had met on hamernas poeasions to discuss Mr,
Cotler's performance leading up 1o & Board mesliog on May 21, 2015 Pdor to that time Ms
Cotter had several conversations with each of the independent directors regarding her
assessment of My, Cotter's parformance 3s Chief Executive Officer and her opinion that it
would be in the best interests of the Company to relisve Mr. Cotter of these positions and
inmediately commence a search for a new Chief Executive Officer. The Board met in excess of

DATE 2V (©
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feading International, Inc.

Minutes Board of Directors Meeting
lune 12, 2015

Page 2

S hours on May 21, 2015 and over 3 hours May 29, 2015 to review Me Colter's parformance
and evaluate the structure of the seaior managerment at the Company,

As part of those deliberations, the Board discussed various options regardiog how the
Company’s senior managersent team should be structured, including terminating Mr, Cotter
and appointing an interim Chief Executive Officer to run the Company until Mr. Cotter's
successor could be appointed, continuing Mr. Cotler in the role as President and cammencing a
search for & new Chief Fxecutive Officer {which Mr. Cotter has on three different occasony
rejected) and deferring any decision with respect 10 Mr. Cotter’s status as an officer of the
Company and mamtaining the "status guo™ until the pending litigation between the members
of the Cotter family is resolved, recognizing that the litigation condd impact the control of the
Company.

At these meetings Mr. Cotter addressed the Board extensively on bis performance and his view
that 4 termination of bis officer positions would be contrary to his father’s wishes and that he
would not accept a position as Fresident of the Company reporting ¢ 8 new Chief Executive
Officer.

The Board adjourned its meeting on May 29, 2015 to permit the Cotler farily members to
definitively document a previously agreed to “agreement-in-principle” regarding the settlement
of existing litigation among them. Ms. Ellen Cotter reported that Mr. Cotter had recently
informed Ms. Ellen Cotier and Ms. Margaret Cotter that he did not intend to proceed with that
"agreement-in-principle.” :

Mr. Adams then reitersted his position that he lacked confidence in Mr. Cotter's ability to
"mave the Company forward” principally based on Me. Cotier’s lack of leadership skills,
understanding of the Company’s business, tempecament, managerial skills, decision-making
and other attributes in the role of Chief Executive Officer and President.

Mr. Adams” then made the following mation:

I mave to remave Jomes Coltter, dr. from his position as President and Chief
Executive Officer and olf other positions he holds with the Company, irs
subsidiaries and affifiates. Mr. Cotter’s employment agreement provides that if
he is terminated without couse he is entitled to severance pay. While | personally
Believe we may have couse i this situation, it i my proposal that we toke this
gction to remove him “without couse” under the terms of his contract which will
provide him the benefit of the contractual severance puy, sssuming there is no
further breach of the agreement.

The above motion was seconded by Me. McEachern.
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Reading International, inc.

Minutes Board of Directors Mesting
lune 12, 2015

Page 3

Before Ms. Eilen Cotler opened the floor to discussion on this Motion, she read the Board the
following statement:

| wont to disclose for the record, and as all of you know, Margaret Cotter and |
have on interest in litigation that has been filed in Colifornia and we are now
parties to o fowsait filed in Nevada by i brather conterning shaves of stock and
optians formerly held by our fother. Our brother is alse interested in thix
titigation,

Me. Margaret Cotler cordumed for the Board that this statement also applied 10 her as well,

Thore then convnenced 8 lengthy discossion regardiog My, Cotter’s pesformanse. Each of the
dirnctons hat an opporiunity to fully stale their position on the motion and the reasoms
theretor. ;

My, Cotter then asked that the Board defer any vote on his status antil the next schedued
Board rasetiog on June 15, 2015, There was hittle suppart for that praposal, and no motion was
made by any of the directars,

Ms. Cotter then called for & vate on the motion. By a vole of five in favor, three opposed, with
Messrs. Cotter, Gould and Story voting against, the maotion passed. Ms. Cotter stated that this
vote represented a majority of the indegendent dicectors.

in casting their votes, Ms. Bllen Cotter and Ms. Margret Cotfer stated that the record should
reflect that they cast their votes despile the litigation conflict previously destribed because
they had detpeminest that the motion was i 1o the Company and in the best interests of its
sharehoiders.

Ms. Cotler, at this point, also advised Mr. Cotter what & clear in his Exployment Conteact. He is
ander obligation to resign tis positiors with the Company. She asked My, Cotter {o provide his
written resignation by the following Monday, Also, at the conclusion of the megting, she asked
My, Cotter to gather his personnel belongings and to leave the office

Appointment of Interin Chief Executive Officer

The Board then discussed vanous options regarding how the Company's senior management
team should be structured following the termination of Mr. Catter, incinding naming Mq. Flien
Cotter 33 the Cormpany’s nerire Chief Cocutive Officer to aun the Company until 8 successor
Chief Executive Officer is appointed. After some discussion, it was decided that Ms. Ellen
Catter, the current Chairmaa of the Board, would serve in the role of Interim Chief Executive
Officer until the following Board Meeting, when the Board could more formally review an
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sppropisie course of action. By a vote of six in favor, one opposed and 1 abstention, the
Motion passet. §br, Cotter voted againgt the rasdion and M, Flise Cotte abstained,

The Executive Committes
s, Uoiter then stated thet # was sppropriate in hght of the svents that the Boasrd reconatinde
the posting Executhve Commnitiee angd sue 8 now chanter, 8y Adams proposest that the new
rambies of the Executove Compsittes e as follawe: SMargarsy Cotter, Silen Cottee, Sdward L
Rane anad Gase Adam, ;

e

hg. BHen Cotter moved for the adoption of the followang resalution, which she aeadt

IV MERERY BESQIVER thot the fowd of Qivectins of thy {ompany Berrdy removes
the existing members of the Eregetnes Comantter ead gopvaves the gppointment of ¢
sewe Ensgniive Qomemidies, gnd the Sowrd of isgions for the Company herseby
gppreves the sreaios of ¢ asw Faecuiie Tommitive o authoraed is P Bylmvs of e
fompany. Ay the dote heregd the Sxevwtive fommiltes shall have e followdng
geosred powees aref be compeised pe set forth bafow:

Genera! fowerw: The Roord of Divectors fioredy defegoien (o thy Exsgubive Commitice
the uthordy to take ooy and oll actions that the Bourd may toke fother than s
restricted by Nevade fow and the 8vlows of the Company} betveen the reguier and
sppevial mestings of the Board of fhrectors.

Cerviposition: The Sxeoutive Committse shal be comprited of the Jollowing msanbers of

the Sowed of Divectons of the Jompame Filen Colter, Murgoret Cotter, Fd Xane sod
Sy Agdon

The Motion was seconded hy e Mebachem.

Thers was sorne ducnision abiout the role of the Beeoutae Conwitieg, 8 weas agreed that the
Executive Cnmunitiee waold not take any sipnificent 30100 prior 1o 1he paxt Board Mesiing

By 2 vote of soven in favor, one opposed, the Motion passed. M Cotter volted against th
yesstie,

4
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Conclusion of Meeting

There beng no further businesy, M, Cotter concluded the Mesting 8t 200 poave flos Angeles
fimed
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Frony tiery Cotiee abffendoter@raadingrdioome

Sent: Aoeidey, August 28, 2015 §38 P

for Witham Gould; deeachemidaiotiecors Margaret Totter
Bubject: Repcding TRO Search Guastiormaee

Attachments RO Irfeneew Pregaratinn PiRALdux

Plegse cen attaches Doestiomaire frany Bara Parry. | orill be following up with you today,

Thaoks elfen

Froee Mo Agona oo duasn@tun®any.som]
Sent: Frday, August 25, 015 10017 AN

To: Laurs Hatinla; Sobent Mayss

Ot Elien Uctter; Sdney Covke; Dan Pudesy

Subject: RE: BEDI Infurmaton Packet

B L,

Aftaohad 13 he danddnw pro-work, whioh can be distnindad fo the comeifies W wiold 8K (hat Ihey roviow sodd rank ihe
Homs of pune R it Sdvance of our sonversstion,

Thanks.
Jan

Froot Laur Batiste Fosliolauns Balista @ reaingrdi s
Sent: Friday, August 21, 3015 123 AM

To: Hobert Mayes

Crz Bllen Cotter; Jim Aggen; Sidney Cooke; Dan Fudver
Subject: RE: B0 Information Packet

e Alh

EHen ol roe there 3 3 quetionaaive foe the Sesach CapmriQues reerabers. Do you think the commattes choald have the
gaestionnairs pror e ther first meoting foonference valt) with you?

1 yes, woutd vou B so king o emai re the guestinanaive and then el forward o to the comempitivg.

Thank you,
taurs
EX§ - ,
BATE -
§i f ey “ﬁx.\sg
j ﬁ?&ii)iﬁ ﬂUBB&EQ
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< KORN FERRY

READING INTERNATIONAL Interview Preparation

As input 1o the creation of a future-oriented success profile for the role of CEQ,
Reading International, we will conduct a 60 minute intervisw with you,

The purpose is to understand your perspectives on the critical expariences and
capabilities for Reading International’s CEQ to be succesaful. The focus of the
cupvorsation is twolold, given the current circumstances inherent to the

COMPAnyY:

« The potantial role of the new CEQ in navigating the near term issues with
angoing litigation and capital markets activities

+»  Thae rofe of the new CED in feading the sotwrprise i the Jong teem,
operating under the assumption that the currant Circumstances will be
stabitized

Below are guastions we will cover in our discussion with you. & workshaoet
foltows on page 2 that may help you thiok through gquestion &4,

1. What is your parspectve un the apprapriate stralegy for Reading intemationat
goirg forward? What does the fulure mix of real aslale devedopment and cinema
axhibiticn fngk tke?

2. What will make the next CEO successful from your perspectiva? Whatss
inportant, cultumally?

3 Beyond near term issues, what do you see as the key challenges for Reading
intemabonal in the next 3.5 years?

4. Given those challeniges, what sre the ontios] CEQ capabilities and privr
axpariencss needed o sucoessiully addrass thoss challenges? For example,
shiould the candidate possess a real estate or consumas oriented background?

& A huhurs CEQ wilb wink wilh many mambors of e incumbent inadershiys loam. Ax
you think about the fulure strategy. how prapared do you think the ncumbend
nadership leam s to meet the chatlenges ahead? How woukl you desoribe tha
currant strengihs and gaps of the team as & whole redative o the sunorssiul
exacution of the sirateqy?

G What parsonal traits and motivations would you sxpect 1o see sohibited in a
successiul future Reading Intermationat CEQ?

Confidentisl, Komn Farry.
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